

OR: ENG

## TRIAL CHAMBER III

Before Judge:	Dennis C. M. Byron, Presiding
	Karin Hökborg
	Gberdao Gustave Kam

**Registrar:** Adama Dieng

Date: 20 September 2006

## **THE PROSECUTOR**

v.

André RWAMAKUBA Case No. ICTR-98-44C-T

## JUDGEMENT

**Office of the Prosecutor:** Dior Fall Iain Morley Adama Niane Tamara Cummings-John **Defence Counsel** David Hooper and Andreas O'Shea

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
CHAPTER I – CHARGES AGAINST THE ACCUSED	6
CHAPTER II - FINDINGS	13
I. RULES ON EVIDENTIARY MATTERS	13
I.1. Presumption of Innocence	
I.2. Chamber's Discretionary power in the Appreciation of the Evidence	
II. FACTUAL FINDINGS	
II.1. Alleged Criminal Acts Committed by André Rwamakuba in Gikomero Commune	16
II.1.1. Alleged Public Instigation in Gikomero from July 1993 through June 1994	
(1) Evidence Adduced	
(1.1.) MDR Party Meetings at Kayanga Primary School	
(1.2.) Political Rallies in Sha, Nduba, Shango and Kayanga secteurs	
(1.3.) Calls for the Extermination of the Tutsi	
(1.4.) Recruitment of Members for the MDR "Hutu Power"	
(2) Assessment of the Evidence	
(2.1.) Lack of Consistency between the Indictment and the Prosecution Evidence	
(2.2.) Reliability Issues	
(2.3.) Allol II.1.2. Alleged Delivery of Machetes by André Rwamakuba in Gikomero <i>Commune</i> in April 1994	
II.1.2.1. Alleged Delivery of Machetes to André Muhire and Subsequent Massacres of Tuts	
Ndatemwa Trading Centre	
(1) Evidence Adduced	
(2) Assessment of the Evidence	
(2.1.) Lack of Consistency between the Indictment and the Prosecution Evidence	
(2.2.) Reliability Issues	
II.1.2.2. Alleged Delivery of Machetes to Etienne Kamanzi Used in Attacks against Tutsi	
(1) Evidence Adduced	
(2) Assessment of the Evidence	44
(2.1.) Credibility Issues	45
(2.2.) Road Access to Gikomero	
II.1.3. Alleged Murder of Three Tutsi near Gikomero Secteur Office	
(1) Evidence Adduced	
(2) Assessment of the Evidence	
(2.1.) Lack of Consistency between the Dates in the Indictment and the Evidence	
(2.2.) Credibility Issues	
II.1.4. Alleged Participation of André Rwamakuba to the Massacre at Kayanga Health Centre	
(1) Evidence Adduced	
<ul><li>(2) Assessment of the Evidence</li></ul>	
(2.1.) Each of Consistency between the indictment and the Prosecution Evidence	
Conclusion on the Alleged Criminal Acts Committed by André Rwamakuba in Gikomero Commune.	
II.2. Alleged Participation of André Rwamakuba to killings at Butare University Hospital in April 1994	
II.2.1. Evidence Adduced.	64
II.2.2. Assessment of the Evidence	
(1) Lack of Consistency between the Indictment and the Prosecution Evidence	
(2) Identification of André Rwamakuba	
(3) Internal Discrepancies	70
(4) Alibi	79
Conclusion on the Alleged Participation of André Rwamakuba to Crimes at Butare University Hospit	
II.3. Other Allegations in the Indictment	
Conclusion	84
CHAPTER III – RIGHTS OF THE ACCUSED	85
CHAPTER IV – VERDICT	86

## **INTRODUCTION**

1. This Tribunal has the authority to prosecute persons responsible for serious violations of international humanitarian law, including genocide and crimes against humanity, committed in the territory of Rwanda and Rwandan citizens responsible for such crimes committed in the territory of neighbouring States, between 1 January 1994 and 31 December 1994.<sup>1</sup> Under Article 2 of the Statute, genocide is an act committed with the intent to destroy, in whole or in part, a national, ethnical, racial or religious group, as such.<sup>2</sup> The crime against humanity is defined as a crime committed as part of a widespread or systematic attack against any civilian population on national, political, ethnic, racial or religious grounds.<sup>3</sup>

2. The Appeals Chamber has held that genocide against Tutsi and widespread or systematic attacks against a civilian population based on Tutsi ethnic identification occurred in Rwanda between April and July 1994 are facts of common knowledge not subject to reasonable dispute.<sup>4</sup> As the Appeals Chamber recalled, this ruling does not lessen the Prosecution's burden of proof: it must still demonstrate that the specific events alleged in an Indictment constituted genocide or a crime against humanity and that the conduct and mental state of an Accused establishes his culpability for such crimes.

3. The Accused, André Rwamakuba, was born in 1950 in Nduba, Gikomero commune, Kigali rural préfecture. He is qualified as a doctor having studied at Butare University,

(a) Killing members of the group;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Statute, Articles 1 to 4.

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  Statute, Article 2(2): Genocide means any of the following acts committed with the intent to destroy, in whole or in part, a national, ethnical, racial or religious group, as such:

Causing serious bodily or mental harm to members of the group; (b)

Deliberately inflicting on the group conditions of life calculated to bring about its physical (c) destruction in whole or in part;

Imposing measures intended to prevent births within the group; (d)

Forcibly transferring children of the group to another group. (e)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Statute, Article 3: The International Tribunal for Rwanda shall have the power to prosecute persons responsible for the following crimes when committed as part of a widespread or systematic attack against any civilian population on national, political, ethnic, racial or religious grounds:

<sup>(</sup>a) Murder;

Extermination; (b)

<sup>(</sup>c) Enslavement;

<sup>(</sup>d) Deportation;

Imprisonment: (e)

Torture: (f)

<sup>(</sup>g) Rape:

<sup>(</sup>h) Persecutions on political, racial and religious grounds;

<sup>(</sup>i) Other inhumane acts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Karemera et al., Decision on Prosecutor's Interlocutory Appeal of Decision on Judicial Notice (AC), paras. 29 and 35; see also: Semanza Appeal Judgement, para. 192.

Rwanda, in Zaïre (now the Democratic Republic of Congo) and in Belgium.<sup>5</sup> He was a public health specialist and in 1992 was appointed Director of the Kigali Health Region. In 1994, after the death of Rwandan President Juvénal Habyarimana, he was appointed Minister of Primary and Secondary Education in the Interim Government, and took oath on 9 April 1994. He was a member of the *Mouvement démocratique du Rwanda* (MDR) party.<sup>6</sup>

4. André Rwamakuba was first arrested on 2 August 1995 upon what appears to have been an independent initiative of the Namibian authorities. Once contacted, the Prosecution indicated that it had instructed its office in Kigali to take urgent steps to ascertain whether it was interested in the prosecution of Rwamakuba on charges within the Tribunal's jurisdiction.<sup>7</sup> A month later, the Prosecution notified the Namibian authorities that it did not possess evidence which would entitle it to request his detention.<sup>8</sup> Rwamakuba was subsequently released on 8 February 1996.

5. Three years after that initial arrest, the Prosecution did file an indictment against André Rwamakuba and seven other co-Accused.<sup>9</sup> Rwamakuba was arrested by the Namibian authorities on 21 October 1998, in compliance with a Tribunal warrant of arrest and Order for transfer and detention, <sup>10</sup> and transferred to the United Nations Detention Facilities ("UNDF") in Arusha the following day. Rwamakuba pleaded not guilty to all the charges against him.<sup>11</sup>

6. After four of his co-Accused were severed from the 1998 Indictment,<sup>12</sup> the trial against André Rwamakuba and the three remaining co-Accused, namely Edouard Karemera, Mathieu Ngirumpaste and Joseph Nzirorera, commenced on 27 November 2003. Thirteen Prosecution witnesses were heard before the trial was interrupted in May 2004 as a result of the Presiding Judge's withdrawal from the case. A rehearing of the case with a different bench was then

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Curriculum vitae of André Rwamakuba (Exh. D. 184); Prosecution Closing Brief, para. 6 and footnote 3; Defence Closing Brief, pp. 2-5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Indictment, para. 1; Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, para. 11; Prosecution Closing Brief, paras. 7-10; Defence Closing Brief.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See Prosecution's letter of 22 December 1995, attached to the Defence "Additional Evidence in Support of Motion for Stay of Proceedings on Grounds of Undue Delay of 13 May 2005", filed on 1 June 2005; *Rwamakuba*, Decision on André Rwamakuba's Motion for Severance (TC), paras. 30 and 32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See Prosecution's letter of 18 January 1996, attached to the Defence "Additional Evidence in Support of Motion for Stay of Proceedings on Grounds of Undue Delay of 13 May 2005", filed on 1 June 2005.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Bizimana et al., Confirmation and Non-Disclosure of the Indictment, 29 August 1998.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> *Rwamakuba*, Warrant of Arrest and Order for Transfer and Detention (TC).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See: Initial Appearance, T. 7 April 1999.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See *Bizimana et al.* Case, Decision on the Defence Motion in Opposition to Joinder and Motion for Severance and Separate Trial Filed by the Accused Juvénal Kajelijeli (TC); *Bizimana et al.*, Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for severance of Félicien Kabuga's Trial and for Leave to the Accused's Indictment (TC); *Bizimana et al.*, Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Separate Trials and for Leave to File an Amended Indictment (TC).

Judgement

20 September 2006

necessary.<sup>13</sup> The new Chamber subsequently granted the Prosecution's request for severance of Rwamakuba from the joined Indictment and ordered a separate trial pursuant to an Amended Indictment.<sup>14</sup> This Indictment filed 10 days later charges André Rwamakuba with genocide, or in the alternative complicity in genocide, and crimes against humanity.<sup>15</sup> At a further initial appearance held on 21 March 2005, the Chamber entered a plea of not guilty to all counts in the absence of the Accused.<sup>16</sup> The Defence for André Rwamakuba did not dispute that genocide occurred in Rwanda in 1994, but contested the Accused's participation in any of the crimes alleged in the Indictment.<sup>17</sup> Following the Chamber's rulings on the defects in the form of the Indictment, the Prosecution filed its final version on 10 June 2005.<sup>18</sup>

7. The trial in the instant case commenced on 9 June 2005. Eighteen Prosecution witnesses were heard, including one investigator and one expert witness, over 39 trial days.<sup>19</sup> Two Prosecution witnesses refused to testify. The Chamber was not requested to issue a subpoena order for these witnesses to appear before the Tribunal. Rather, the Prosecution moved for an adjournment of the proceedings until some unspecified time in October 2005.<sup>20</sup> After several opportunities were given to the Prosecution to clarify if and when these witnesses would testify, the Chamber denied the Prosecution's application considering the interests of justice and the right of the Accused to be tried without undue delay.<sup>21</sup> In its ruling, it found that the Prosecution demonstrated a lack of diligence and had failed to persuade the Chamber that these two witnesses were critical to the case against the Accused.<sup>22</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Karemera et al., Decision on Interlocutory Appeals Regarding the Continuation of Proceedings with a Substitute Judge and on Nzirorera's Motion for Leave to Consider New Material (AC); Karemera et al., Reasons for Decision on Interlocutory Appeals Regarding the Continuation of Proceedings with a Substitute Judge and on Nzirorera's Motion for Leave to Consider New Material (AC).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Karemera et al., Decision on severance of André Rwamakuba and for Leave to File Amended Indictment (TC). <sup>15</sup> Amended Indictment filed on 10 June 2005, counts 1 to 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> André Rwamakuba did not appear before the Chamber. His Counsel asserted that Rwamakuba had been provided with the Indictment and had been apprised of its content (T. 21 March 2005). The Amended Indictment was filed on 23 February 2005 and re-filed on 9 March 2005, due to typographical errors and in accordance with the Chamber's Order to Re-File the Amended Indictment (TC).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> See for e.g.: T. 21 April 1994, p. 35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Rwamakuba, Decision on Defects in the Form of the Indictment (TC). See also: T. 6 June 2005; T. 9 June

<sup>2005.</sup> <sup>19</sup> The Prosecution conducted its case during two trial sessions: from 9 June to 15 July 2005 and from 22 August <sup>19</sup> The Prosecution conducted its case during two trial sessions: from 9 June to 15 July 2005 and from 22 August 23 and 24 August 2005).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> T. 13 September 2005, p. 3. See *Rwamakuba*, Decision on Prosecution Motion for Reconsideration or, in the Alternative, Certification to Appeal Chamber's Decision Denying Request for Adjournment (TC).

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> T. 13 September 2005, pp. 13-14.
 <sup>22</sup> *Rwamakuba*, Decision on Prosecution Motion for Reconsideration or, in the Alternative, Certification to Appeal Chamber's Decision Denying Request for Adjournment (TC).

8. The Defence case commenced on 7 November 2005 and 31 witnesses were called over 39 days.<sup>23</sup> The Chamber undertook a site visit in Rwanda with the parties in January 2006.<sup>24</sup> Key locations relevant to the charges against André Rwamakuba were viewed in Kigali, Gikomero and Butare areas.<sup>25</sup> The closing arguments of both parties were heard on 21 April 2006, approximately 10 weeks after the close of the Defence case.<sup>26</sup>

9. From the outset André Rwamakuba refused to attend court proceedings. According to his Counsel, this was due to the Accused's belief that the evidence against him was being manipulated.<sup>27</sup> The Chamber nevertheless regularly invited him to attend the proceedings, through the Registrar and his Counsel.<sup>28</sup> The trial proceeded in the absence of the Accused in accordance with Rule 82*bis* of the Rules.<sup>29</sup>

10. The charges against the Accused are discussed in **Chapter I** The Chamber then reviews the evidence adduced during the trial and will reach its findings in **Chapter II**. **Chapter III** pertains to the rights of the Accused and **Chapter IV** contains the verdict.

## **CHAPTER I – CHARGES AGAINST THE ACCUSED**

11. In its Closing Brief, the Prosecution contends that by his acts and omissions, André Rwamakuba is criminally responsible under Article 6(1) of the Statute for having planned, ordered, instigated and committed the crimes of genocide, or complicity in genocide, murder and extermination as crimes against humanity in Gikomero *commune* and at Butare University Hospital during April 1994.<sup>30</sup> It also submits that as Minister of Primary and Secondary Education, Rwamakuba "did nothing, either to denounce the crimes committed against the Tutsi, [o]r to dissociate himself from the [Interim Government]". It submits that by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> The Defence case was conducted during two trial sessions: from 7 November to 16 December 2005 and from 17 January to 9 February 2006. At the Defence's request, four witnesses testified via video-link. The Prosecution did not oppose. See: *Rwamakuba*, Decision on Confidential Motion for the Testimony of Defence Witness 1/15 (TC); T. 18 January 2006, p. 37; T. 19 January 2006, p. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> *Rwamakuba*, Decision on Defence Motion for A View Locus In Quo (TC).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Minutes for the Site Visit to Rwanda in the *Rwamakuba* case, 13-16 January 2005.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> T. 21 April 2006.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> See: T. 6 June 2005, pp. 2-3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> See for e.g.: T. 6 June 2005, p. 4; T. 27 June 2005, p. 2; T. 4 July 2005, pp. 1-2; T. 11 July 2005, pp. 1-2; T. 22 August 2005, pp. 1-2; T. 29 August 2005, p. 1; T. 1 November 2005, p. 1; T. 7 November 2005, p. 1; T. 14 November 2005, p. 1; T. 17 January 2006, p. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> A chronology of the case is annexed to this Judgement (Annex II).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Prosecution Closing Brief, paras. 19, 208, 216-217, 239, 243-244, 248, 268 and 269.

20 September 2006

these omissions, Rwamakuba directly failed to discharge the duties entrusted to him, which he had sworn to fulfil, and that he encouraged the genocidal activities.<sup>31</sup>

12. The Prosecution further contends that "a Trial Chamber may find an accused guilty when it is satisfied that the accused participated in a crime by committing any one of the acts covered by the Statute, *even if the Chamber does not endorse the Prosecution's case*".<sup>32</sup> It adds that "[a]s a Tribunal of fact and law, the Chamber may accept any argument that it finds relevant to the facts of the case, on condition that the said argument is consistent with the provisions of Article 6(1) of the Statute".<sup>33</sup> In the Prosecution's view, the question of notifying the Accused of the charges against him in that respect does not arise, since he was informed of the forms of responsibility under Article 6(1) of the Statute for which he was being prosecuted and which have been established by the Prosecution.<sup>34</sup>

13. Article 17(4) of the Statute and Rule 47(C) of the Rules require the Prosecution to set forth in the Indictment a concise statement of the facts of the case and of the crime(s) with which the suspect is charged. This obligation must be interpreted in light of the rights of the accused to a fair trial, to be informed of the charges against him, and to have adequate time and facilities for the preparation of his defence.<sup>35</sup> According to the jurisprudence of both *ad hoc* Tribunals, this translates into an obligation on the part of the Prosecution to state the material facts underpinning the charges in the Indictment, but not the evidence by which such material facts are to be proven.<sup>36</sup>

14. The Indictment, therefore, has to fulfil the fundamental purpose to inform the Accused of the charges against him with sufficient particularity to enable him to mount his defence.<sup>37</sup> Failure to set forth the specific material facts of a crime constitutes a material defect in the Indictment. This defect may nonetheless be cured, and a conviction entered, where the accused has received timely, clear, and consistent information from the Prosecution which resolves the ambiguity or clears up the vagueness.<sup>38</sup> In assessing whether a defective

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Prosecution Closing Brief, para. 265.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Prosecution Closing Brief, para. 266 (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Prosecution Closing Brief, para. 266.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Statute, Articles 19, 20(2), 20(4)(a) and 20(4)(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Ntakirutimana Appeal Judgement, paras. 25 and 470 ; *Rutaganda* Appeal Judgement, paras. 301-303; *Ntagerura* Appeal Judgement, para. 21; *Naletilic* Appeal Judgement, para. 26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Ntakirutimana Appeal Judgement, paras. 25 and 470; Ntagerura Appeal Judgement, para. 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Niyitegeka Appeal Judgement, para. 195; Ntagerura Appeal Judgement, paras. 30; Gacumbitsi Appeal Judgement, para. 49.

indictment was cured, the Chamber must determine whether the accused was in a reasonable position to understand the charges against him or her and to confront the Prosecution's case.<sup>39</sup>

15. In the present case, after a brief description of the Accused, his authority and legal duties,<sup>40</sup> the four counts of the Indictment charge André Rwamakuba pursuant to Articles 2, 3 and 6(1) of the Statute, with genocide, or in the alternative, complicity in genocide, and extermination and murder as crimes against humanity regarding events that took place on or between 6 and 30 April 1994 in Gikomero *commune* and at Butare University Hospital.<sup>41</sup> These four counts set out the crimes for which the Accused is charged. The respective succeeding paragraphs set out the concise statement of facts on which the allegations are based.<sup>42</sup>

16. Paragraph 11 of the Indictment details how between 10 and 20 April 1994, in Gikomero *commune*, the Accused allegedly delivered machetes that were subsequently used in killing or attempting to kill Tutsi. Paragraphs 12, 13, 23 and 26 of the Indictment describe how during the same period and in the same *commune*, the Accused allegedly ordered and participated in the killing of three persons identified as Tutsi and in the massacre of Tutsi refugees at the Kayanga Health Centre. The alleged participation of the Accused in massacres at Butare University Hospital between 18 and 25 April 1994 is set forth at paragraphs 15 to 16, 23 and 26 of the Indictment.

17. The Indictment also describes André Rwamakuba's alleged political status and related political activities. It sets out how he conducted sensitization campaigns against Tutsi in Gikomero *commune* between 26 July 1993 and June 1994.<sup>43</sup> It alleges that as a Minister of Primary and Secondary Education of the Interim Government of 8 April 1994, he took part in the conception and the implementation of the Government's policies to exterminate the Tutsi throughout Rwanda.<sup>44</sup> The Accused is also defined as a member of the extremist wing of the *Mouvement Démocratique du Rwanda*, MDR "Hutu Power", which was allegedly created on or about 26 July 1993 and had a specific ideology of exterminating the Tutsi.<sup>45</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> *Rutaganda* Appeal Judgement, para. 303; see also: *Ntakirutimana* Appeal Judgement, paras. 27 and 469-472; *Ntagerura* Appeal Judgement, paras. 30 and 67; *Gacumbitsi* Appeal Judgement, para. 49.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> See Indictment, paras. 1 and 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> The Amended Indictment was filed on 10 June 2005, and is attached to the present Judgement (see Annex 1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> See the use of the words "as follows" at the end of each introductory paragraph of each Count.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Indictment, paras. 3 to 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Indictment, paras. 1, 7, 9, 14 and 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Indictment, para. 3.

Judgement

18. The Indictment does not allege the Accused's criminal responsibility as superior for crimes committed by subordinates.<sup>46</sup> In addition to alleging complicity in genocide,<sup>47</sup> the Indictment includes only a general reference to Article 6(1) of the Statute in relation to each of the four counts. In accordance with the settled jurisprudence, such general reference implies that the Accused is prosecuted for all forms of individual participation set out by Article 6(1) of the Statute, namely planning, instigating, ordering, committing and aiding and abetting in the planning, preparation or execution of a crime.<sup>48</sup> The Appeals Chamber and some Trial Chambers have stated that this provision is interpreted "[to cover] first and foremost the physical perpetration of a crime by the offender himself, or the culpable omission of an act that was mandated by a rule of criminal law."<sup>49</sup> In the present case, there is no allegation of any legal duty under which the Accused was mandated to act and which failure to do so would constitute a criminal act.

19. Reading the Indictment as whole, the Chamber concludes that the allegations describing the political activities of the Accused provide the context or background from which inferences could be drawn either concerning his intent, his disposition or other elements of his individual participation in specific crimes in Gikomero *commune* and at Butare University Hospital between 6 and 30 April 1994. This conclusion is in accordance with the clear and consistent notice given by the Prosecution throughout its representations of the case, its Pre-Trial Brief and Opening Statement, and its evidence adduced during the trial, as described hereinafter.

20. When André Rwamakuba was jointly indicted with three co-Accused, all were charged with conspiracy to commit genocide, direct and public incitement to genocide, genocide, or alternatively complicity in genocide, rape and extermination as crimes against humanity, and serious violations of Article 3 Common to the Geneva Conventions.<sup>50</sup> That

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Statute, Article 6(3): The fact that any of the acts referred to in Articles 2 to 4 of the present Statute was committed by a subordinate does not relieve his or her superior criminal responsibility if he or she knew or had reasons to know that the subordinate was about to commit such acts or had done so and the superior failed to take the necessary and reasonable measures to prevent such acts or to punish the perpetrators thereof.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> According to the jurisprudence, complicity in genocide is a form of liability. See: *Ntakirutimana* Appeal Judgement, para. 500; *Semanza* Appeal Judgement, para. 316; *Krstic* Appeal Judgement, para. 139.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> *Ntakirutimana* Appeal Judgement, para. 473.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> See: *Tadic* Appeal Judgement, para. 188; *Kayishema* Appeal Judgement, para. 187; *Musema* Judgement, para. 123; *Bagilishema* Judgement, para. 29 and footnote 19; *Kamuhanda* Judgement, para. 595; *Kajelijeli* Judgement, para. 764; *Ntagerura* Judgement, para. 659.
 <sup>50</sup> In 1998, the Prosecution filed an Indictment against Augustin Bizimana, Félicien Kabuga, Juvénal Kajelijeli,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> In 1998, the Prosecution filed an Indictment against Augustin Bizimana, Félicien Kabuga, Juvénal Kajelijeli, Edouard Karemera, Mathieu Ngirumpaste, Callixte Nzabomimana, Joseph Nzirorera and André Rwamakuba. As a result of the severance of four of these co-Accused, the Prosecution charged André Rwamakuba jointly with Edouard Karemera, Mathieu Ngirumpatse and Joseph Nzirorera (see: Amended Indictment filed on 18 February 2004).

Indictment pleaded not only the direct criminal responsibility of the four Accused as perpetrators or accomplices but also as superiors for the crimes committed by their subordinates. The Prosecutor's theory alleged a "huge government conspiracy of Statesponsored genocide".<sup>51</sup>

21. In 2004, before the rehearing of the trial began, the Prosecution requested the severance of André Rwamakuba from the joint Indictment. It contented that "it [was] not necessary to support a joint trial to prosecute Rwamakuba effectively" and that it intended to focus the case entirely on Rwamakuba's "direct participation in crimes", thereby removing any allegation of conspiracy to commit genocide or joint criminal enterprise responsibility.<sup>52</sup>

22. The Prosecution reiterated this affirmation several times.<sup>53</sup> It stated in open court that the entire case was to be based on André Rwamakuba's own acts and omissions and that it was not going to "attempt to bring in proof of Rwamakuba's meeting and conspiring with other interim government ministers and other MRND leaders to commit genocide".<sup>54</sup> The Prosecution also indicated that any pleading of 'common purpose' implicating Rwamakuba as a co-perpetrator of crimes committed throughout Rwanda in furtherance of a government conspiracy to commit genocide had been removed from the Indictment.<sup>55</sup>

23. At first, André Rwamakuba opposed the Prosecution's application for severance.<sup>56</sup> Subsequently, his Defence altered its position on the premise of the Prosecution's stated new theory against the Accused.<sup>57</sup> It stressed the significance of that understanding in determining

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> See Prosecutor's Consolidated Motion to Sever Rwamakuba from the Joint Indictment and to Try Him Separately, For Leave to File a Separate Amended Indictment against Rwamakuba, and For Leave to File a Separate Amended Indictment against Karemera, Ngirumpatse and Nzirorera, filed on 20 December 2004, para. 11; see also Prosecutor's Motion for Leave to File an Amended Separate Indictment against Karemera, Ngirumpatse and Nzirorera, filed on 19 November 2004, para. 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> Prosecutor's Motion of 19 November 2004, paras. 14 and 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> See T. 25 November 2004, p. 13; Prosecutor's Consolidated Motion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> T. 25 November 2004, p. 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> Prosecutor's Consolidated Motion of 20 December 2004, para. 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> At that stage, the Defence considered that a joint trial would assist the Chamber in placing in context the nature of Rwamakuba's activities as a Minister and would assist to controvert the prosecution's theory of a concerted government plan to which all Ministers were party. The Defence further expressed its concern that the proposed Separate Indictment at that time did not reflect the stated intent of the Prosecution in its severance motion. It contended that the proposed Separate Indictment did not in fact reduce the substance of the Prosecution case against the Accused. The Defence was therefore of the view that the Accused's interests were best served within a joint trial, rather than dealt with in a less coherent manner to support indirect responsibility by virtue of his alleged influence and effective control as a Minister and so called "high ranking member of Hutu power" (Response on Behalf of Dr Rwamakuba to the Prosecutor's Motions for Separate Trials, filed on 24 November 2004, paras. 36-38).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> Rwamakuba's Response to the Prosecution's Motion to Sever and File a Separate Amended Indictment, filed on 10 January 2005, p. 2.

Judgement

its advice to the Accused and to his subsequent consent not to oppose severance.<sup>58</sup> The Prosecution replied that "it [was] evident that the Prosecutor [intended] to establish Rwamakuba's criminal responsibility under the Statute for commission of crimes in Gikomero and Butare and [would] *not rely upon the doctrine of joint criminal enterprise or seek to establish his criminal responsibility for acts and omissions of the Interim Government throughout Rwanda*".<sup>59</sup> The Prosecution further submitted that the question of what evidence it may adduce to establish his responsibility was different and that it intended to offer evidence of his ministerial appointment, *'to prove elements of the Prosecution case such as* mens rea *for genocide*".<sup>60</sup> The Chamber granted the severance of André Rwamakuba on the basis of the Prosecution's assertions and its stated revised theory against the Accused.<sup>61</sup>

24. Later, when replying to the Defence Motion on Defects in the Form of the Indictment, the Prosecution reiterated the same position.<sup>62</sup> In the light of these submissions, the Chamber ruled that one particular paragraph which could have raised ambiguities concerning the exact nature of the responsibility alleged against the Accused was to be struck from the Indictment.<sup>63</sup>

25. The Prosecution's Pre-Trial Brief also presents the factual allegations against the Accused divided between events in Gikomero *Commune* and at Butare University Hospital, and alleges his criminal responsibility under Article 6(1) of the Statute for crimes committed in those specific locations.<sup>64</sup> The Prosecution Opening Statement was consistent with this theory.<sup>65</sup>

26. Until the submission made at the latest stage by the Prosecution in its Closing Brief, there was therefore no indication in the Indictment, the Pre-Trial Brief or the Opening Statement that the charges against the Accused included a responsibility, as a Minister of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> *Ibid.*, pp. 2 and 4: [The Defence] have altered [its] position and provided advice to the Accused in the light of the increased clarity of the Prosecution position expressed in the renewed motion, and on the premise that the Prosecution will adhere to their expressed position. [...] **t** is therefore [the Defence] understanding that the position is that, on severance, the Prosecution seeks to prove culpability solely through evidence of events in Gikomero and Butare that concern Rwamakuba [...] [and] does not intend to rely on the doctrine of joint criminal enterprise.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Prosecutor's Reply to the Defence Submissions on the Consolidated Motion to Sever Rwamakuba from the Joint Indictment and for Leave to Amend the Indictment, filed on 10 February 2005, para. 2 (emphasis added). <sup>60</sup> Prosecutor's Reply, filed on 10 February 2005, para. 3 (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> Karemera et al., Decision on Severance of André Rwamakuba and For Leave to File Amended Indictment (TC).

 $<sup>6^{2}</sup>$  Réponse du Procureur à la requête de la Défense en date du 27 avril 2005, intitulée "Preliminary Motion on Behalf of the Accused on Defects in the Form of the Indictment of 23 February 2005", filed on 4 May 2005.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> *Rwamakuba*, Decision on Defects in the Form of the Indictment (TC), para. 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, paras. 15 to 29, 30 to 40 and 74.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> T. 9 June 2005.

Interim Government, for not having denounced the crimes committed against the Tutsi or for not dissociating himself from the Government, and for a failure to discharge the duties entrusted to him as a member of the Government. On the contrary, from the outset, the Prosecution gave clear and consistent information both to the Accused and to the Chamber that its case was limited to Rwamakuba's direct participation in criminal activities in two specific locations<sup>66</sup> within a specific time-frame.<sup>67</sup> Before and during the presentation of the evidence at trial, the Prosecution never claimed to revise this stated position.

27. The Chamber notes that in its closing arguments the Defence reiterated its understanding of the Prosecution's case against the Accused. It emphasised that it had conducted the Defence of André Rwamakuba on the plain understanding that "command responsibility, joint criminal enterprise, were out and that the relevance of his being a minister was confined to disposition and ideology".<sup>68</sup>

28. It would therefore be contrary to the fundamental right of the Accused to a fair trial, including his right to defend himself and to know the charges against him, if the Chamber were to accede to a Prosecution request to find the Accused criminally responsible for omissions which were neither set forth in the Indictment nor subsequently notified by timely, clear, and consistent information from the Prosecution.<sup>69</sup> The Prosecution is expected to know its case before it goes to trial rather than seek to mould its case at the end of the trial depending on how the evidence unfolded.

29. The Chamber therefore considers that in the present case, the Prosecution charges André Rwamakuba, pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Statute,<sup>70</sup> with genocide, or alternatively, complicity in genocide, and crimes against humanity for acts allegedly committed between 6 and 30 April 1994 in Gikomero *commune* and at Butare University Hospital, as pleaded in Counts 1 to 4 of the Indictment. Any factual allegation related to André Rwamakuba's political activities or role as a member of the MDR party or as Minister of the Interim

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> Gikomero *Commune* and Butare University Hospital.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Between 6 and 30 April 1994.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> T. 21 April 2006, pp. 37 and 39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> Compare with *Ntagerura* Judgement, para. 34, in which the Trial Chamber did not consider the Prosecutor's argument, which were advanced for the first time during the presentation of closing arguments, to hold the accused criminally responsible based on the theory of joint criminal enterprise. The Appeals Chamber confirmed this finding (*Natgerura* Appeal Judgement, paras. 33-46).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> For planning, instigating, ordering, committing or otherwise aiding and abetting in the planning, preparation or execution of these crimes.

Government must be considered as context or background from which inferences could be drawn concerning, for instance, his intent, disposition or other elements of the crimes.<sup>71</sup>

## **CHAPTER II - FINDINGS**

30. Before addressing its factual findings (II), the Chamber briefly discusses two applicable rules on evidentiary matters (I).

### I. RULES ON EVIDENTIARY MATTERS

31. In the Chamber's view, there are two principles especially significant in the assessment of the evidence: first, the presumption of innocence of each accused person (**I.1**.); and second, the Chamber's discretionary power concerning the assessment of the evidence in view of a fair determination of the matter (**I.2**.).

### I.1. PRESUMPTION OF INNOCENCE

32. Each accused is presumed innocent. <sup>72</sup> Accordingly, the Prosecution bears the onus of establishing the accused's guilt beyond reasonable doubt.<sup>73</sup> The Defence does not have to adduce rebuttal evidence to the Prosecution's case. The Prosecution will fail to discharge its persuasive burden of proof if the Defence's evidence raises a reasonable doubt within the Prosecution's case.<sup>74</sup> This principle also applies when the accused denies commission of the crimes with which he is charged because he was not at the scene of the crime at the time of its commission: "the Prosecution's burden is to prove the accused's guilt as to the alleged crimes beyond reasonable doubt in spite of the proffered alibi".<sup>75</sup> According to the settled jurisprudence, if the defence is reasonably possibly true, it must be successful.<sup>76</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> See: Indictment, paras. 3 to 9, 14 and 17-19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> Statute, Article 20(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> See also Rule 87(A):

<sup>[...]</sup> A finding of guilt may be reached only when a majority of the Trial Chamber is satisfied that guilt has been proved beyond reasonable doubt.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> *Kayishema* Judgement, para. 117; *Musema* Judgement, para. 213; *Niyitegeka* Judgement, paras. 60-61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> Kajelijeli Judgement, para. 43.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> *Niyitegeka* Judgement, paras. 60-61.

#### I.2. CHAMBER'S DISCRETIONARY POWER IN THE ASSESSMENT OF THE EVIDENCE

33. The Rules of Procedure and Evidence govern the proceedings. The Chamber is not bound by national rules of evidence and may, in cases not otherwise provided for in the Rules, apply rules of evidence which will best favour a fair determination of the matter before it and are consonant with the spirit of the Statute and the general principles of law.<sup>77</sup> A Chamber may also admit any relevant evidence which it deems to have probative value.<sup>78</sup>

34. Considering these principles, corroboration of evidence is not necessarily required: a Chamber may rely on a single witness' testimony as proof of a material fact.<sup>79</sup> A Chamber also has a broad discretion to admit hearsay evidence, even when it cannot be examined at its source and when it is not corroborated by direct evidence.<sup>80</sup>

35. The probative value to be attached to testimony is determined according to its credibility and reliability. When a witness is found to be credible, a Chamber must also determine whether his or her evidence is reliable. When applying these criteria, a Chamber must consider the evidence as a whole, including other witnesses' testimonies and the exhibits admitted.<sup>81</sup>

### **II. FACTUAL FINDINGS**

36. In the present case, the Prosecution's evidence consisted mainly of hearsay evidence concerning both the content of the allegations and also the identification of André Rwamakuba. Five of the 18 Prosecution witnesses claimed to have direct knowledge of Rwamakuba.<sup>82</sup> Two witnesses also gave uncorroborated evidence to support specific allegations in the Indictment.<sup>83</sup> The Prosecution did not specify why this was the case and it must be presumed that this was the best evidence available. The Defence called witnesses who had both direct and indirect knowledge of Rwamakuba and many of them claimed to have been eyewitnesses to events alleged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> Rules 89(A) and (B).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> Rules 89(C).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> See for e.g.: *Semanza* Appeal Judgement, para. 153; *Gacumbitsi* Appeal Judgement, para. 72.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> See for e.g.: Akayesu Appeal Judgement, para. 286; Kajelijeli Judgement, para. 45; Gacumbitsi Appeal Judgement.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> Ntagerura Appeal Judgement, paras. 172-174.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> See: Prosecution Witnesses GLM and GIT claimed that they personally knew André Rwamakuba's family; Prosecution Witnesses GIN and ALA claimed that they were personally introduced to Rwamakuba; Prosecution Witness XV testified that he used to see Rwamakuba when the latter was a student.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> See Prosecution Witness GAC with respect to the delivery of machetes at Kamanzi's house; and Prosecution Witness GIN regarding the killing of three people at the Gikomero *secteur* office.

37. The Chamber will assess the evidence in order to determine whether the Prosecution has proved beyond reasonable doubt that any of the criminal acts pleaded in the Indictment<sup>84</sup> were planned, instigated, ordered, committed or aided and abetted by the Accused, or with respect to the genocide that he was complicit in these acts, in Gikomero *commune* and at Butare University Hospital in April 1994. If established, the Chamber will determine whether these criminal acts were committed with the specific intent to destroy, in whole or in part, the Tutsi group, and whether these acts were committed as a part of a widespread or systematic attack against the Tutsi civilian population on political, ethnic, or racial grounds. Pursuant to the established jurisprudence, the criminal intent of an accused may be proved through inferences from the facts and circumstances of a case.<sup>85</sup> This approach does not relieve the Prosecution of its burden of proving each element of its case, including genocidal intent, beyond reasonable doubt.<sup>86</sup>

38. The case against the Accused revolves around two sets of events allegedly committed in Gikomero *commune* and at Butare University Hospital. They are reviewed in Sections II.1. and II.2. respectively.

39. For each allegation, the Chamber will bear in mind that the Indictment is the main accusatory instrument. As discussed in Chapter I, the Pre-Trial Brief and the Opening Statement may, in some circumstances, resolve any ambiguities in the Indictment, provided that the Accused was in a reasonable position to understand the charges against him and confront the Prosecution case.

40. The evidence will be assessed as a whole, although the different elements of the assessment of the evidence are divided into sub-sections in the interests of clarity. For each allegation, the Chamber discusses the identification of the Accused, and the credibility and reliability of the Prosecution and Defence witnesses, including the alibi evidence. The Chamber will use various criteria in its assessment of the evidence, such as internal discrepancies in the witness' testimony, inconsistencies with other witnesses' testimony, inconsistencies with other witness and the Accused and other witnesses, the criminal record of the witness, the impact of trauma on a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> According to the Indictment: killings, or causing serious bodily or mental harm to the Tutsi population, or deliberately inflicting conditions of life upon the Tutsi population that were calculated t bring about its physical destruction in whole or in part, as genocide, and murder or extermination as crimes against humanity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> Gacumbitsi Appeal Judgement, paras. 39-41; Rutaganda Appeal Judgement, para. 525; see also: Akayesu Judgement, paras. 523-524; Bagilishema Judgement, para. 63; Gacumbitsi Judgement, para. 252.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> *Gacumbitsi* Appeal Judgement, para. 41.

witness' memory, discrepancies in translation, social and cultural factors, and the demeanour of the witness. References to admitted exhibits will also be made where appropriate.

41. Most Prosecution and Defence witnesses were granted protective measures in order to prevent public disclosure of their identities.<sup>87</sup> The Chamber seeks to set forth the basis of its reasoning as clearly as possible, whilst avoiding disclosure of any information that may reveal the identity of protected witnesses.

## **II.1.** ALLEGED CRIMINAL ACTS COMMITTED BY ANDRÉ RWAMAKUBA IN GIKOMERO COMMUNE

42. The *commune* of Gikomero, presently named Gasabo District, lies approximately 25 kilometres north of Kigali town.<sup>88</sup> In 1994, it was within the *préfecture* of Kigali Rural and was divided into ten secteurs, including the Bumbogo, Gasabo, Gicaca, Gikomero, Gishaka, Kayanga, Nduba, Rutunga, Sha and Shango secteurs.<sup>89</sup> Each secteur was divided into cellules. Gikomero commune was surrounded by the communes of Giti, Gikoro, Rubungo, Rutongo and Mugambazi.<sup>90</sup> The Chamber and the parties went to Gikomero *commune* in January 2006 and viewed specific locations relevant to the case including the Trading Centre, the secteur Office, the Protestant School site, Kayanga School, Kayanga Health Centre and the Ndatemwa Trading Centre.<sup>91</sup>

43. The Indictment alleges that from 26 July 1993 until June 1994, André Rwamakuba travelled around various secteurs of the Gikomero commune organizing and participating in meetings which called upon the Hutu majority to exterminate the Tutsi, recruiting members for "MDR-Hutu Power" and supporting the "Hutu Power" (II.1.1.). It further alleges that between 10 and 11 April 1994, after these sensitization campaigns, Rwamakuba delivered weapons that were to be used to kill the Tutsi to the homes of André Muhire, near Ndatemwa Trading Centre in Gasabo secteur, and Etienne Kamanzi, located in the Kayanga secteur (II.1.2). He is also alleged to have instigated the killing of three unknown men, but identified

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> Karemera et al., Order on Protective Measures for Prosecution Witnesses (TC); Rwamakuba, Decision on Defence Motion for Protective Measures (TC), and Decision on Prosecution Motion For Variation, or in Alternative Reconsideration of the Decision on Protective Measures for Defence Witnesses (TC).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> Distance between Kigali town and Gikomero secteur Office, Exh. P. 2. The Defence acknowledges that the routes to Gikomero commune are reasonably reviewed in that document (Defence Closing Brief, p. 22).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> See: Testimony of Prosecution investigator Upendra Baghel, T. 13 June 2005, pp. 8-9; Defence Closing Brief, para. 23. <sup>90</sup> See Exh. P. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> Minutes for the Site Visit to Rwanda in the *Rwamakuba* case, 13-16 January 2005 (Annex A).

as Tutsi, at the Gikomero *secteur* office (**II.1.3.**).<sup>92</sup> Finally, between 13 and 15 April 1994, Rwamakuba allegedly went to the Kayanga Health Centre where he signalled the beginning of the massacres against Tutsi refugees and witnessed their killing committed by soldiers and *Interahamwe* (**II.1.4.**).

44. The Chamber will address each of these allegations in turn, and assess the related evidence. Neither the Indictment nor the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief and Opening Statement are very explicit, but they seem to suggest, as does the evidence adduced, that for each event alleged, the Accused commuted between Kigali town and the various locations in Gikomero *commune*.<sup>93</sup>

45. The Prosecution and Defence witnesses agree that in April 1994, attacks and massacres were committed in Gikomero *commune* against the Tutsi population, and specifically at the Ndatemwa Trading Centre, Gikomero Protestant School, Gishaka Parish and the Kayanga Health Centre.<sup>94</sup> Prosecution and Defence witnesses also described an *Interahamwe* named Ephrem Nyirigera, the communal *brigadier* named Michel Nyarwaya and the communal accountant named Mathias Rubanguka as three of the main leaders of the attacks and massacres against Tutsi throughout Gikomero *commune* during the 1994 genocide.<sup>95</sup> The Defence denies that André Rwamakuba was involved in any of those attacks and massacres.

### II.1.1. Alleged Public Instigation in Gikomero from July 1993 through June 1994

- 46. The Prosecution alleges at paragraphs 3 to 5 of the Indictment that
  - 3. [...] After the establishment of MDR "Power" on 26 July 1993 or thereabouts, André RWAMAKUBA, practically every weekend, up to and including January 1994, and often accompanied by local authorities and officials of MDR "Power", traveled about his home *commune* in Gikomero, Kigali-rural *préfecture*. He organized meetings and participated in rallies in Kayanga, Gikomero, Rutunga, Gasabo and Gicaca *secteurs*. During the rallies, André RWAMAKUBA distributed songs of the Parmehutu party. The Accused's objective at the time was to recruit members for MDR "Power" party and to support "Hutu Power". The Accused called upon the Hutu majority to oppose the Arusha Peace Accords and to exterminate the Tutsi.
  - 4. During those "sensitization" campaigns in Gikomero *commune*, particularly in January 1994, **André RWAMAKUBA** occasionally went about in a vehicle equipped with a public address system exhorting Hutu to unite in order to get rid of Tutsi. His announcements, the objective of which was to exhort Hutu to unite in order to get rid of Tutsi, included repeated statements that "the time has come for you, Hutu, to get rid of the enemy".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup> Exh. P. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>93</sup> See also the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, Opening Statement and Prosecution Closing Brief.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup> These events are discussed below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> See Prosecution Witnesses GAB, GAC and GIN; Defence Witnesses 3/1, 4/16, 6/10, 7/18 and 9/20.

5. During the period from January through June 1994, **André RWAMAKUBA** made statements at various meetings and public gatherings in Gikomero *commune*, or publicly associated himself with statements or acts by other persons at such gatherings. Thus, from January 1994 and during the entire period preceding the events of April 1994 in Sha, Nduba, Shango, Kayanga and Gikomero *secteurs*, and in the *communes* adjoining Gikomero, namely Rutungo, Rubungo and Kanombe, he publicly instigated participants to combat "the enemy", all the Tutsi being characterized as "the enemy", "accomplices of the enemy" or "accomplices of RPF". After these gatherings, during which the Accused called for the extermination of Tutsi, the participants became excited, aggressive and disposed to physically attack and destroy the Tutsi as a group. Such speeches by the **Accused** signaled the start of killings in the *commune*. Furthermore, after the killings began in early April 1994, **André RWAMAKUBA** often praised and congratulated militiamen publicly for and on having killed Tutsi, thereby instigating other militias and armed civilians to participate in further attacks and massacres against the Tutsi population.

## (1) Evidence Adduced

47. Six Prosecution Witnesses testified that between 1992 and March 1994, André Rwamakuba came to Gikomero *commune* several times.<sup>96</sup> Some of them attested that during that period, he participated in MDR party meetings at Kayanga Primary School (1.1), and in political rallies in four *secteurs* (1.2.). It was also said that Rwamakuba was present at gatherings in bars, and used a vehicle equipped with a loudspeaker in order to call for the extermination of the Tutsi (1.3.) and to recruit members for the MDR extremist wing, "Hutu Power" (1.4.).

48. The Prosecution contends that the sensitization campaigns allegedly conducted by the Accused between 23 July 1993 and April 1994 were principally aimed at laying the groundwork for the struggle against the Tutsi in which André Rwamakuba personally involved himself.<sup>97</sup> This Tribunal is only competent to prosecute individuals for crimes committed between 1 January and 31 December 1994.<sup>98</sup> Evidence of events prior to 1994 that can establish a "pattern, design or systematic course of conduct by the accused" or provide a context or background to crimes falling within the temporal jurisdiction of the Tribunal is however admissible.<sup>99</sup> Moreover, in the light of the discussion under Chapter I regarding the charges against the Accused, the Chamber will consider the evidence on the alleged public instigation in Gikomero *commune* discussed hereinafter as circumstantial evidence that could be relevant concerning the alleged crimes committed by the Accused in the Gikomero *commune* in April 1994.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> See Prosecution Witnesses ALA, GAB, GAC, GIQ, GIT and GLM.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> Prosecution Closing Brief, para. 49.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup> Statute, Article 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup> Simba, Decision on Interlocutory Appeal Regarding Temporal Jurisdiction (AC); Nahimana Judgement, para. 101.

## (1.1.) MDR Party Meetings at Kayanga Primary School

49. Prosecution Witnesses GIQ, GAC and GAB did not personally know André Rwamakuba, but testified that they saw him at an MDR party meeting or several such party meetings held at Kayanga Primary School. None of them could recollect the exact date of the meeting or meetings. Witness GIQ placed a meeting at the school in 1992 "before the split of the MDR party", GAC could not specify the year of the event,<sup>100</sup> and GAB testified that a meeting took place in 1993 at Kayanga Primary School.

50. Prosecution Witness GIQ testified that in 1992, he saw André Rwamakuba with MDR leaders Anastase Gasana, Faustin Twagiramungu and Aloys Munyangazu recruiting members for their party in the courtyard of Kayanga Primary School. The witness recognized Anastase Gasana and Aloys Munyangazu because he knew them prior to that event.<sup>101</sup> He also recognized Twagiramungu because he used to hear him on the radio and was able to recognize his voice.<sup>102</sup> Along with the other party dignitaries, Rwamakuba was introduced to the crowd by Gasana,<sup>103</sup> as a native of Gikomero. They were told that those dignitaries were united and that they all belonged to the MDR party. Rwamakuba did not make any public statement on that day.

51. Prosecution Witness GAC also testified about an MDR rally organized by Faustin Twagiramungu at an unspecified date in the courtyard of Kayanga Primary School, which MRND party members also attended out of curiosity.<sup>104</sup> According to the witness, Twagiramungu, the then Prime Minister Agathe Uwilingiyimana, Jean De Dieu Kamuhanda and André Rwamakuba were introduced at the rally by the person conducting the ceremony. The witness heard approximately five people giving speeches, including Twagiramungu, who made a long speech about the MDR in his capacity as chairman of the party.<sup>105</sup> He also heard Rwamakuba addressing the population using language which, in the witness' view, amounted to calling on the audience to attack and kill Tutsi.<sup>106</sup> GAC also attested that the objective of the Kayanga Primary School rally was to call on the people to accept the coalition between

<sup>105</sup> T. 4 July 2005, p. 46.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup> T. 4 July 2005, p. 50; T. 5 July 2006, p. 43. Although the English transcript mentions the year "1992", the witness was testifying to a 1993 meeting (see: French version of the transcript at p. 43).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> T. 15 June 2005, p. 53.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup> T. 15 June 2005, p. 53.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup> T. 15 June 2005, p. 55.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> T. 4 July 2005, p. 46.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup> According to the witness, André Rwamakuba said: "According to you, who are those who are many more than the others: is it people who have tinned roofs or those who have thatched roof?" Rwamakuba added: "if you were asked to burn down the house of people, which houses are with thatched roofs would it take much time?" GAC explained that he understood it as "If I were to order today that Tutsis be killed from now, would you think - did you think that there would be survivors?" (T. 4 July 2005, pp. 6 and 45).

the MDR-Power, the MDR-PARMEHUTU and the MRND-Power. He further testified that "Twagiramungu taught the Hutu to kill the Tutsi", and that the participants, including Twagiramungu, implemented the killing of Tutsis.<sup>107</sup>

52. Prosecution Witness GAB also testified to an MDR Power party meeting held in the courtyard of Kayanga Primary School in 1993, where he saw André Rwamakuba and other authorities attending that meeting.<sup>108</sup> The witness asserted that Twagiramungu and Gasana were not present.<sup>109</sup> According to GAB, the main objective of the rally was to sensitize members of the MDR, Hutus in general, to the fact that their enemy was the Tutsi "who had attacked Rwanda".<sup>110</sup> The witness heard the MDR Power representative say that the enemy of the MDR and of the Hutu in general was "the Tutsi who collaborate with the *Inkotanyi*." As soon as the witness heard this statement, he left the meeting. He did not know whether Rwamakuba took the floor to make a speech on that day.<sup>111</sup> The witness testified that after this meeting, there was a conflict between the Hutu and the Tutsi in Kayanga.<sup>112</sup>

## (1.2.) Political Rallies in Sha, Nduba, Shango and Kayanga secteurs

53. Prosecution Witnesses GLM and GIT claimed to know André Rwamakuba personally,<sup>113</sup> and testified to various rallies that took place between 1993 and March 1994 in Sha, Nduba, Shango and Kayanga *secteurs* where Rwamakuba was said to have been present. None of them attended any of those rallies, but rather learned of them from other persons present.<sup>114</sup> These witnesses further testified that prior to each rally they heard or saw a vehicle equipped with a loudspeaker which was used to invite the population to attend the rallies.

54. Around October 1993, on a Sunday "about two months after the Hutu Power wing of the MDR had been created", Witness GLM saw André Rwamakuba pass where the witness lived on his way to and from Nduba *secteur*. He saw him in a car equipped with a megaphone calling out to people to attend a rally.<sup>115</sup> The witness was not present at the rally in Nduba, but

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> T. 4 July 2005, p. 44.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup> T. 5 July 2005, p. 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup> T. 5 July 2005, p. 45.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> T. 5 July 2005, p. 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> T. 5 July 2005, p. 20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> T. 5 July 2005, p. 20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> GLM and GIT are brothers. They both stated that their family and Rwamakuba's family were well acquainted since they were neighbours. GIT knew Rwamakuba when he was a secondary school pupil. He would have visited Rwamakuba's parents several times and met the Accused on these occasions. GLM was also used to see André Rwamakuba on visits to Gikomero. In particular, he met him at a parents' meeting of the free secondary school in Nduba, the *École Technique Libre* (ETL), which had been created by Rwamakuba and in which GLM had registered one of his elder brother's children. (See: T. 21 June 2005, pp. 65-66; T. 16 June 2005, p. 4). <sup>114</sup> T. 16 June 2005, p. 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> T. 16 June 2005, p. 11.

a man<sup>116</sup> later told him that Rwamakuba had been there.<sup>117</sup> According to that man, Rwamakuba spoke to the public at the rally and explained the political situation in the country, and specifically that "the Hutu needed to unite their forces so that they can exterminate the Tutsi." He is also alleged to have said that "all the evils that the country was faced with were due to the Tutsi; the Tutsi were at the origin of all these evils, so they needed to be exterminated so that the country could be governed properly after having gotten rid of that problem."<sup>118</sup>

55. The witness testified that a similar event occurred at the end of November 1993, also on a Sunday.<sup>119</sup> Witness GLM was standing close to his house and saw a passing vehicle equipped with loudspeakers calling on the people to attend an MDR Power meeting to learn about the ideals and program of the party.<sup>120</sup> He saw André Rwamakuba driving the vehicle while the person next to him was speaking into the loudspeaker. On the following day, a man<sup>121</sup> who had attended the meeting met the witness at his workplace<sup>122</sup> and told him that Rwamakuba had publicly addressed a meeting held in Shango secteur. According to this informant, the meeting was related to the extermination of the Tutsi. It was allegedly said that since the Tutsis were behaving like traitors to the country, they had to be exterminated. Party members were told that the MDR Power was the party which contained the word "power," representing the force or the strength of Hutu to be counted on to exterminate the Tutsi. Witness GLM asserted that it was Rwamakuba who addressed the population about the MDR Power and the party's program.<sup>123</sup>

56. In January 1994, GLM again heard a vehicle equipped with a loudspeaker pass on the hill opposite his house. The message from the loudspeaker called upon the people to attend a rally at Kayanga secteur. Slogans of MDR Power were diffused asking the Hutu to unite. GLM was not able to see the person driving the vehicle, because it passed too far away from him.<sup>124</sup> The witness did not attend the Kayanga rally, but again, a man<sup>125</sup> who had attended told him that André Rwamakuba and other people who had come from Kigali were introduced

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> The name of the man was provided by Witness GLM, Exh. P. 32 (under seal).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> T. 16 June 2005, p. 11. The name of the man has been written down by Witness GLM, Exh. P. 32 (under seal). <sup>118</sup> T. 16 June 2005, p. 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> T. 16 June 2005, p. 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> T. 16 June 2005, pp. 12-13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup> The name of the man was provided by Witness GLM, Exh. P. 32 (under seal).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup> T. 16 June 2005, p. 13 and Exh. P. 32 (under seal).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup> T. 16 June 2005, p. 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>124</sup> T. 16 June 2005, pp. 14-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup> T. 16 June 2005, p. 15. The name of the man was provided by Witness GLM, Exh. P. 32 (under seal).

20 September 2006

to the audience. During the rally, the ideals of the MDR Power – the extermination of the Tutsi in particular – were "taught". It was said that the Hutu should not scatter into several parties but should instead unite into one party in order to exterminate the Tutsi.<sup>126</sup>

57. Prosecution Witness GIT was told about rallies or meetings organized in the centre of Sha *secteur*, in the square near the Kayanga School of Kayanga *secteur* and on the football field of Nduba *secteur* between August 1993 and March 1994. He did not attend these meetings but he did see André Rwamakuba going to the rallies on five separate occasions, driving a red pick-up truck, the last occasion being in March 1994.<sup>127</sup> Witness GIT would see Rwamakuba passing because he lived at a distance of 15 meters from the road coming from Kigali and going in the direction of the rallies.<sup>128</sup> He saw other people in the vehicle with Rwamakuba but did not know their names. According to the witness, they were singing in praise of their party and wearing caps and small flags bearing the MDR Power emblem<sup>129</sup> Two people informed the witness about the content of the meetings and Rwamakuba's participation at the various rallies.<sup>130</sup> The latter had allegedly taken the floor and said that the time had come to eliminate the enemy Tutsi who were causing problems throughout the country.<sup>131</sup>

### (1.3.) Calls for the Extermination of the Tutsi

58. Prosecution Witnesses GLM and ALA testified that they once heard André Rwamakuba personally call for the extermination of the Tutsi. Witness ALA saw him during the third week of January 1994 in his cellule on a Sunday, around one o'clock in the afternoon.<sup>132</sup> The witness was in his house, which is near the commercial centre. He heard a voice coming from a megaphone and went to see what was happening. He saw a khaki coloured Peugeot model 505 equipped with a megaphone, which was idling near the commercial centre with three people on board.<sup>133</sup> As ALA was approaching the vehicle, he was called by one of its passengers, Anastase Gasana who knew the witness, and asked to

- <sup>130</sup> T. 21 June 2005, p. 73.
- <sup>131</sup> T. 22 June 2005, p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup> T. 16 June 2005, p. 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>127</sup> T. 22 June 2005, p. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup> T. 21 June 2005, p. 69.

 $<sup>^{129}</sup>$  T. 21 June 2005, p. 71. According to the witness, the caps and flags were red and black – the colour of their party. Some others wore the *Interahamwe* uniform of the MRND.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup> T. 14 June 2005, pp. 47 and 75.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>133</sup> T. 14 June 2005, p. 46.

repair the vehicle.<sup>134</sup> Gasana then introduced the witness to the other two people in the vehicle, Aloys Munyangazu and André Rwamakuba.<sup>135</sup> As the witness was attempting to repair the car, Rwamakuba took the megaphone and called out to the people saying several times that "it was time for the Hutus to get rid of the enemy". The witness asserted that a reasonable person would have understood that Rwamakuba was referring to the Tutsi when speaking about the enemy.<sup>136</sup> Witness GLM testified that in February 1994,<sup>137</sup> he saw Rwamakuba in Froduard Birasa's bar in Nduba Centre<sup>138</sup> and heard him say that the Tutsis were a big problem and it was time to get rid them.<sup>139</sup> Rwamakuba is alleged not to have gone into greater depth on the matter because of GLM's presence. The witness stated that this was the only time he heard Rwamakuba speak such words.<sup>140</sup> In GLM's view, the people present at the bar planned to exterminate the Tutsi and later implemented this extermination plan.<sup>141</sup>

#### (1.4.) Recruitment of Members for the MDR "Hutu Power"

59. Prosecution Witnesses GIQ and ALA testified that they saw or heard André Rwamakuba recruiting members for the MDR party. In January 1994, Witness GIQ saw him in Emmanuel Rubagumya's bar. Rwamakuba had bought people drinks and was telling them that they should join the MDR party, recruit other members and that they should kill anyone who refused to join the party.<sup>142</sup> GIQ also testified that he saw Rwamakuba in 1992 or in 1993 in a white vehicle which was equipped with loudspeakers playing songs glorifying the MDR-Power Hutu.<sup>143</sup> The songs were asking the Hutu to unite, and claiming that due to this unity, they would overcome. Rwamakuba was accompanied by the then Minister of Information, Pascal Ndengejeho. The vehicle was going slowly, ensuring that people could hear what was being said including GIQ who was standing close to where the vehicle passed.<sup>144</sup> Witness ALA testified that he saw Rwamakuba in the third week of October 1993, on or about 22

<sup>141</sup> T. 16 June 2005, p. 19.

<sup>143</sup> T. 15 June 2005, pp. 30-31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>134</sup> The witness explained that he knew Anastase GASANA from when he was still a Professor at Nyakinama University. The witness was a friend of GASANA's borther and therefore used to visit them (T. 14 June 2005, p. 46). <sup>135</sup> T. 14 June 2005, p. 46. 2005, p. 75.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>136</sup> T. 14 June 2005, p. 75.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>137</sup> T. 16 June 2005, p. 31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>138</sup> T. 16 June 2005, p. 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>139</sup> T. 16 June 2005, pp. 9-10 and 30-31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>140</sup> T. 20 June 2005, p. 55.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>142</sup> T. 15 June 2005, pp. 30-32. According to the witness, the following persons were also in the bar: Callixte Kabarira, Sebahinzi, Joseph Ayirwanda and his son Frédéric Turatsinze. Emmanuel Rubagumya, Callixte Kabarira, and Sebahinzi are in prison in Remera. Ayirwanda and Frédéric Turatsinze are both dead.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>144</sup> T. 15 June 2005, pp. 31 and 59.

Judgement

October 1993, in a vehicle passing by in Kayanga.<sup>145</sup> He was speaking to Mathias Rubanguka and Gérard Gakuba from his car.<sup>146</sup> Later, Rubanguka informed the witness that Rwamakuba was recruiting members for the "MDR power", and was looking for people whom he could trust to assist him with additional recruitment.

### (2) Assessment of the Evidence

60. In the Chamber's view, the Prosecution witnesses' testimonies on the alleged sensitization campaigns led by the Accused in Gikomero are not consistent with certain allegations in the Indictment (2.1.). Furthermore, the Prosecution evidence is tainted by internal contradictions (2.2.) and directly contradicted by the defence alibi evidence (2.3.).

#### (2.1.) Lack of Consistency between the Indictment and the Prosecution Evidence

61. Testimony was given on eleven instances between 1992 and March 1994 during which André Rwamakuba allegedly came to Gikomero *commune*. It has not been shown that towards the end of 1993 and in early January 1994, the Accused went to Gikomero *commune* "practically every week-end", as alleged in paragraph 3 of the Indictment. None of the witnesses testified about meetings held in Gikomero, Rutunga, Gasabo and Gicaca *secteurs*, or in the adjoining *communes* of Rutungo, Rubungo and Kanombe, although one Prosecution witness testified that he saw Rwamakuba passing by in a vehicle in Rutunga and Gasabo *secteurs* at the beginning of 1994.<sup>147</sup> The Prosecution, therefore, failed to prove that during meetings in these *secteurs* and *communes*, the Accused instigated participants to "combat" and exterminate the Tutsi, as alleged in paragraph 5 of the Indictment.

#### (2.2.) Reliability Issues

62. The identification of the Accused raises a number of concerns. Witnesses GIT and GLM, who are brothers, are the sole witnesses claiming to know André Rwamakuba personally. They said they were neighbours of Rwamakuba's parents, and have known him for a long time. Neither of them, however, could give a satisfactory description of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>145</sup> T. 14 June 2005, pp. 48 and 70.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>146</sup> T. 14 June 2005, p. 71.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>147</sup> Witness GIQ did not hear or see André Rwamakuba say anything and did not see him do anything (T. 15 June 2005, p. 32).

Rwamakuba nor much detail concerning how they came to know him.<sup>148</sup> It is interesting to note that Witness GIT claimed not to know whether his brother was testifying in this case, although they live near one another and both testified in this case within a short space of time.<sup>149</sup>

63. Both GAB and GAC testified that they saw André Rwamakuba for the first time at the stone-laying ceremony of a primary school in Rutunga, in the company of the then Minister of Primary and Secondary School, Faustin Munyanzesa.<sup>150</sup> GAB could not specify the exact date of this ceremony, except that it was before 1994, but GAC placed the event in 1992. Neither witness had any prior knowledge of Rwamakuba. The latter was pointed out to GAC by a young man who used to live in Rutunga.<sup>151</sup> He was also told that Rwamakuba was working in the Ministry of Health. GAB stated that the Accused was introduced to the assembly as "the doctor André Rwamakuba, a native of Gikomero *commune*."<sup>152</sup> It is noteworthy that GAB was only fifteen years old at that time and was not able to provide any details about the event. In contrast to Witness GAB's testimony, GAC did not specify that Rwamakuba was introduced during the alleged rally held in 1993 at Kayanga Primary School.

64. The lack of consistency between the Indictment and the testimonies adduced on this aspect of the case was compounded by witnesses who gave different and irreconcilable versions of the facts. Witnesses GAC, GAB, GIQ, GLM and GIT testified about various rallies held in Gikomero *commune*. The Prosecution seemed to present these as separate rallies held on different occasions.<sup>153</sup> It is however uncertain as to whether the witnesses testified to the same rallies or to different ones. Different dates were given for a meeting at Kayanga Primary School, which the same authorities were alleged to have attended and at which similar speeches were given. In his testimony, Witness GAC could not specify the year of the Kayanga School meeting, but in a previous signed statement, had attested that it took

<sup>150</sup> T. 4 July 2005, p. 35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>148</sup> Prosecution Witness GIT described André Rwamakuba as follows: "Someone who was of average size. Now, as for his complexion, his skin was between light complexion and dark complexion, the light complexion being the more dominant. He was not a fat man, nor was he thin; between the two. [...] He was someone who was solid in build, and he was neither too big nor too thin." (T. 23 June 2005, p. 53).

Prosecution Witness GLM described Rwamakuba as follows: "a man of average size, his complexion was neither dark nor light, medium. He seemed to have a tendency to have chubby cheeks and very little hair." "He was a well built man and I would say that he wasn't thin." "His voice was deep and somewhat rough." (T. 20 June 2005, p. 4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>149</sup> T. 22 June 2005, p. 20; T. 24 June 2005, pp. 12 and 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>151</sup> T. 4 July 2005, p. 37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>152</sup> T. 5 July 2005, p. 43.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>153</sup> Prosecution Closing Arguments, paras. 33-48.

place at the end of 1993.<sup>154</sup> Witness GAB testified to the presence of Rwamakuba at a Kayanga meeting in 1993, and although Witness GIQ acknowledged the existence of a meeting in 1993 in Kayanga he specified that Rwamakuba was not in attendance.<sup>155</sup>

65. The Chamber recalls that the evidence of GIT and GLM is indirect and mostly hearsay in many respects. The source of Witness GIT's information casts doubt upon the reliability of his testimony. According to this witness, his informer was respectable and honest, but Witness GLM asserted that a man with the same name as GIT's informer was partial, biased and disrespectful towards others.<sup>156</sup>

66. Some major aspects of GLM's testimony are also vague and inconsistent. When the Prosecution asked who GLM thought had called for the extermination of Tutsi, the witness replied that the person usually there to speak about MDR Power was André Rwamakuba.<sup>157</sup> He also recalled the Nduba secteur rally as having been held on a Sunday, whereas later, he stated that he was told that it was on a Sunday.<sup>158</sup> Similarly, he first said that he saw André Rwamakuba holding the megaphone and calling on people to come and attend the Nduba rally.<sup>159</sup> but during cross-examination, stated instead that Rwamakuba was driving the car and that the person sitting beside him was speaking through the megaphone.<sup>160</sup> The witness placed the event at Birasa's bar in February 1994,<sup>161</sup> then at the end of the year in 1993, only to later reaffirm that it was in February 1994.<sup>162</sup> This important event at Birasa's bar, where Witness GLM allegedly heard Rwamakuba calling for the extermination of Tutsi, was mentioned for the first time in court. Also mentioned for the first time in court was Rwamakuba's alleged discussion about the split in MDR-Hutu Power. GLM claimed that he had already mentioned these details to the Prosecution, but that the first investigators recorded only a summary and the subsequent team of investigators made many mistakes in the document and did not return to him to enable the necessary corrections to be made.<sup>163</sup> The Chamber however notes that on 11 February 1998, GLM signed a statement describing Rwamakuba's political and anti-Tusti

<sup>159</sup> T. 16 June 2005, p. 11.

<sup>161</sup> T. 16 June 2005, p. 31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>154</sup> Exh. D. 34 A and B (under seal). In the same statement, he declared that the meeting took place at the Kayanga *secteur* office and that he could no longer remember what André Rwamakuba said on that occasion. On the contrary, the witness testified in court that the meeting took place in the courtyard of the Kayanga School. He further stated the alleged speech made by Rwamakuba on that occasion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>155</sup> T. 15 June 2005, p. 58.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>156</sup> T. 20 June 2005, p. 2 and Exh. P. 32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>157</sup> T. 16 June 2005, p. 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>158</sup> T. 20 June 2005, p. 57.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>160</sup> T. 20 June 2005, p. 57.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>162</sup> T. 16 June 2005, pp. 17, 22, 30 and 31; T. 20 June 2005, pp. 53-55; T. 21 June 2005, p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>163</sup> T. 20 June 2005, pp. 55-56; T. 21 June 2005, pp. 2-3.

activities which mentioned Birasa as one of the extremists with whom Rwamakuba used to work.<sup>164</sup>

67. The testimony of these witnesses is also contradicted by other Prosecution witnesses' testimonies. Witness ALA described an incident where André Rwamakuba travelled with Anastase Gasana and called for the extermination of the Tutsi in Gasana's presence. GAC alleged that at the Kayanga Primary School meeting, Faustin Twagiramungu "taught to kill the Tutsi". Witnesses GIT, GIQ and Prosecution Expert Witness Alison Des Forges, however, testified that Anastase Gasana and Faustin Twagiramungu were all moderate MDR politicians.<sup>165</sup> Witness GIQ stated that he would have been surprised to see Rwamakuba and Gasana together.<sup>166</sup> GAC's placing of Jean de Dieu Kamuhanda at the MDR meeting in Kayanga was also contradicted by evidence that Kamuhanda was an MRND politician.<sup>167</sup>

GLM's testimony concerning a meeting in Nduba secteur around October 1993, 68. "about two months after" the creation of the MDR-Power wing<sup>168</sup> is also inconsistent with the Prosecution expert witness' evidence. She described the process of division within the MDR as starting from February 1993 (when the Rwandan Patriotic Front ("RPF") violated the ceasefire and launched a massive military advance across the northern part of Rwanda causing the displacement of hundreds of thousands of people) until 23 July 1993 when Twagiramungu was expelled from the MDR party because he wished, inter alia, to maintain the party's collaboration with the RPF.<sup>169</sup> Twagiramungu's expulsion was confirmed by Defence Witness Jean-Marie Nkezebera, a former member of the MDR's political bureau and vice-president of the party in the Kigali area. Therefore, GLM's assertion that Twagiramungu attended an MDR-Power meeting around October 1993 appears inherently unlikely. In addition, the expert witness stated that, after the October 1993 assassination of the Burundian President the first freely and fairly elected Hutu President - by Tutsi soldiers, Froduald Karamira introduced the concept of Hutu Power at a massive political rally at the Amohoro stadium in Kigali.<sup>170</sup> Although the expert witness was told that there was a meeting in Gitarama in September 1993 where the term "Hutu power" was used, she agreed that the term originated at the rally in October 1993. This testimony conflicts with GAC's testimony, who instead

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>164</sup> Exh. D. 19 A and B (under seal).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>165</sup> GIT testified that when the MDR party came into conflict, Gasana joined the moderate wing (T. 21 June 2005, p. 67); T. 15 June 2005, pp. 54-55.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>166</sup> T. 15 June 2005, p. 56.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>167</sup> See Defence Witness 1/5, T. 13 December 2005, p. 28. This was not disputed by the Prosecution.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>168</sup> T. 16 June 2005, p. 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>169</sup> T. 14 July 2005, pp. 15-16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>170</sup> T. 14 July 2005, p. 17.

testified to the use of the term or slogan "power" at rallies in 1992 and in the earlier parts of 1993.

69. These inconsistencies cannot be justified by the time elapsed, translation discrepancies, or the manner in which the statements were taken. They become still more significant when viewed against the alibi evidence adduced by the Defence.

### (2.3.) Alibi

70. The Defence alleges that André Rwamakuba could not have participated in the alleged public instigations in Gikomero between September 1993 and March 1994 because he was not in Rwanda for most of that time.<sup>171</sup> Evidence was adduced that between 23 September 1993 and 10 March 1994, the Accused was studying at the Prince Leopold Institute in Antwerp, Belgium, and that between 17 and 29 March 1994, he attended a World Health Organization (WHO) Conference in Aswan, Egypt. The Defence put the Prosecution on notice of the Belgian alibi at a preliminary hearing held in 2000.<sup>172</sup> In addition, the Defence served notice of the alibi to the Prosecution at the outset of trial and disclosed the names and addresses of witnesses and other evidence which it intended to rely upon in the presentation of this defence.<sup>173</sup>

71. To support the alibi, the Defence called six witnesses who mostly relied on their own diaries or personal documents to recollect the exact dates when they met André Rwamakuba during the time in question.<sup>174</sup> The Prosecution did not dispute and the Chamber accepts that the Accused was trained as a medical doctor, studying medicine in Belgium between 1970 and 1974 and then at Butare University between 1975 and 1978,<sup>175</sup> and had a career as a public health specialist, being appointed Director of the Kigali Health Region in 1992.<sup>176</sup>

72. Defence Witnesses Henri Van Balen and Pierre Mercenier are co-founders of the Prince Leopold Institute (Institute of Tropical Medicine) in Antwerp, Belgium.<sup>177</sup> Both of them have had long medical careers working with both Belgian authorities and international

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>171</sup> Defence Closing Brief, p. 230 and seq.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup> Prosecutor v. André Rwamakuba, Case No. ICTR-98-44-I, T. 7 November 2000.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>173</sup> See Confidential Alibi Notice, filed on 8 June 2005, Corrigendum to Confidential Alibi Notice, filed on 14 June 2005 and Further Alibi Details, filed on 21 June 2005.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>174</sup> Defence Witness Edith Van Wynsberghe, Pierre Mercenier, Henri Van Balen, François Monet, 1/1 and 3/A. Due to the particularly close relationship between the Accused and Witness 3/A and the age of the witness at the time of the event, the Chamber is of the view that it will be more appropriate to set aside this evidence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>175</sup> Curriculum vitae of André Rwamakuba (Exh. D. 184) and Prosecution Closing Brief at para. 6, footnote 3: "The Prosecutor does not dispute the periods and the studies undertaken by the Accused."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>176</sup> Exh. D. 184; Prosecution Closing Brief, para. 6 and Defence Closing Brief, pp. 2-5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>177</sup> T. 14 December 2005, p. 2.

organizations such as the World Health Organization.<sup>178</sup> In 1993-1994, they were both professors of public health at the Antwerp Institute of Tropical Medicine. Relying on various documents,<sup>179</sup> both testified that André Rwamakuba participated in a training course at the Institute in Belgium between 27 September 1993 and March 1994. According to Professor Mercenier's attestation, the training course ended on 9 March 1994.<sup>180</sup> The report drafted by Rwamakuba and the attestation signed by Professor Van Balen, however, mentioned the end date of the course as 27 March 1994.<sup>181</sup> The explanation given for the discrepancy in this date was that since the training report submitted by Rwamakuba was made to the Belgian Technical Cooperation for scholarship purposes and had to cover a six months period, it did not correspond with the exact end date of the course.<sup>182</sup> Professor Van Balen explained further that in May 1995, Rwamakuba, who was in Namibia at the time, wrote him a letter requesting certification of his training in Antwerp. In his letter, Rwamakuba explained that he was looking for work in Namibia and had had to leave Rwanda where he abandoned all of his documents. Since Professor Mercenier was already retired when Henri Van Balen received the letter, the latter drafted the certificate on the basis of Rwamakuba's training report. The witness stated that as he had personal knowledge that Rwamakuba had completed the sixmonth scholarship, he therefore did not pay attention to the exact dates.

73. Professors Van Balen and Pierre Mercenier could not categorically attest to André Rwamakuba's presence every day in Belgium during the period of his training,<sup>183</sup> but they specified that it was a full-time course and that he would have had to stay in Belgium for its duration. Professor Mercenier testified that initially he would have seen Rwamakuba about once per week and later on, about once a fortnight. Both Professors also saw him from time to time in passing in the corridors of the Institute.<sup>184</sup> They further testified to specific dates when meetings had been arranged with him, as recorded in their diaries. Henri Van Balen noted that his diary mentions a meeting with Rwamakuba on 13 October 1993 to discuss a colloquium,<sup>185</sup> and Pierre Mercenier stated that he met Rwamakuba on 21 February 1994 in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>178</sup> Ibidem,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup> Both witnesses relied upon their own diaries. Professor Van Balen produced the following documents: Training report drafted by André Rwamakuba, attestation signed by Professor Van Balen in May 1995, letter drafted by the Secretary of the Institute dated 28 January 1993, attestation by Professor Mercenier, letter drafted by the Secretary of the Institute dated 25 February 1994 (Exh. D. 186).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>180</sup> Exh. D. 186(B).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>181</sup> Exh. D. 186 (A and D); T. 6 December 2005, pp. 34-35 and 42-43.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>182</sup> T. 6 December 2005, p. 43; T. 14 December 2005, pp. 8, 15 and 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>183</sup> T. 6 December 2005, pp. 35, 42 and 44; T. 14 December 2005, p.15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>184</sup> T. 14 December 2005, pp. 4 -12 (Witness Van Balen) and T. 6 December 2005, p. 43 (Witness Mercenier).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>185</sup> T. 14 December 2005, p. 4.

Belgium to discuss the end of the training and his prospective mission to Rwanda in April 1994.<sup>186</sup>

74. Doctor Francis Monet is a doctor specialized in tropical medicine who was working for the Belgian Technical Cooperation in Rwanda from 1990 to 1994.<sup>187</sup> He came to know André Rwamakuba when the latter was appointed as the Director of the Kigali Health Region in 1992. They used to meet on a daily basis when they were both in Rwanda.<sup>188</sup> Doctor Monet confirmed that he was present at the airport when Rwamakuba left Rwanda on 23 September 1993, between 6.30 and 7 a.m., for Belgium. The witness relied on his diary,<sup>189</sup> but could also recall that event because, on that occasion, he had been somewhat upset that Rwamakuba had arrived very late to the airport for his flight. He also testified that he was at the airport for Rwamakuba's return to Rwanda on the morning of 10 March 1994. According to the witness, Rwamakuba did not return to Rwanda between 23 September 1993 and 10 March 1994. While the witness did not recall receiving any news from the Accused during that period, he submitted that it was practically impossible for Rwamakuba to return to Rwanda without him knowing about it. Even if Rwamakuba had not contacted him directly, he was still certain that others would have told him of his return.<sup>190</sup>

75. Defence witness Edith Van Wynsberghe met André Rwamakuba during his medical studies in Belgium in 1973. She stated that she saw him approximately ten times while he was attending the training course at the Tropical Institute of Antwerp in Belgium, between September 1993 and March 1994. Relying on various receipts,<sup>191</sup> the witness was able to recollect specific dates when she met Rwamakuba during that period. She saw him sometime between the end of November 1993 and the beginning of December 1993, when she went to Antwerp to order a sewing machine.<sup>192</sup> She later visited him for his birthday on 27 December 1993, at his house in Antwerp.<sup>193</sup> She could not confirm where Rwamakuba was between about 1 December 1993 and 27 December 1993.<sup>194</sup> Around 6 January 1994, the witness and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>186</sup> T. 6 December 2005, pp. 36 and 45.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>187</sup> T. 14 December 2005, p. 23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>188</sup> Witness Monet came to know André Rwamakuba in particular as a result of the latter's appointment in 1992 as Director of the Kigali Health Region. The witness stated that he met Rwamakuba on a daily basis (T. 14 December 2005, p. 24).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>189</sup> Exh. D. 187. Only one page of his diary was entered into evidence, the entire diary was offered for inspection by the Chamber.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>190</sup> T. 14 December 2005, pp. 26-27, 38-39, 48-49.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>191</sup> Exh. D. 182.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>192</sup> The receipt is dated 8 December 1993; the witness came to Antwerp a week or so before the delivery date.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>193</sup> T. 1 December 2005, p. 57.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>194</sup> T. 2 December 2005, p.3.

her daughter accompanied Rwamakuba to look for a used car in another town in Belgium.<sup>195</sup> On 2 March 1994, she took Rwamakuba to a pharmacy in Antwerp to buy medical supplies.<sup>196</sup> She also accompanied the Accused to the airport on 9 March 1994 when he left Belgium for Rwanda.<sup>197</sup>

76. Defence Witness 1/1, who is a close relative of André Rwamakuba, testified that he left Rwanda to pursue a program of study in Belgium between late September 1993 and March 1994.<sup>198</sup> Witness 1/1 confirmed that Rwamakuba never came back to Rwanda during that period. The witness further provided some correspondence received by Rwamakuba at an address in Belgium where Edith Vanwynsberghe testified having visited him for his birthday and Rwamakuba's diary from 1993 diary with references to his stay in Belgium.<sup>199</sup>

77. The Defence also adduced evidence concerning André Rwamakuba's presence in Egypt between 17 and 29 March 1994. Edith Van Wynsberghe saw Rwamakuba again on 18 March 1994, while he was in transit at the airport in Brussels.<sup>200</sup> Doctor Francis Monet testified that he met him in Kigali on the evening of his return from Egypt at the Regional Health Centre offices on 29 March 1994.<sup>201</sup> Professor Henri Van Balen testified that Rwamakuba was to attend an international conference organized by the WHO in Egypt upon completion of the course in Belgium. The secretary of the Institute told Professor Van Balen that she had made reservations for Rwamakuba to attend this conference, but that these were not final tickets. Finally, Witness 1/1 also testified that André Rwamakuba left Rwanda on 17 March 1994 and returned on 29 March 1994 from a seminar in Egypt.

78. Defence Witness Monet testified that between André Rwamakuba's return from Belgium and departure to Egypt, he saw him every day at the Regional Health Centre since they were working together. On 11 March 1994, they went together with a delegation of Belgian members of Parliament to Rutungo Hospital.<sup>202</sup> Witness 1/1 testified that during the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>195</sup> T. 1 December 2005, p. 57.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>196</sup> T. 1 December 2005, pp.57-58; Exh. D. 182.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>197</sup> The witness recollected this meeting by producing the customs documents concerning the medical supplies bought which were stamped and dated by the Belgian customs authorities; T. 1 December 2005, pp.60-61 and Exh. D. 182.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>198</sup> Witness 1/1 placed the return day of André Rwamakuba in Rwanda on 14 March 1994. Confronted with Rwamakuba's passport, the witness conceded that the date was given according to the witness' recollection; T. 14 December 2005, p. 58; T. 15 December, pp. 25, 32-35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>199</sup> Exh. D. 190 and D. 193.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>200</sup> T. 1 December 2005, pp.60-61. The witness assisted André Rwamakuba in buying a mobile phone and a fax. She relied on a receipt dated 18 March 1994 (Exh. D. 182).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>201</sup> T. 14 December 2005, pp. 28-29. The witness referred to his diary which also had an entry on 17 March 1994 stating the day André Rwamakuba left for Egypt.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>202</sup> T. 14 December 2005, p. 27

same period, Rwamakuba visited his parents once in Gikomero to console them over the death of a relative who died in February.<sup>203</sup>

79. The Defence tendered into evidence the Rwandan passport of André Rwamakuba, which was in the custody of the UNDF and provided to the parties for inspection.<sup>204</sup> This passport was issued in Kigali in August 1993, with a visa for studies (as intern) issued by the Belgian Embassy on 2 September 1993, an entry stamp dated 23 September 1993 for Belgium and an exit stamp dated 9 March 1994 from Belgium, a single-entry visa for Egypt issued on 17 March 1994, entry and exit stamps for Egypt, a transit stamp for Kenya dated 28 March 1994, and an exit stamp from Kenya dated 29 March 1994.<sup>205</sup>

80. The Chamber finds these Defence witnesses individually credible and reliable. Henri Van Balen, Pierre Mercenier and François Monet were professors and colleagues of André Rwamakuba and nothing has emerged to indicate that they would have any particular interest in protecting him by providing false testimony. Their evidence is supported by various documents admitted into exhibit. Edith Van Wynsberghe, although closer to the Accused, also gave a fair and probable account of the facts, which was based on her analysis of the specific documents she had in her possession and which were tendered into exhibit. None of these documents admitted into evidence were rebutted by the Prosecution. The Chamber took particular care with the evidence of Defence Witness 1/1, as a close relative of the Accused; it is nonetheless satisfied that she was also reliable.

81. The Chamber accepts the explanation given by Professors Van Balen and Mercenier concerning the inconsistency between the dates of André Rwamakuba's attendance at the training program in Belgium on the certificates and in the report. It is noteworthy that the Accused requested Van Balen's confirmation of his attendance at the training program before his arrest by the Namibian authorities in 1995.<sup>206</sup>

82. The Chamber also notes that the Prosecution failed to rebut the alibi evidence. It acknowledged that the Accused was in Belgium between September 1993 and March 1994, but submitted that he must have come back to Rwanda at the times the witnesses testified to having seen him. The Prosecution was aware of the defence alibi a long time before the beginning of the trial and was therefore in a position to conduct a proper investigation,<sup>207</sup> it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>203</sup> T. 15 December 2005, pp. 3, 24-25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>204</sup> T. 22 August 2005, pp. 12-13; T. 24 August 2005, p. 68; T. 7 September 2005, pp. 4-5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>205</sup> Exh. D. 151.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>206</sup> The Accused was arrested on 2 August 1995.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>207</sup> Prosecutor v. André Rwamakuba, Case No. ICTR-98-44-I, T. 7 November 2000.

Judgement

did, however, not adduce any evidence to support its theory, nor did it explain the fact that there were no records of these alleged trips in Rwamakuba's passport which was in the UNDF's possession.<sup>208</sup> The Prosecution did rely upon a copy of a page from another Rwandan passport belonging to Rwamakuba, containing a picture of the Accused and a description of his identity,<sup>209</sup> but it was not able to tender other pages failing to possess the entire document and was not able to provide any other information concerning its source.<sup>210</sup>

83. In the Chamber's view, the proffered alibi concerning André Rwamakuba's absence from Rwanda between 23 September 1993 and 29 March 2004 is sufficient to cast reasonable doubt upon the allegations regarding the Accused's participation in public meetings and gatherings during that period in Gikomero *commune*. The Chamber notes that paragraph 5 of the Indictment could be interpreted as alleging the participation of the Accused in sensitization meetings beyond 29 March 2004, extending through June 1994. This possible contention was not clarified, nor supported by the Prosecution evidence. Witnesses ALA, GAB, GAC, GIQ, GIT and GLM testified to meetings held only until March 1994, and not beyond. Other Prosecution witnesses testified to the Accused's participation in specific attacks against Tutsi in April 1994 during which he congratulated militiamen,<sup>211</sup> but their testimonies did not include any statements made by the Accused at various meetings or that he participated in any specific gatherings. This lack of clarity of the charges in the Indictment and the Prosecution's evidence cannot, for reasons of fairness, be interpreted to the disadvantage of the Accused.

84. In light of the earlier conclusions regarding inconsistencies in the Prosecution evidence and the unreliability of the Prosecution witnesses and considering the proffered alibi, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution has failed to prove, beyond reasonable doubt, the allegations set forth in paragraphs 3 to 5 of the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>208</sup> Exh. D. 151.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>209</sup> Exh. P. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>210</sup> Exh. P. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>211</sup> See below: evidence on the alleged murder of three Tutsi near the Gikomero office *secteur* and on the massacre at the Kayanga Health Centre.

## II.1.2. Alleged Delivery of Machetes by André Rwamakuba in Gikomero Commune in April 1994

85. The Prosecution alleges at paragraph 11 of the Indictment that

Between 10 and 20 April 1994, André RWAMAKUBA delivered bags of machetes to the home of André Muhire, near Ndatemwa trading center in Gasabo secteur, in his home commune of Gikomero, Kigali-rural préfecture. On that occasion, between 10 and 11 April, André **RWAMAKUBA** held a meeting with several influential local members of MDR "Hutu Power" political party, including the persons known as Joas Habimana, Chairman of MDR "Power" in Rutunga secteur, Ndamage and André Muhire. Several days later, about 13 April, André Muhire distributed the machetes to local residents, who then used them to attack and massacre the Tutsi population. Following such attacks, many Tutsi were killed, including residents of Ndatemwa Centre, namely the wife of a man called Gakumba and her son, Kambanda, and the persons known as Kanuma, Rwihimba, Kankidi, Rutembya, Rutembesa, and many unidentified refugees from Rutongo, Nkuzuzu and Rutanga secteurs. Again, between 10 and 11 April 2004, André **RWAMAKUBA** delivered bags of machetes to the home of Etienne Kamanzi, the director of the Kayanga Health Center. The Accused knew, or had reasons to know, that the machetes would be used in attacks against the Tutsi in those areas, thereby aiding and abetting the killing campaign against the Tutsi population.

The Chamber will address first the delivery of machetes to André Muhire's home 86. (II.1.2.1.) and then the one to Etienne Kamanzi's home (II.1.2.2.).

# II.1.2.1. Alleged Delivery of Machetes to André Muhire and Subsequent Massacres of Tutsi at Ndatemwa Trading Centre

87. Despite the large time-frame pleaded at the beginning of paragraph 11 of the Indictment, "between 10 and 20 April 1994", the subsequent sentence of this paragraph specifies that the Accused delivered bags of machetes to the home of André Muhire "between 10 and 11 April"<sup>212</sup> and that the machetes were distributed "several days later, about 13 April". As confirmed in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, Opening Statement and Closing Arguments, there is no doubt that it was the Prosecution's case that this event took place "between 10 and 11 April 1994".<sup>213</sup> The Chamber will therefore take into consideration this more specific time-frame when dealing with the assessment of the evidence.

## (1) Evidence Adduced

88. Ndatemwa Trading Centre is located in the Gasabo secteur of the Gikomero commune, approximately 36 kilometres from Kigali town,<sup>214</sup> where André Rwamakuba was living at the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>212</sup> Emphasis added.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>213</sup> Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, para. 19; Opening Statement, T. 9 June 2005, p. 8; Prosecution Closing Brief,

paras. 50-52. <sup>214</sup> See Exh. P. 2: distance between Kigali/Remera and Gikomero *secteur* office is 25 kilometres; the distance between this office and Ndatemwa Centre is 11 kilometres.

time of the allegations in the Indictment. Both Prosecution and Defence witnesses testified that between 9 and 11 April 1994, two Tutsi named Rutembya and Rutembesa, were beaten up at that Centre and then taken to Kayanga Health Centre where they were subsequently killed.<sup>215</sup> These witnesses also testified that an attack was led against the Tutsi population at Ndatemwa Trading Centre on 13 April 1994.<sup>216</sup> The detailed recollection of this event differs between Prosecution and Defence witnesses.

89. Prosecution Witness GII stated that, between 10 and 11 April 1994 in the afternoon, while he was standing on the road a few meters from Muhire's house in Ndatemwa Trading Centre, he saw five bags unloaded from the boot of a white car and taken into Muhire's house. André Rwamakuba had already come out of the car. Prosecution Witnesses AVD and AVC affirmed that they saw a car with a similar description arriving at Ndatemwa Centre.<sup>217</sup> although they placed this event on a different date than Witness GII: AVD asserted that this event occurred on 12 April 1994 in the afternoon; <sup>218</sup> AVC stated first that he saw the car between 10 and 13 April 1994, and during cross-examination he said that it could have been on 12 April 1994.<sup>219</sup> Witness AVD saw three bags being unloaded from the boot of the car and taken into Muhire's house. AVC testified that the vehicle stayed at Muhire's home for less than an hour,<sup>220</sup> but GII and AVD indicated that Rwamakuba remained at Muhire's house for approximately one to two hours in the company of other persons.<sup>221</sup> According to Witness GII, Joas Habimana, Ndamage and other people were also in Muhire's house; and Witness AVD placed Ndoli and Murangira at the house. Witness AVC was also told that Rwamakuba went to Muhire's house on that occasion with an Interahamwe named Ephrem.<sup>222</sup> The Prosecution Witnesses asserted that machetes were distributed by Muhire to young people from Rutungo and Gasabo secteurs<sup>223</sup> during the night of 12 April or the morning of 13 April

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>215</sup> Prosecution Witness AVC testified that Rutembya and Rutembesa were beaten up on 9 or 11 April 1994 (T. 27 June 2005, pp. 33-35); Prosecution Witness AVD said that this event took place during the same week of Habyarimana's death but before André Rwamakuba's arrival at the Ndatemwa Trading Centre (T. 28 June 2005, pp. 5-6); Prosecution Witness GII testified that this event took place on or about 11 April 1994 (T. 23 June 2005, pp. 43-44). According to Defence Witnesse 9/20, Rutembya and Rutembesa were beaten up on 11 April 1994 (T. 7 November 2005, p. 22); and Defence Witness 4/16 said that it happened between 11 and 12 April 1994 (T. 19 January 2006, p. 57).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>216</sup> Defence Closing Brief, p. 83.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>217</sup> T. 28 June 2005, pp. 19 and 39; T. 27 June 2006, p. 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>218</sup> Witness AVD testified that the event took place "four or five days after Habyarimana's death". Responding to the Defence Counsel, the witness said that Rwamakuba arrived on 12 April 1994 in the afternoon (T. 28 June 2006, pp. 7 and 31).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>219</sup> T. 27 June 2006, pp. 12 and 35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>220</sup> The witness stated that the vehicle stayed for approximately 10 to 15 minutes (T. 27 June 2005, p. 54).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>221</sup> T. 28 June 2005, p. 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>222</sup> T. 27 June 2005, pp. 12-13 and 54.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>223</sup> AVD specified that they were young *Interahamwe*, Hutus.

1994.<sup>224</sup> Witness AVD further stated that Muhire was assisted by Ndoli and Murangira on that occasion. The Prosecution witnesses testified that after that distribution, houses of Tutsi were attacked and destroyed. According to Witness GII, Tutsi from the commune but also Tutsi refugees from Rubungo and Kanombe were killed.

90. Defence Witnesses 9/20 and 4/16 gave very different accounts of the events at Ndatemwa Trading Centre. They stated that the events took place on13 April 1994 and, on that day, Ephrem Nyirigera, accompanied by three communal policemen, about fifteen *Interahamwe* from Ruhengeri as well as refugees from Gitega and members of the local population, looted houses belonging to Tutsi and threatened the people with machetes and clubs.<sup>225</sup> That attack was stopped by the intervention of the *Conseiller* from Gasabo *secteur*, named Ntamuhanga, who was assisted by soldiers. The Defence witnesses asserted that no killings occurred in Ndatemwa<sup>226</sup> or Gasabo *secteur*,<sup>227</sup> except for the two brothers, named Rutembesa and Rutembya, who were beaten on or about 11 April 1994 and then subsequently killed at Kayanga Health Centre.<sup>228</sup> They also asserted that André Rwamakuba never came to Ndatemwa during that period.

### (2) Assessment of the Evidence

91. The Chamber notes that the testimonies of the Prosecution witnesses are not consistent with the allegations against the Accused (3.1.). In addition, they are generally unreliable, especially when considering the evidence adduced to support the Accused's alibi (3.2.).

#### (2.1.) Lack of Consistency between the Indictment and the Prosecution Evidence

92. Witnesses AVC's and AVD's testimonies that Rwamakuba delivered machetes to Muhire's home on 12 April 1994 are inconsistent with the allegation that this event took place between 10 and 11 April 1994.<sup>229</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>224</sup> AVC testified that the machetes were distributed after Rwamakuba's departure, in the night of 12 April 1994; GII stated that the machetes were distributed on 13 April 1994, around 9.40 am; AVD situated the distribution on the "morning of the third day" after the beating up of two people at the Centre (T. 28 June 2006, p. 30).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>225</sup> T. 7 November 2005, pp. 24-25 (Witness 9/20); T. 19 January 2006, pp. 57-58 (Witness 4/16).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>226</sup> Witness 9/20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>227</sup> Witness 4/16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>228</sup> T. 7 November 2005, pp. 22-24 (Witness 9/20); T. 19 January 2006, pp. 57-58 (Witness 4/16).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>229</sup> Indictment, para. 11; Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, para. 19; Opening Statement, T. 9 June 2005, p. 8; Prosecution Closing Brief, paras. 50-52.

93. Witnesses GII, AVC and AVD also testified that two Tutsi named Rutembya and Rutembesa were *beaten up* on 9 or 11 April 1994 at the Ndatemwa Centre, *before* the alleged delivery of machetes at Muhire's house, and were killed later at the Kayanga Health Centre. This evidence, corroborated by testimony from Defence witnesses,<sup>230</sup> is inconsistent with the allegation that Rutembya and Rutembesa were killed as a result of attacks against some Tutsi after the delivery of machetes by Rwamakuba at Ndatemwa Trading Centre.

### (2.2.) Reliability Issues

94. The identification of André Rwamakuba at the time of the alleged machetes delivery to Muhire's home is unreliable. AVC and AVD had no prior knowledge of him when he allegedly arrived at Ndatemwa Trading Centre. Their identification of the Accused is based on untested hearsay evidence. Witness AVC who was hiding in a clump of bushes and could not see the people in the car, was told by two men that the person who had arrived in the car was Rwamakuba.<sup>231</sup> AVD testified that he could not see the people in the car due to the crowd surrounding it. In court, AVC and AVD were not able to offer any physical description of the person they claim to be Rwamakuba.

95. GII is the sole Prosecution witness who claimed to have prior knowledge of André Rwamakuba. GII allegedly saw Rwamakuba when the latter came to attend a meeting at Muhire's house, on 4 or 5 April 1994, with the President of MDR-Power in Rutunga *secteur*, Joas Habimana, and the MDR-Power representative at Gasabo, Ndamage. On that occasion, people told GII that it was Rwamakuba who had come to attend this meeting. GII claimed that a few days later, when Rwamakuba came to deliver machetes at Muhire's place, he recognized him as the man who was identified to him on 4 or 5 April 1994.

96. The Chamber notes that GII identified André Rwamakuba from information given to him by unknown and unidentified people. The witness described him in very general terms<sup>232</sup> and was only able to specify that he wore spectacles. The Defence, however, challenged that Rwamakuba wore spectacles at that time and tendered into evidence a letter from the UNDF Commanding Officer stating that the Accused had "no spectacle in his possession upon his

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>230</sup> See: Witness 9/20 and 4/16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>231</sup> T. 27 June 2005, pp. 44, 50 and 54. According to AVC, one of these men had also just met André Rwamakuba. He is dead now and the second man who identified him as Rwamakuba to AVC is in exile but the witness does not know whether he is still alive.
<sup>232</sup> The witness said: "His skin is not too dark. He's not very big, but he's quite robust, quite solid, average size,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>232</sup> The witness said: "His skin is not too dark. He's not very big, but he's quite robust, quite solid, average size, average height, neither too tall nor too short; he was wearing a jacket and also spectacles."

20 September 2006

transfer to the UNDF". <sup>233</sup> In addition, Defence witnesses who had personal knowledge of Rwamakuba, testified that he never wore glasses.<sup>234</sup>

97. Alibi evidence from the Defence strengthens the doubt on GII's reliability to identify André Rwamakuba. According to Defence Witness François Monet, Rwamakuba spent the day of 5 April 1994 from 7.30 a.m. to 5.30 p.m. with himself and Pierre Mercenier.<sup>235</sup> Not only did he rely on his diary entries to confirm this date,<sup>236</sup> but the witness also asserted that he remembered very well Rwamakuba's presence on that day since the latter had been leading the delegation when they met with the Director General of Health. Although Pierre Mercenier could not actually remember whether the Accused was present on 5 April 1994, he claimed that he would have been surprised if he had not met him on that day. The other possible date given by Witness GII as having met Rwamakuba was 4 April 1994. That day was Easter Monday, and testimony was given that Rwamakuba spent the day with his family in Kigali.<sup>237</sup> Considering GII's untested indirect evidence on Rwamakuba's identification and the reliability of the Defence witness' testimony, the Chamber finds that there is some reasonable doubt that GII would have seen Rwamakuba on 4 or 5 April 1994 when the Accused allegedly came to attend a meeting at Muhire's place. This doubt is supported by the Defence evidence on the road access to Gikomero in April 1994.

### (2.3.) Road Access to Gikomero

98. The Defence disputed that the Accused could have been present in Gikomero *commune* at the time of the alleged event. The parties agreed and the Chamber accepts that André Rwamakuba was sworn in as a Minister of the Interim Government on 9 April 1994, attended a governmental meeting held in Kigali at the *Hotel des Diplomates* on 11 April 1994,<sup>238</sup> and was living in Kigali until 12 April 1994 when he went to Gitarama with the convoy of the Interim Government.<sup>239</sup> The admission of these facts has a major impact on the Prosecution's theory since at the onset of this trial, the Defence challenged the accessibility from and to Gikomero *commune* due to geographical and military obstacles to road travel in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>233</sup> Exh. D. 215.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>234</sup> See: Edith Van Wynsberghe (T. 1 December 2005, p. 61); Witness 1/1 (T. 14 December 2005, p. 65); Witness 1/15 (T. 18 January 2006, p. 14) and Witness 9/1 (T. 29 November 2005, pp. 37 and 63-65).

 $<sup>^{235}</sup>$  They first met in the morning at the Kigali Regional Health headquarters. Then, the three of them also spent the afternoon together, including at meeting with the director general of public health in the Ministry, during which they discussed the project and the work they were planning to do in Rwanda.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>236</sup> Exh. D. 187.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>237</sup> Witness 1/1, T. 15 December 2005, pp. 35-36. The Prosecution Counsel did not dispute that the 4<sup>th</sup> April 1994 was Easter Monday.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>238</sup> These are facts not disputed by the parties. See Prosecution Closing Brief, para. 68; Defence Closing Brief.
 <sup>239</sup> *Ibidem*.

20 September 2006

April 1994. In its Closing Brief, the Prosecution submitted that the Defence did not show that it was impossible to move to Gikomero at that time.<sup>240</sup> It further contended that as a Minister, Rwamakuba could move more easily around the country than an ordinary citizen.<sup>241</sup> No evidence, however, was adduced in support of that submission. The Chamber recalls that, contrary to the Prosecution's assertion, the Accused is presumed innocent and does not have to prove anything. If the evidence adduced by the Defence raises reasonable doubt, the Prosecution has failed to establish the guilt of the Accused.

99. In the present case, the Prosecution decided not to call any witness to rebut the Defence allegation "but preferred to focus on the credibility and limited knowledge of Defence witnesses on this point".<sup>242</sup> It only called investigator Upendra Baghel who testified to a study he conducted in 2003, and who spoke of several routes between Kigali and Gikomero *commune*. According to his report, the average distance between Kigali and Ndatemwa Trading Centre is approximately 36 kilometres which would have taken one and a half hours to travel.<sup>243</sup> The Defence acknowledged that the routes and timing of journeys to Gikomero *commune* were reasonably reviewed in that document, "with the caveat that [the timings] were based on a journey in a good, four wheel drive vehicle, in the dry season, and in peace time".<sup>244</sup> The Prosecution investigator admitted that the routes were hilly and difficult, and that he had no knowledge of the conditions for travel in that area in 1994.<sup>245</sup> He also denied having knowledge of the positions occupied by the military between 8 and 30 April 1994. The weight of his evidence is therefore less than that of a witness who was present in the relevant area in 1994.

100. Defence witnesses, who were present in Gikomero or tried to get there in April 1994, testified that shortly after 7 April 1994, four main routes between Kigali and Gikomero *commune* were all effectively severed by military positions of the RPF.<sup>246</sup> According to Witness 9/20, it was impossible that André Rwamakuba came to Ndatemwa between 10 and 13 April 1994, because the people who lived there could not move about and were ordered to stay home.<sup>247</sup> The witness explained that the road from Kigali to Ndatemwa was impassable

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>240</sup> Prosecution Closing Brief, paras. 190-192.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>241</sup> Prosecution Closing Brief, para. 192.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>242</sup> Prosecution Closing Brief, para. 178.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>243</sup> Exh. P. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>244</sup> Defence Closing Brief, p. 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>245</sup> T. 13 June 2005, pp. 39-40.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>246</sup> See references below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>247</sup> T. 7 November 2005, p. 27.

20 September 2006

and that vehicles could only travel from Rutunga to Ndatemwa and could go no further.<sup>248</sup> The witness asserted that no Minister came to Gikomero in the days in leading up to 13 April 1994.<sup>249</sup> Defence Witness 6/10 stated that from 9 April 1994, roads, especially those from Rutongo, were not practicable because the RPF had already taken control of that area. He could not see how a vehicle would have left Kigali and come to the east.<sup>250</sup> Defence Witness 7/3 confirmed this evidence and stated that between President Habyarimana's death and 14 April 1994, it was not easy to travel from Gikomero to Kigali because the RPF had overrun strategic positions, especially on Gikomero hills.<sup>251</sup> According to Defence Witnesses 1/5, 3/13 and 3/4, several roads from Kigali leading up to Gikomero could not be used after 8 or 9 April 1994 because of the RPF's presence and ongoing fighting.<sup>252</sup> Defence Witness 3/22 also testified that it was not possible to get to and from Kigali after 12 April 1994 because there were soldiers on the roads.<sup>253</sup> He acknowledged that there were other secondary roads that might have been used to Gikomero, but those small roads were connected to the main road coming from Kigali, which was blocked.<sup>254</sup> His testimony was corroborated by Defence Witness 4/12 who lived close to the road. This witness asserted that, after 12 April 1994, he did not see any other vehicle apart from the four vehicles carrying soldiers who were going to fight the Inkotanvi.<sup>255</sup> He claimed that the road was not safe and Rwamakuba would not have risked his life to get from Kigali to Gikomero at that time.<sup>256</sup> Defence witness 2/18 stated that after 13 April 1994, no one could leave Kigali to get to Gikomero because Kigali and Remera were already captured.<sup>257</sup>

101. It was also a major part of the Defence case that André Rwamakuba's name was not mentioned during the *Gacaca* proceedings in relation to the events that took place in Gikomero *commune* in April 1994. This was supported by the evidence given by several

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>248</sup> T. 9 November 2005, p. 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>249</sup> T. 9 November 2005, p. 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>250</sup> T. 24 November 2005, p. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>251</sup> T. 19 January 2006, pp. 14-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>252</sup> The RPF was occupying Remera (road near the Kigali Stadium and Hotel Amahoro) and the "CND" (Parliament - road from German Radio Station *Deutsche Welle*) and the road that goes out towards Kanombe. See: Defence Witnesses 3/4 (T. 17 January 2006, p. 6-12); 3/13 (T. 24 January 2006, pp. 15, 30 and 32); 1/5 (T. 13 December 2005, pp. 24 and 38). Moreover, Defence Witness 2/18 said that after 13 April 1994, no one could leave Kigali to get to Gikomero because Kigali and Remera were captured at that time (T. 23 January 2006, p. 28), and Defence Witness 3/22 testified that Defence Witness 3/22 further testified that after 12 April 1994, it was no longer possible to get to and from Kigali because there were soldiers on the roads (T. 30 November 2005, p. 16).

p.16). <sup>253</sup> T. 30 November 2005, p.16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>254</sup> T. 30 November 2005, pp.29-31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>255</sup> T. 22 November 2005, pp. 22-23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>256</sup> T. 22 November 2005, pp. 22-23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>257</sup> T. 23 January 2006, p. 28.

Defence witnesses who lived in the area in 1994, or were participating in *Gacaca* proceedings in the *commune*. Defence Witnesses 3/1, 3/22, 3/11 and 4/16 asserted that they never saw or heard of a Minister coming to Gikomero in the days leading up to 13 April 1994.<sup>258</sup> Defence Witnesses 7/18 and 9/31 said that Rwamakuba never came to Gikomero after 6 April 1994.<sup>259</sup> Witnesses 1/5, 4/12, 6/10 and 7/18 asserted that they never heard that Rwamakuba played any role in the genocide.<sup>260</sup> Particularly, several Defence Witnesses also contended that they did not hear any mention of the Accused's name in the *Gacaca* hearings concerning the 1994 massacres in Gikomero.<sup>261</sup> Defence Witness 3/10, however, testified that, in September or October 2005 after the beginning of the present trial, two of the Prosecution Witnesses mentioned André Rwamakuba's name in the *Gacaca* hearings in the witness' cellule.<sup>262</sup>

102. The Chamber finds that these Defence witnesses generally gave a consistent and objective account of the facts sufficient to levy a reasonable doubt on the Prosecution's case. Witnesses 9/20 and 3/1 had no personal relationship with the Accused: they do not know him personally and admit that they would not recognize him.<sup>263</sup> They are both Tusti, whose family members were killed during the genocide in 1994.<sup>264</sup> One of them is a coordinator of a local *Gacaca* court in Rwanda. Witness 1/5 did not know André Rwamakuba very well.<sup>265</sup> It was not shown that these witnesses would have any particular interest to defend him. For instance, the Prosecution did not attempt to question Witness 3/4 concerning his knowledge of Rwamakuba or the existence of any relationship with him.<sup>266</sup> The Chamber notes that Defence Witnesses 3/10, 6/10 and 7/18 knew Rwamakuba's family very well and that Witnesses 4/16 and 7/3 have criminal records. Due to these individual circumstances, the Chamber has taken particular care in assessing their testimonies.<sup>267</sup> The evidence adduced from these witnesses

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>258</sup> T. 10 November 2005, p. 8 (Witness 3/1); T. 30 November 2005, p.17 (Witness 3/22); Witness 1/5 never heard of André Rwamakuba coming to Gikomero *commune* between 8 and 17 April 1994 (T. 12 December 2005, p. 26).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>259</sup> T. 1 December 2005, p. 33 (Witness 7/18). Defence Witness 9/31 stated that he never saw André Rwamakuba in Gikomero *secteur* during April 1994 (T. 1 February 2006, p. 8).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>260</sup> T. 12 December 2005, p. 26 (Witness 1/5); T. 24 November 2005, p. 7 (Witness 4/12); T. 24 November 2005, p. 24 (Witness 6/10). Witness 7/18 added that she had not heard people at Gikomero or in the Rutare camp for displaced persons discussing Rwamakuba in connection with the massacres (T. 1 December 2005, p. 9).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>261</sup> See: Defence Witnesses 3/1 (T. 10 November 2005, p. 9); 3/22 (T. 30 November 2005, p. 34); 4/12 (T. 24 November 2005, p. 7); 4/16 (T. 19 January 2006, p. 55); 5/16 (T. 2 February 2006, p. 34); 9/31 (T. 1 February 2006, p. 9); 6/10 (T. 24 November 2005, p. 25).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>262</sup> T. 15 November 2005, pp. 19-20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>263</sup> T. 7 November 2005, p. 26; T. 10 November 2005, p. 25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>264</sup> T. 7 November 2005, pp. 19, 31 and 32; T. 10 November 2005, p. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>265</sup> T. 12 December 2005, p. 26 (Witness 1/5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>266</sup> T. 17 January 2005.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>267</sup> Defence Witness 3/10 knew Rwamakuba's family very well; 4/16 is charged in his country with killings of four people but claims his innocence. Defence Witnesses 6/10 and 7/18 were very closed to the Accused's

20 September 2006

does corroborate the testimony of the other Defence witnesses. The Prosecution's crossexamination of Defence Witnesses 3/10, 6/10, 7/18, 4/16 and 7/3 did not raise any convincing element to show that they were unbelievable or unreliable, nor did the Prosecution adduce any evidence to rebut their testimonies on the above issues.

103. Furthermore, the evidence given on the content of the alleged bags delivered and the subsequent massacres of Tutsi people was merely hearsay evidence. None of the Prosecution witnesses actually saw the content of the bags. They were told later that machetes were brought and the inhabitants were requested to start killing the Tutsi.<sup>268</sup> They also did not see the alleged massacres of Tutsi since they fled the area on 13 April 1994 and only learned about it when they returned to the Centre months later and when human skeletal remains were found. These witnesses did not mention the name of any particular victims of the 13 April 1994 attack at Ndatemwa Trading Centre. Their evidence was challenged by the Defence. There was direct testimony that André Muhire never distributed any machetes. Evidence was also adduced regarding the criminal charges against Muhire in Rwanda. It was specified that he was never prosecuted for distributing machetes and that André Rwamakuba's name was never mentioned in his Rwandan judicial records. Witness 9/20 furthermore stated that no new machetes were distributed at that time in Ndatemwa because individuals used their own weapons which they took from their own houses.<sup>269</sup>

104. The absence of any reliable identification of the Accused at the time and place of the alleged event, his undisputed presence to certain locations during the considered period, the evidence on the potential hazards of travel to and from Gikomero, the absence of any reliable evidence on the exact context of the alleged event, all cumulatively contribute to cast a reasonable doubt that the Accused delivered machetes to André Muhire at Ndatemwa Trading Centre as alleged in paragraph 11 of the Indictment.

### II.1.2.2. Alleged Delivery of Machetes to Etienne Kamanzi Used in Attacks against Tutsi

105. The Prosecution alleges that, between 10 and 11 April 1994, the Accused delivered bags of machetes to the home of Etienne Kamanzi, director of the Kayanga Health Centre,

<sup>268</sup> See: Witnesses AVC, AVD and GII.

family; they are moreover relatives. Defence Witness 7/14 was Prosecution Witness GIN's relative and Defence Witness 7/3 has a criminal record related to the 1994 genocide.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>269</sup> The witness added that, during the *Gacaca* sessions, she never heard about the distribution of new machetes at Ndatemwa Trading Centre (T. 7 November 2005, p. 27).

and that he knew, or had reasons to know, that the machetes would be used in attacks against the Tutsi in the areas.<sup>270</sup> Kamanzi's home was located in Kayanga secteur, Gikomero commune, which is approximately six kilometres from the Ndatemwa Trading Centre and 30 kilometres northeast of Kigali town where André Rwamakuba resided until 12 April 1994. On that date, he moved to Gitarama which is 53 kilometres southwest of Kigali.<sup>271</sup>

### (1) Evidence Adduced

106. Prosecution Witness GAC, who claimed to be an eyewitness of this event, was the sole witness called to testify on this allegation. He also claimed that he knew André Rwamakuba since he had already seen him on three occasions before that event.<sup>272</sup>

The witness testified that "on the day following the death of [President] 107. Habyarimana<sup>273</sup> or a few days after the President's death, between 10 and 13 April 1994,<sup>274</sup> he saw André Rwamakuba unloading bags containing machetes from a white car and giving them to Etienne Kamanzi.<sup>275</sup> The witness heard Rwamakuba blaming Kamanzi for continuing to provide medical treatment to Tutsi at the Kayanga Health Centre.<sup>276</sup> He saw Rwamakuba give machetes to Kamanzi indicating that it was the "medicine to treat them", namely to kill the Tutsi.<sup>277</sup> Witness GAC then saw a woman named Anatalie Mukarulinda telling Rwamakuba and Kamanzi that she had six "Abakigas"<sup>278</sup> who could work and she requested machetes for them. Kamanzi then gave, in the presence of Rwamakuba, six machetes to Mukarulinda.<sup>279</sup> GAC saw Mukarulinda distributing the machetes to the six Abakigas.<sup>280</sup> The witness did not see machetes being distributed to other persons, but he attested that when the killing began, everyone was provided with a new and recently sharpened machete.<sup>281</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>270</sup> Indictment, para. 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>271</sup> Exh. P. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>272</sup> See above: Alleged Public Instigation in Gikomero from July 1993 through June 1994.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>273</sup> T. 4 July 2005, p. 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>274</sup> T. 4 July 2005, pp. 50-53.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>275</sup> T. 4 July 2005, pp. 8 and 58

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>276</sup> According to Witness GAC, André Rwamakuba asked Kamanzi: "You mean you are continuing to give treatment to the Tutsis?" (T. 4 July 2005, pp. 8-9 and 18).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>277</sup> T. 4 July 2005, pp. 6, 7, 9, 11 and 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>278</sup> Witness GAC explained that the Abakigas were Rwandan natives of Adukiga, located in Byumba and Ruhengeri, who had come from their own region, to flee the war that was being waged by the Inkotanyi (T. 4 July 2005, p. 12).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>279</sup> T. 4 July 2005, pp. 11 and 58. <sup>280</sup> T. 4 July 2005, pp. 18 and 58.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>281</sup> T. 4 July 2005, p. 18.

20 September 2006

108. Witness GAC claimed to be "aware"<sup>282</sup> that the Abakigas used the machetes to kill Tutsi. The witness learnt from a *conseiller* that a policeman named Nyarwaya had taken part in a meeting in Nduba the day before the attacks, with *Interahamwe*, policemen and *conseillers*, where instructions were issued.<sup>283</sup> According to the witness, on or about 13 April 1994, the six Abakigas went toward Rutunga Trading Centre.<sup>284</sup> Then, Nyarwaya, who was standing at the Rutunga marketplace, shot his gun in the air and told the Abakigas to "begin".<sup>285</sup> The witness was not present at the market at that time.<sup>286</sup> After the gunshot, the Abakigas began burning down houses, looting and assaulting neighbouring persons, beginning with Mukarulinda's neighbours.<sup>287</sup> According to Witness GAC, the victims of the attacks were Tutsi and the perpetrators were Hutu. These attacks by the Abakigas marked the beginning of the massacres in Kayanga. The witness stated that the first person who was killed was an inhabitant;<sup>288</sup> then Tutsi patients of the Kayanga Health Centre were killed after 13 April 1994 and until the end of the week by *Interahamwe* from Gasabo.<sup>289</sup>

### (2) Assessment of the Evidence

109. The Chamber notes that Witness GAC was a Prosecution witness in the *Kamuhanda* case. The Defence submits that his evidence should not be admitted since the Trial Chamber in the *Kamuhanda* case found him not credible.<sup>290</sup> It contends that once a Trial Chamber finds a witness not credible, in respect of significant and substantial testimony, it is only appropriate in the most exceptional circumstances for the Prosecution to tender him as a witness of truth in another trial. In the Defence's view, failure to follow such good practice is likely to bring the administration of justice into disrepute and the Chamber should refuse the admission of such evidence as an abuse of process.<sup>291</sup>

110. The Chamber has discretionary power to assess the evidence brought before it and cannot be bound by the assessment of Witness GAC's credibility made in the *Kamuhanda* case. The Chamber, however, already found his testimony unreliable concerning the political

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>282</sup> T. 4 July 2005, p. 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>283</sup> T. 4 July 2005, pp. 15-16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>284</sup> T. 4 July 2005, p. 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>285</sup> T. 4 July 2005, p. 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>286</sup> T. 5 July 2005, p. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>287</sup> T. 4 July 2005, pp. 12 and 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>288</sup> T. 4 July 2005, pp. 18 and 60

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>289</sup> T. 4 July 2005, pp. 18-19

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>290</sup> Kamuhanda Judgement, para. 287; Defence Closing Brief, pp. 191-193.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>291</sup> Defence Closing Brief, pp. 192-193.

meetings in Kayanga.<sup>292</sup> Moreover, Witness GAC's testimony on the alleged delivery of machetes to Kamanzi also appears to be tainted with major internal inconsistencies which seriously challenge his credibility (**2.1.**). This challenge is reinforced by the Defence evidence on the road access to Gikomero at the time of the event (**2.2.**).

### (2.1.) Credibility Issues

111. Witness GAC's testimony is not consistent concerning the date when the alleged event took place. The witness first testified that the delivery of machetes by the Accused to Kamanzi took place "the day *following the death of Habyarimana*". Later in his testimony, he asserted that the event had taken place *a few days* after the President was killed, around 10 and 13 April 1994.<sup>293</sup> Similarly, the witness stated that a *conseiller*, who was his neighbour, informed him about the meeting in which Nyarwaya participated the day before the attacks in Nduba. Later in his testimony, he denied that this *conseiller* was a neighbour and added that he is no longer alive.<sup>294</sup>

112. The witness' account of the event is also subject to concerns. After Witness GAC saw the alleged distribution of machetes, he did not directly inform his family but continued on his way and went off for a drink in a bar.<sup>295</sup> Such behaviour is odd when considering the particular insecure context of threats against the Tutsi people as described by the witness himself. The witness' testimony as to his presence when the massacres started at the Rutunga Trading Centre on 13 April 1994 also seemed unlikely: he both affirmed that he was present on the spot when massacres started and that he fled Kayanga on the same day.<sup>296</sup>

113. In addition to these internal inconsistencies and unlikely behaviours and actions, Witness GAC's testimony substantially differed from his statement to the Prosecution on 8 November 2004. <sup>297</sup> In that statement, the witness declared that Kamanzi opened the bag of machetes which had been unloaded *on Rwamakuba's order*, but in the courtroom, he testified that it was Rwamakuba who had opened his car and was giving machetes to Kamanzi himself.<sup>298</sup> In the same statement, the witness specified that he clearly heard Rwamakuba *ask* Kamanzi to give Mukarulinda the machetes, while in his testimony the machetes were given

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>292</sup> See: Alleged Public Instigation in Gikomero from July 1993 through June 1994.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>293</sup> T. 4 July 2005, pp. 50-53.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>294</sup> T. 5 July 2005, p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>295</sup> T. 4 July 2005, p. 62.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>296</sup> T. 4 July 2005, pp.29-30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>297</sup> Exh. D. 34 A and B (under seal).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>298</sup> T. 4 July 2005, pp. 9 and 58.

to her *at her request*. In 2004, he also gave the name of three companions, including Alexis Karekezi, who were present when he saw Rwamakuba giving the machetes. According to his statement, these three persons were then killed at the Kayanga Health Centre. In court, the witness testified that *only* Alexis Karakezi was with him on that occasion and that there were *Interahamawe* who were not far away.<sup>299</sup> The witness' statement does not contain any information concerning the alleged attacks of the six Abakigas against Tutsi at the Rutunga Trading Centre, the meeting held the day before the attacks where instructions to kill Tutsi were issued, and the incident with Nyarwaya firing his gun in the air and telling the Abakigas to begin the attacks, all of which he testified extensively about in court. The witness also qualified Etienne Kamanzi as the Head of the Kayanga Health Centre in his 2004 statement,<sup>300</sup> but in court he referred to him as a nurse at the Kayanga Health Centre.<sup>301</sup>

114. These discrepancies cannot be justified by the time elapsed since the event or translation discrepancies. They are significant in the assessment of the credibility of this witness who omitted any reference to André Rwamakuba in his early statements to the Prosecution investigators. Witness GAC gave a statement in 1999 to the Prosecution and testified in the *Kamuhanda* case in 2002 about the activities of Kamuhanda and Kamanzi in the distribution of weapons in Kayanga between 8 and 12 April 1994. He testified on the occasions where he saw Kamanzi prior to the massacres. It was not until he gave his statement in 2004 that he mentioned Rwamakuba for the first time. He explained the prior omission by the fact that he was not questioned about Rwamakuba at the time. Even if that were the case, the Chamber does not find this to be a satisfactory explanation, as the absence of certain questions would not preclude a witness, who wanted to give a credible picture of an event, from volunteering information.<sup>302</sup>

115. Witness GAC's demeanour in court supports the Chamber's conclusion that the witness cannot be found credible. Although the Chamber acknowledges that a witness' behaviour may be influenced by the fact that he or she is responding to the opposite party, in the present case, the witness was particularly reluctant or unwilling to respond to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>299</sup> T. 4 July 2005, pp. 59-60.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>300</sup> Exh. D. 34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>301</sup> T. 4 July 2005, p. 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>302</sup> It is interesting to note that GAC gave his first statement as a result of a visit to the United Nations office in Kigali. As he was requesting free medical assistance, an investigator asked him whether he had information about the crimes committed by a man named André Rwamakuba in Gikomero in April 1994 (T. 4 July 2005, pp. 32-33).

20 September 2006

Defence's questions in cross-examination<sup>303</sup> He was also extremely disinclined to speak about or comment on his previous testimony in the *Kamuhanda* case.<sup>304</sup>

116. The defence evidence on the potential hazards of travel between Kigali and Gikomero *commune* at the time of the event reinforces the Chamber's doubts on GAC's credibility.

### (2.2.) Road Access to Gikomero

117. Neither the Indictment nor the Prosecution's evidence seems to suggest that the delivery of machetes to Kamanzi's house took place on the same day as the alleged delivery of machetes at Muhire's place in Ndatemwa Trading Centre.<sup>305</sup> The Prosecution did not provide any chronology of the alleged four occasions when the Accused came to Gikomero over a period of five days. According to Witness GAC, André Rwamakuba met Kamanzi and decided to give him machetes by chance. There is no other explanation or account of that event. However, in the Chamber's view, the chronology of the facts was particularly relevant to the Prosecution case. As previously discussed, it was admitted that the Accused attended other activities in Kigali on 11 April 1994.<sup>306</sup> The Prosecution did not attempt to explain how the Accused moved from that town to deliver machetes in a location 30 kilometres apart or how he came over a period of two days to two different locations six kilometres apart,<sup>307</sup> whereas the Defence adduced evidence that it was hazardous to travel to and from Gikomero after 7 April 1994, that Rwamakuba never came to Gikomero *commune* in the days leading up to 13 April 1994 and that his name was never mentioned in relation to the massacres in the *commune* in April 1994.<sup>308</sup> The Chamber already found the Defence evidence consistent and objective enough to levy a reasonable doubt on the Prosecution's case.<sup>309</sup>

118. The lack of credibility of Witness GAC, the admitted presence of André Rwamakuba in other activities, the evidence on the potential hazards to travel, cumulatively contribute to reasonable doubt on the alleged presence of the Accused in Kayanga *secteur*, Gikomero *commune* between 10 and 13 April 1994. Since Witness GAC was the sole witness called and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>303</sup> See for e.g.: T. 4 July 2005, pp. 11, 27, 39-42 and 51.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>304</sup> T. 4 July 2005, pp. 45-48.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>305</sup> See above the testimonies of Prosecution Witnesses AVC, AVD and GII on the alleged delivery of machetes to Muhire's house.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>306</sup> On 11 April 1994, André Rwamakuba participated in a governmental meeting held in Kigali at the *Hotel des Diplomates*. See: Statement of Admissions by the Parties and Other Matters not in Dispute, filed on 3 June 2005; Prosecution Witness GLM and Prosecution Expert Witness Des Forges.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>307</sup> When he allegedly came to Ndatemwa Trading Centre to deliver machetes to Muhire's house (see above) and when he allegedly came to Kayanga to deliver machetes to Kamanzi's house.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>308</sup> See paras 100-101.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>309</sup> See para. 102.

no additional evidence was adduced that between 10 and 11 April 1994, the Accused delivered bags of machetes to the home of Etienne Kamanzi, the Prosecution failed to prove this allegation.

## II.1.3. Alleged Murder of Three Tutsi near Gikomero Secteur Office

### 119. At paragraph 12 of the Indictment, the Prosecution alleges that

Between 10 and 20 April 1994, André RWAMAKUBA went to Gikomero commune where, during a rally near the secteur office, accompanied by RUTAGANIRA, bourgmestre of the commune, Brigadier NYARWAYA, Mathias KABANGUKA, accountant of the commune, and two men unknown but who were identified as policemen, he asked persons in the crowd why the massacres had not started. He then seized documents belonging to two unknown youths, but who were identified as Tutsi, tore the documents and ordered the crowd to seize the youths and kill them. Persons present in the crowd armed with firearms, machetes and clubs, including NGIRUWOSANGA, a secteur inhabitant, NGARAMBE and KAYIBANDA, and two communal policemen, immediately seized the two young men that André RWAMAKUBA had designated, led them away to a wooded area and killed them as the Accused, who was not far, looked on. Thereafter, this same crowd stopped an unidentified man on a motorcycle claiming to flee the massacres in Rutongo commune. André RWAMAKUBA, while speaking to the crowd, stated that the motorcyclist could not be a Hutu since only Tutsi were fleeing, and decided that the youth should be killed. At the instigation of and following orders from André RWAMAKUBA, the same armed crowd led him away to a wooded area to kill him. The Accused then told the crowd that it had just started the killings and that it was a good start. The same day, in the afternoon, Interahamwe militiamen, elements of the Presidential Guard, with the assistance of members of the population, following such orders and instigations, began to massacre Tutsi refugees, in Gikomero commune, notably at Kayanga Health Center, Gikomero Protestant School and Gicaca. Thousands were massacred, including refugees from Remera, in Kigali town centre, refugees from the neighbouring commune of Gikoro and Kabuga secteur, Rubungo commune.

## (1) Evidence Adduced

120. The Gikomero *secteur* office is approximately 25 kilometres northeast of Kigali town, where André Rwamakuba was living until 12 April 1994; 11 kilometres from Ndatemwa Trading Centre and five kilometres from Kayanga *secteur*. From Kigali town it is 53 kilometres southwest to Gitarama where Rwamakuba moved to on 12 April 1994.<sup>310</sup>

121. To support the allegation at paragraph 12 of the Indictment, the Prosecution only called Witness GIN, who claimed to have been present at this event. This witness also asserted that she was introduced to André Rwamakuba for the first time in 1992 at a wedding in the family of a man named Karuyonga who, according to the witness, seemed to be Rwamakuba's friend.<sup>311</sup> She saw the Accused again at Nyamirambo, Kigali-*ville*, in 1992

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>310</sup> Exh. P. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>311</sup> T. 29 June 2005, p. 9. The Chamber notes an interpretation discrepancy between the French ("Karuyonga") and English transcript ("Kayiranga").

when he came to visit her family.<sup>312</sup> The witness testified that she saw Rwamakuba a third time in Gikomero *commune* between 10 and 14 of April 1994, between 10.00 a.m. and 11.00 a.m. He was in the company of *Bourgmestre* Rutaganira, the accountant Mathias Rubanguka, the brigadier Nyarwaya, two *commune* policemen, Ngarambe and Kayibanda, and other members of the population such as François-Xavier Kamanzi, Ngiruwosanga and Mivumbi.<sup>313</sup>

122. According to Witness GIN, when André Rwamakuba got to the centre, the inhabitants had stopped two young people and were asking them to show their identity cards. As these young people showed their certificates instead of their identity cards, Rwamakuba tore them up<sup>314</sup> and said that these young people were Tutsi because they had refused to show their identity cards.<sup>315</sup> He then ordered that they be arrested and killed. The two young men were taken off to a wooded area by the same group, which included Rwamakuba, Ngiruwosanga, Murekezi, Runyota, Ngarambe, Kayibanda, Rubanguka and Rutaganira.<sup>316</sup> They were armed with machetes, clubs, and some carried guns.<sup>317</sup> There was a distance of 70 to 100 meters between the entrance to the yard of GIN's house where she was standing and the place in the woods where the two men were taken. They stayed in the woods for about one and a half hours.<sup>318</sup> GIN heard the two young persons screaming as they were beaten up and she concluded that they were killed because the people who took them away returned alone.<sup>319</sup> GIN cannot confirm whether Rwamakuba went right to the spot where the people were killed, but she asserted that he was there and he saw what was happening.<sup>320</sup>

123. After the two young people were killed, André Rwamakuba allegedly encouraged and gave instructions to members of the population to continue the killings. He is also alleged to have thanked them for starting the killings in the *commune*.<sup>321</sup>

124. Then, still according to GIN, while André Rwamakuba was still there, a young man showed up on a motorcycle. He was stopped and was required to show his identification documents. GIN heard Rwamakuba say that only Tutsis were fleeing and he then gave orders for the motorcyclist to be killed.<sup>322</sup> The witness saw that the same armed group took the

<sup>319</sup> T. 29 June 2005, pp. 13, 16 and 28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>312</sup> T. 29 June 2005, p. 10; T. 30 June 2005, pp. 27-29 and 32-33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>313</sup> T. 29 June 2005, p. 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>314</sup> T. 29 June 2005, pp. 11-12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>315</sup> T. 29 June 2005, p. 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>316</sup> T. 29 June 2005, p. 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>317</sup> T. 29 June 2005, p. 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>318</sup> T. 29 June 2005, p. 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>321</sup> T. 29 June 2005, pp. 14-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>322</sup> T. 29 June 2005, p. 15.

motorcyclist into the same woods as the two young people. This time, Rwamakuba allegedly remained with the *bourgmestre* in an open area,<sup>323</sup> as the motorcyclist was killed. GIN testified that he left shortly thereafter.<sup>324</sup>

#### (2) Assessment of the Evidence

In the Chamber's view, GIN's evidence is not consistent with the Prosecution's 125. allegation set forth in the Indictment (2.1.). It is also highly improbable that the alleged killing of three people at the Gikomero secteur office between 10 and 14 April 1994 would have occurred as described by Witness GIN (2.2.).

### (2.1.) Lack of Consistency between the Dates in the Indictment and the Evidence

In addition to GIN's testimony, evidence has also been adduced by both parties that in 126. April 1994, Tutsi refugees from Mbandazi and from Rubungo communes were attacked and killed by Interahamwe at Gikomero Protestant School. GIN was not present at the location but was informed that this massacre took place between 8 and 12 April 1994. She asserted that André Rwamakuba was not involved in that massacre.<sup>325</sup> Defence Witnesses 2/18, 3/1,<sup>326</sup> 3/11, 9/31 who were present at the time and location of the event, were more specific and all affirmed that the Tutsi refugees were killed on 12 April 1994, between 1.00 p.m. and 2.00 p.m. This date was confirmed by Defence Witnesses 3/22, 4/12 and 7/3 following information they received from others.<sup>327</sup> Prosecution Witnesses GAB and GII also testified that on 12 April 1994, Tutsi refugees were killed at the Gishaka parish in Gikomero *commune*.<sup>328</sup> Both parties accepted that this massacre took place at that time.<sup>329</sup>

127. Consequently, the suggestion made by GIN that the killings at the Gikomero secteur office could have taken place after 12 April 1994, on 13 or 14 April 1994, is inconsistent with the Prosecution's allegation that the day of the killings of three people at the Gikomero secteur office, after Rwamakuba's departure, in the afternoon, Interahamwe militiamen,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>323</sup> T. 29 June 2005, p. 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>324</sup> T. 29 June 2005, p. 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>325</sup> T. 29 June 2005, p. 27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>326</sup> The witness stated that the victims at the Gikomero Protestant School included members of her family that came from Mbandazi (T. 10 November 2005, p. 7).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>327</sup> T. 30 November 2005 (Witness 3/22); T. 22 November 2005, pp. 12-14 (Witness 4/12); T. 19 January 2006, p. 11 (Witness 7/3). <sup>328</sup> T. 23 June 2005, pp. 44-45 (Witness GII); T. 6 July 2005, p. 22 (Witness GAB).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>329</sup> T. 5 July 2005, p. 52.

elements of the Presidential Guard, with the assistance from members of the population, began to kill Tutsi refugees, notably at the Gikomero Protestant School.

## (2.2.) Credibility Issues

128. GIN's evidence includes major discrepancies between her prior statements and testimony, and is also seriously challenged by facts admitted by both parties and the evidence adduced by the Defence.

129. A comparison between her testimony regarding the identification of André Rwamakuba, and her prior statements and testimony in the *Kamuhanda* case reveals important discrepancies. In her first statement of 3 February 1998,<sup>330</sup> she stated that her husband told her that it was Rwamakuba who came to Gikomero in April 1994, and that she recognized him as well because she used to see him driving his car in Gikomero *commune*. GIN confirmed this information in the investigator's report dated 13 February 2004,<sup>331</sup> but two months later, she stated that she met Rwamakuba for the first time at a wedding between 1991 and 1992.<sup>332</sup> She then specified that the wedding took place at Karuyonga's house who was her mother's neighbour in Gicaca, and not Rwamakuba's friend, as she declared in court.<sup>333</sup> In the *Kamuhanda* case, in 2001, prior to her amended statement, the witness gave a different account of her knowledge of Rwamakuba: she testified that she saw him for the first time in front of her house in 1994.<sup>334</sup>

130. Witness GIN's physical description of André Rwamakuba was also extremely vague<sup>335</sup> and contradictory. In her earlier statements, she described him wearing clothes with the colours and emblem of the MRND party.<sup>336</sup> Despite giving several other statements, <sup>337</sup> it was not until April 2004 that she changed her statement and specified that Rwamakuba was not wearing the MRND colours.<sup>338</sup> During her testimony, when confronted with the obvious discrepancy because of Rwamakuba's membership in the opposing MDR party, the witness

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>330</sup> Exh. D. 35 A and B (under seal).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>331</sup> Exh. D. 38 (under seal).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>332</sup> See: Notice of Additional Evidence Pursuant to Rule 67(D), Exh. D. 39 (under seal).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>333</sup> Ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>334</sup> Prosecutor v. Jean de Dieu Kamuhanda, Case No. ICTR-98-54A-T, T. 17 April 2001, p. 68 (Exh. D. 43).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>335</sup> T. 30 June 2005, pp. 30-32. According to Witness GIN, André Rwamakuba was "not very tall, he was fat but not very fat. He was not obese. As for his colour, he was somewhere between dark and light; fair skinned." The witness further added that he "was a well built man. He was stout".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>336</sup> Statement of 3 February 1998, Exh. D 35 (under seal).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>337</sup> Witness GIN made a statement to Prosecution on 3 February 1998 (Exh. D. 35); and interview reports were taken on 27 March 2002 (Exh. D. 36); 27 May 2003 (Exh. D. 37) and 13 February 2004 (Exh. D. 38). <sup>338</sup> See: Notice of Additional Evidence Pursuant to Rule 67(D), Exh. D 39 (under seal), p. 2.

20 September 2006

explained that the investigator made a mistake when taking notes of her description of Rwamakuba's attire. She maintained, however, that he was wearing a cap with the MRND colours and emblem.<sup>339</sup> This explanation and comment are not satisfactory and raises further doubts on her credibility.

131. The witness' account of the event is also radically different from her prior statements made with the Prosecution and her testimony in the Kamuhanda case. In court, she testified that André Rwamakuba arrived at the Gikomero secteur office between 10 and 14 April 1994 and that three Tutsi people were killed on that occasion. She also testified that massacres took place at the Gikomero Protestant School between 8 and 12 April 1994. In 1998, however, the witness explicitly affirmed that the killing of the three people at Gikomero *secteur* office took place on 12 April 1994, a date on which according to the witness' statement, the killings had not yet started in the commune. In the same statement, she stated that Rwamakuba came to launch the beginning of the massacre in the *commune* and that as soon as he left, in the afternoon, Tutsi refugees were killed at the Gikomero Protestant School. In that statement, she asserted that she did not see him again after that massacre. In 2001 in the Kamuhanda case, the witness testified that the killings at the Protestant School were the first killings in the secteur. Later, in 2003, the witness stated that she did not see Rwamakuba exactly on 12 April 1994 but between 12 and 20 April 1994.<sup>340</sup> This declaration was amended again a year later when she stated that she saw him, after the killings at the Gikomero Protestant School between 6 and 20 April 1994.<sup>341</sup> In this case, GIN testified that Rwamakuba came with the crowd to the wooden area where the two young people were killed, but in 2003 she requested the investigator to amend her prior statement and indicated that the Accused did not follow the crowd to the wooded area but stayed by his car in front of the *secteur* office, from where he was able to see the killings. The witness also gave an inconsistent account of her whereabouts in April 1994. She admitted that she had gone to Kibobo with her sister in law to seek refuge, but she was uncertain on the dates.<sup>342</sup> This is a major matter of concern considering that Defence witnesses testified that GIN was not in Gikomero at the time of the alleged murders.<sup>343</sup> The Defence challenged GIN on her prior statements and testimonies. The Chamber found her answers to be inconsistent and unconvincing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>339</sup> T. 30 June 2005, pp. 32-33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>340</sup> Interview Report of 27 May 2003 (Exh. D. 37).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>341</sup> Interview Report of 13 February 2004 (Exh. D. 38).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>342</sup> T. 1 July 2005, pp. 14-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>343</sup> See: Defence Witnesses 7/14 and 3/31 who personally knew GIN (T. 25 January 2006, p.22; T. 11 November 2005, p. 10).

132. These major inconsistencies between GIN's testimony and her prior statements cannot be explained by the time elapsed, translation discrepancies, the manner in which the statements were taken or the impact of trauma inflicted upon the witness. Neither can they be considered additional details provided to the witness' prior statements.

133. Several Defence witnesses also gave testimony to Witness GIN's personality. The Chamber has considered and weighed this information with great caution due to the personal relationship between GIN and some of the Defence witnesses. During the genocide, the witness lost her mother and one of her siblings.<sup>344</sup> According to Defence Witness 3/22 who has known GIN since she was very young, and Defence Witness 5/15, who also has a close relationship to GIN, she has been greatly affected by her experience in 1994 and had changed since then. Witness 3/22 described GIN as someone who is highly emotional, dishonest,<sup>345</sup> and not trustworthy.<sup>346</sup> Witness 7/14 submitted that GIN was plotting with other people to fabricate evidence against key figures of Gikomero.<sup>347</sup> Witness GIN's criminal record indicating a conviction in Rwanda for the murder of a colleague, was also raised by the Defence to undermine her credibility.<sup>348</sup>

134. Her credibility is further challenged by the admitted fact that on 11 April 1994 the Accused was in Kigali,<sup>349</sup> and the day after was moving from there to Gitarama.<sup>350</sup> The Indictment and the Prosecution evidence did not provide a chronological account of the Accused's alleged activities in Gikomero in April 1994. GIN's testimony seemed to require that the Accused made a separate or third trip to the area in addition to the alleged delivery of machetes to Muhire and Kamanzi.<sup>351</sup> The evidence adduced by the Defence that travel between Kigali and Gikomero was difficult and hazardous at that time due to the presence of RPF troops reinforces the doubt on GIN's credibility.<sup>352</sup>

135. In view of the major inconsistencies in the witness' evidence, her particular personality and judicial record, the admitted presence of the Accused on other locations at the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>344</sup> T. 29 June 2005, p. 42.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>345</sup> T. 30 November 2005, p. 20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>346</sup> See: Defence Witness 3/1 (T. 10 November 2005, pp. 9 and 29).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>347</sup> T. 25 January 2006, pp. 16-19; T. 03 February 2006, pp. 12-14 and 43.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>348</sup> Exh. D. 213 (under seal).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>349</sup> See: Prosecution Witness GLM; Prosecution Witness Des Forges; Prosecution Closing Brief, footnote 5; Defence Closing Brief.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>350</sup> Statement of Admissions by the Parties and Other Matters not in Dispute, filed on 3 June 2005; see also: Prosecution Witness GLM and Prosecution Expert Witness Des Forges.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>351</sup> See above, para. 85 and seq.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>352</sup> See above, paras.100 and 102.

time of the alleged event, the potential hazards of access to the commune at the time of the event, Witness GIN cannot be found credible. Since no other evidence has been adduced to establish the allegation in the Indictment, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution failed to prove beyond reasonable doubt André Rwamakuba's involvement in the killings of three Tutsi people in Gikomero *commune* between 10 and 20 April 1994.

# II.1.4. Alleged Participation of André Rwamakuba to the Massacre at Kayanga Health Centre

### 136. The Prosecution alleges at paragraph 13 of the Indictment that

Between 13 and 15 April 1994, in the morning, André RWAMAKUBA, accompanied by local authorities, including Mathias RUBANGUKA, accountant of the commune, Callixte KABARERA, Inspector of Schools, Brigadier NYARWAYA, RUTAGANIRA, bourgmestre of Gikomero commune, Thomas MABANGO, conseiller of Kanyanga [sic],<sup>353</sup> and soldiers and Interahamwe militiamen, arrived at the Kayanga Health Center in Kayanga secteur, where many Tutsi fleeing the massacres that had started in their secteurs had sought refuge. At a man unknown but identified as the deputy director's request, they assembled in the courtyard of the Health Centre [sic]<sup>354</sup>. Upon his arrival, André RWAMAKUBA stated that the killings had started everywhere else and that he realized that nothing had been done at the Health Centre. The Accused, stating that he was showing the example, then brandished a firearm, signaling the start of the massacres to soldiers and Interahamwe who began, in his presence, to attack and kill the Tutsi with firearms, machetes and clubs. Shortly after the beginning of the killings, while it was raining, André RWAMAKUBA, referring to the bodies of Tutsi, demanded that such filth be cleared. The Accused witnessed the killings until he left the Health Centre, while the soldiers and Interahamwe continued the killings for several hours. No one survived the massacre in which about a hundred people are alleged to have died. The bodies of the victims were thrown into a mass grave. These victims were mostly inpatients and Tutsi refugees fleeing the killings in the neighbouring *secteurs*, notably the killings in the Parishes of Gikomero and Gicaca.

## (1) Evidence Adduced

137. Kayanga Health Centre is located in Kayanga *secteur*, Gikomero *commune*, which is approximately 80 kilometres from Gitarama where André Rwamakuba resided at the time of the event.<sup>355</sup>

138. There is no dispute in the present case that there were killings at Kayanga Health Centre in April 1994 and that the victims were murdered solely because they were Tutsi.<sup>356</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>353</sup> The French version of the Indictment, which is the original language, reads as follows: "Kayanga".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>354</sup> The French version of the Indictment reads as follows: "Ils étaient, à la demande d'un homme inconnu, mais identifié comme étant le Directeur-adjoint, rassemblés dans la cour du Centre."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>355</sup> See: Exh. P. 2: the distance between Kigali and Kayanga is approximately 30 kilometres; and Gitarama is 53 kilometres southwest from Kigali.

20 September 2006

Both parties adduced evidence on this event. The alleged participation of the Accused, however, is disputed.

Five Prosecution witnesses gave evidence on this massacre,<sup>357</sup> including Witness GAB 139. who said that he was the sole survivor and eyewitness of the event.<sup>358</sup> On 13 April 1994, after the massacres had started in his secteur, Prosecution Witness GAB began to flee.<sup>359</sup> He testified that he arrived at Kayanga Health Centre between 13 and 15 April 1994.<sup>360</sup> He spent the night in the courtyard between the rooms, the open space at the Centre.<sup>361</sup> The morning after his arrival, around 800 a.m., the Deputy Director of the Centre, Etienne Kamanzi, arrived with Interahamwe. The witness and the people who were in the wards as well as refugees were taken out with the Tutsis and collected in the big courtyard in front of the Centre.<sup>362</sup> They were told to sit down and not to move. Around 10.00 a.m., four vehicles arrived, including a military truck. The witness saw the Accused, Bourgmestre Rutaganira, the *brigadier* Nyarwaya, the accountant and the school inspector.<sup>363</sup> When he saw them, the witness hid in a nearby sorghum field near the Centre.<sup>364</sup> From that place, he heard Rwamakuba say "[e]verywhere I have been, they have began to work - and "work" meant to kill – so what are you waiting for?"<sup>365</sup> The *brigadier* Nyarwaya replied that they did not start to kill because they did not have enough materials for the task.<sup>366</sup> The witness then saw Rwamakuba take out a pistol, wave it in the air, and say "Here is the pistol; the Interahamwe are present. The material is available; I don't see why you continue to raise that question while everything is ready."<sup>367</sup> After that, many people, mostly Tutsi, were shot or attacked with machetes, clubs and bludgeons.<sup>368</sup> The witness also heard the Accused stating that the Tutsis should be killed 'so that in [the] future, a Hutu who is born asks what a Tutsi look[ed] like".<sup>369</sup> Rwamakuba allegedly left with the other vehicles in the direction of Gikomero, around midday when people had already been killed.<sup>370</sup> After his departure, the Interahamwe

- <sup>364</sup> T. 5 July 2005, p. 24.
- <sup>365</sup> T. 5 July 2005, p. 25.

<sup>369</sup> T. 5 July 2005, p. 26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>356</sup> Defence Closing Brief, p. 167, para. 6; See: Prosecution Witnesses ALA, AVC, GAC, GIN and GAB; Defence Witnesses 3/1, 7/14, 6/10, 7/18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>357</sup> Witnesses ALA, AVC, GAB, GAC and GIN.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>358</sup> T. 5 July 2005, p. 35; see also: Prosecution Closing Brief, para. 62.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>359</sup> T. 5 July 2005, p. 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>360</sup> T. 6 July 2006, p. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>361</sup> T. 6 July 2006, p. 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>362</sup> T. 6 July 2005, p. 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>363</sup> T. 5 July 2005, p. 24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>366</sup> T. 5 July 2005, p. 26. <sup>367</sup> T. 5 July 2005, p. 26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>368</sup> T. 5 July 2005, p. 26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>370</sup> T. 5 July 2005, p. 27.

20 September 2006

and the soldiers went on killing, until everybody was killed.<sup>371</sup> According to GAB, around one hundred persons died in this massacre.<sup>372</sup>

Prosecution Witness GIN testified that "about four or five days" after the killing of the 140. three young people in Gikomero centre between 10 and 14 April 1994,<sup>373</sup> she saw André Rwamakuba arrive at the trading centre in a white station wagon.<sup>374</sup> He stopped for a few minutes and spoke to some inhabitants from his vehicle. Some of the people who were present at that time included one person named Callixte, Twagirayezu, Drocella Mukayiranga, Ngiruwosanga, Mirumbi, a policeman by the name of Ngarambe, Gihanga and Gatinseyi.<sup>375</sup> Then, Rwamakuba allegedly went on his way towards Kayanga.<sup>376</sup> Later, two vehicles, with Mathias Rubanguka,<sup>377</sup> Nzaramba, and the *brigadier* Nyarwaya aboard, came to collect Interahamwe as well as communal policemen. They were carrying firearms, guns and grenades.<sup>378</sup> One of the vehicles stopped in front of GIN's house and the other stopped in front of Karekezi's house.<sup>379</sup> GIN's husband, Interahamwe and other people got into the vehicles and went off together to Kayanga. When GIN's husband came back from Kayanga, he told her that he had found Rwamakuba in the company of the person in charge of the Kayanga Health Centre, Kamanzi. He also told GIN that Rwamakuba ordered the massacre of the Tutsi people, that the massacre actually began and then Rwamakuba left Kayanga Health Centre.<sup>380</sup>

141. Prosecution Witnesses ALA and AVC were told that attacks against Tutsi people took place at Kayanga Health Centre.<sup>381</sup> ALA specified that the attack claimed about a hundred victims.<sup>382</sup> AVC said that this happened some time between May and June 1994.<sup>383</sup> He was told that people were killed there, including four of his brothers and other people who had sought refuge at Kayanga Health Centre.<sup>384</sup> Witness GAC testified that Tutsi patients of Kayanga Health Centre were killed after 13 April 1994 and until the end of the week by the

<sup>380</sup> T. 29 June 2005, p. 25.

<sup>382</sup> T. 14 June 2005, p. 53.

<sup>384</sup> T. 27 June 2005, p 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>371</sup> T. 5 July 2005, p. 27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>372</sup> T. 5 July 2005, p. 28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>373</sup> See above.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>374</sup> T. 29 June 2005, p. 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>375</sup> T. 29 June 2005, p. 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>376</sup> T. 29 June 2005, p. 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>377</sup> T. 29 June 2005, p. 22. The Chamber notes an interpretation discrepancy between the French ("Rubanguka") and English transcript ("Rubaruka").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>378</sup> T. 29 June 2005, p. 23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>379</sup> T. 29 June 2005, p. 23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>381</sup> T. 14 June 2005, p. 53 (Witness ALA); T. 27 June 2005, p.67 (Witness AVC).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>383</sup> T. 27 June 2005, p 19.

*Interhamwe* from Gasabo.<sup>385</sup> He did not specify whether he was present at the time of the event.

142. Defence Witnesses 6/10, 7/18 and 7/3 testified that they were survivors of the Kayanga Health Centre massacre that, according to them, took place on 15 April 1994 and was led by the *brigadier* Nyarwaya.<sup>386</sup>

### (2) Assessment of the Evidence

143. In the Chamber's view, the Prosecution's evidence is inconsistent with the allegation set forth in the Indictment (2.1.) and suffers major challenges as far as the witness' credibility is concerned (2.2.).

### (2.1.) Lack of Consistency between the Indictment and the Prosecution Evidence

144. Witnesses ALA, AVC and GAC did not provide any evidence on the presence of the Accused at the Kayanga Health Centre massacre in April 1994. ALA and AVC gave hearsay evidence, and AVC's testimony that the massacre took place between May and June 1994 contradicts the other evidence adduced by both parties and does not support the charges against the Accused which place this event between 13 and 15 April 1994.

#### (2.2.) Credibility Issues

145. The Chamber has already found that Witness GIN was not a credible witness as far as her evidence concerned the alleged participation of the Accused in the murder of three Tutsi near the Gikomero *secteur* office.<sup>387</sup> For the present event, she provided hearsay evidence from her deceased husband. It is noteworthy that she mentioned the Kayanga Health Centre massacre of April 1994 and André Rwamakuba's participation in the massacre for the first time in April 2004,<sup>388</sup> in her fifth meeting with the Prosecution.<sup>389</sup> In particular, in her first statement dated 3 February 1998,<sup>390</sup> she asserted that she had not seen Rwamakuba after the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>385</sup> T. 4 July 2005, pp. 18-19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>386</sup> T. 19 January 2006, p. 14. Defence Witness 9/20 also learnt that people were killed at the Kayanga Health Centre on 15 April 1994.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>387</sup> See above.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>388</sup> Notice of Additional Evidence pursuant to Rule 67(D), filed on 23 April 2004, Exh. D. 39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>389</sup> Witness GIN made statements to Prosecution on 3 February 1998 (Exh. D. 35); and interview reports were taken on 27 March 2002 (Exh. D. 36); 27 May 2003 (Exh. D. 37) and 13 February 2004 (Exh. D. 38). <sup>390</sup> Exh. D 35.

killing of the three people at the Gikomero *secteur* office.<sup>391</sup> Such a major inconsistency seriously undermines GIN's credibility regarding her evidence of Rwamakuba's participation to the Kayanga Health Centre massacre.

146. Witness GAB is the only one who claims to be an eyewitness of the event. As already noted,<sup>392</sup> this Chamber is not bound by the prior finding made by the Trial Chamber in the *Kamuhanda* case where the witness was found not credible. However, after reviewing and assessing the evidence as a whole, this Chamber finds that there are serious doubts as to GAB's credibility in the present case.

147. The Chamber has already found that the identification of the Accused by the witness raises serious concerns.<sup>393</sup> In addition, his testimony contains several irreconcilable inconsistencies between his prior statement to the Prosecution, his testimony in the *Kamuhanda* case,<sup>394</sup> and also within his own testimony given in court.

GAB first testified that he arrived at Kayanga Health Centre in the night of 13 April 148. 1994.<sup>395</sup> During cross-examination, however, he claimed that he did not give the exact date of his arrival at the Centre, but that he arrived between 13 and 15 April 1994.<sup>396</sup> In his statement of 4 November 2004, which was read into the record by the Defence Counsel, the witness provided a more specific date: he stated that he started fleeing on the night of 13 April 1994 towards Kayanga Health Centre, where he arrived in the morning.<sup>397</sup> A mere comparison of the witness' testimony and his prior statements shows other inconsistencies. In his 2004 statement, it is said that after 800 a.m., he, along with the other people at the Centre, was instructed to stay in the Centre's courtyard, and that prior to Rwamakuba's arrival, he lagged behind the rest of the people by creeping and was able to reach the rear of the building where he hid in an adjoining sorghum farm. In court, however, GAB testified that he hid after Rwamakuba's arrival at the Centre around 10.00 a.m. In his statement of 1999, which was read into the record by the Defence Counsel, the witness stated that a week after 13 April 1994, the RPF soldiers 'arrived and assembled and took [them] to Rutare".<sup>398</sup> The witness gave a different account of this fact in court: he testified that he went to Rutare the night he left the Centre after hiding in the sorghum field, since Rutare was a secure place occupied by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>391</sup> Exh. D. 35 to 38.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>392</sup> See above: Alleged Public Instigation in Gikomero from July 1993 through June 1994.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>393</sup> See above: Alleged Public Instigation in Gikomero from July 1993 through June 1994.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>394</sup> Exh. D. 33 A and B.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>395</sup> T. 6 July 2005, p.23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>396</sup> T. 5 July 2005, p. 52; T. 6 July 2005, p. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>397</sup> T. 6 July 2005, p. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>398</sup> Statement of 24 June 1999, p. 4.

RPF.<sup>399</sup> This account also differs from GAB's evidence in the *Kamuhanda* case, where he said that he was moving from one hiding place to another, and around 15 April 1994, he surrendered to the attackers.<sup>400</sup>

149. Such inconsistencies in the chronology of facts cannot be explained by the time elapsed, translation discrepancies or considered as additional information provided by the witness. On the contrary, they directly challenge the truthfulness of his account. This challenge is reinforced by the disturbing similarities between GAB's testimony in this case and in the *Kamuhanda* case. In this trial, the witness described André Rwamakuba's behaviour and the account of the events in the same way as he described Kamuhanda's criminal acts when testifying as Prosecution witness in that case; he also attributed much of the same words to Kamuhanda and Rwamakuba.<sup>401</sup> GAB explained in court that he was not able to recall the contents or the purport of his evidence in the *Kamuhanda* trial,<sup>402</sup> and further submitted that Kamuhanda and Rwamakuba used almost the same words because these were statements that held the same logic.<sup>403</sup>

150. This explanation is not persuasive, especially since the witness only mentioned André Rwamakuba's name for the first time in November 2004 after making a statement to the Prosecution in 1999 and testifying in the *Kamuhanda* case in 2001. He explained his failure to mention Rwamakuba's name at an earlier time by stating he was not previously questioned about the Accused. Although this is a fairly common explanation provided by both Prosecution and Defence Witnesses, this is not a satisfactory explanation considering the fact that the Kayanga Health Centre massacre is the only one that Witness GAB allegedly witnessed. The witness' obvious reluctance to answer questions from the Defence,<sup>404</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>399</sup> T. 5 July 2005, p. 27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>400</sup> T. 6 July 2005, p.17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>401</sup> In the *Kamuhanda* case, Witness GAB said that when Jean de Dieu Kamuhanda arrived on 12 April, he said: "Everywhere I went, even in Kigali, the *Interahamwe* and CDR have been killing people. What are you doing?" Nyarwaya and Rubanguka who were present, then said: "What we are doing at this time is detailing them and when we get the necessary instruments to accomplish our task, we shall accomplish our task." (see Extract read by the Defence, T. 6 July 2005, p. 13).

In the present trial, Witness GAB testified that André Rwamakuba said: "Everywhere I have been, they have began to work – and "work" meant to kill – so what are you waiting for?" Then, the Brigadier Nyarwaya took the floor and replied that they did not start to kill because they had not material enough for the task. Then the witness saw Rwamakuba taking out a pistol, waving it in the air, and saying that "Here is the pistol; the *Interahamwe* are present. The material is available; I don't see why you continue to raise that question while everything is ready." (T. 5 July 2005, pp. 25-26).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>402</sup> T. 6 July 2005, p. 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>403</sup> T. 6 July 2005, p. 23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>404</sup> See for e.g.: about the distances between his house and the field, between his place and the Kayanga Health Centre (T. 5 July 2005, pp. 3-4); between the sorghum field and the Centre when he was hiding (T. 6 July 2005, p. 12); whether the date 13 April has been chosen for the reburial ceremony in 2004 because it was the date of the massacres (T. 6 July 2005, p. 14-15); about the exact date when the witness reached the RPF secured zones

20 September 2006

particularly in relation to his testimony in the *Kamuhanda* case, further contributes to challenge his overall credibility.<sup>405</sup>

The Defence's evidence reinforces the Chamber's doubt on the Prosecution's case. 151. The Prosecution did not provide a chronology of Rwamakuba's movement to and from Gikomero area over the five days-period, during which it is alleged that he delivered machetes at two different locations, ordered the killing of three Tutsi people and went to Kayanga Health Centre. The parties agreed that after 12 April 1994, the Accused moved to Gitarama with his family, along with the Interim Government.<sup>406</sup> The present allegation would therefore have required that the Accused made a fourth trip there. Such theory was seriously challenged by the Defence evidence on the hazardousness and difficulties to move from and to Gikomero *commune* after 7 April 1994.<sup>407</sup> There were also testimonies that the Accused never went to Kayanga Health Centre during the massacre. Defence Witnesses 6/10 and 7/18 testified that they were present at Kayanga Health Centre on 15 April 1994 when the massacres against the Tutsi took place. While they were hiding in a room in the maternity ward of the Centre,<sup>408</sup> they saw refugees dragged out, beaten up, taken out of the Centre and finished off by the brigadier Nyarwaya, who was with Mathias Rubanguka, the communal policeman Kayibanda, and other *Interahamwe*.<sup>409</sup> Both witnesses knew Rwamakuba very well. Witness 6/10 denied any Rwamakuba's involvement in the 1994 killings in Gikomero commune and Witness 7/18 stated that the Accused never came to Gikomero during the genocide.<sup>410</sup> Defence Witness 7/3 who admitted to having played a direct role in the killings which took place at Kayanga Health Centre on 15 April 1994 and claimed to know Rwamakuba very well,<sup>411</sup> also testified that the attack was led by the *brigadier* Nyarwaya in the company of policemen. He asserted that Rwamakuba was not involved in these killings.<sup>412</sup> Defence Witness 3/1 was told that patients were killed at Kayanga Health Centre and that the *brigadier communal* and communal officers were the ones responsible. She asserted that no one ever

<sup>(</sup>T. 6 July 2005, p.15); about the details of the stone laying ceremony at the Rutunga School (T. 5 July 2005, pp. 41-42).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>405</sup> See for e.g.: T. 5 July 2005, pp. 47-50.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>406</sup> Prosecution Closing Brief, para. 68; Defence Closing Brief.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>407</sup> See paras. 100 and 102.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>408</sup> T. 24 November 2005, p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>409</sup> T. 24 November 2005, pp. 3 and 35; T. 30 November 2005, pp. 55 and 57. According to Witness 7/18, one of the victims was called Rutembesa.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>410</sup> T. 24 November 2005, p. 7; T. 1 December 2005, p. 33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>411</sup> T. 19 January 2006, p. 33. Defence Witness 7/3 claimed that he knew Rwamakuba very well as he hailed from their *commune* and was an intellectual present at *communal* meetings.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>412</sup> T. 19 January 2006, pp. 8-10 and 18-19.

mentioned Rwamakuba as playing a part in the killings at Kayanga Health Centre<sup>413</sup> Defence Witness 7/14, who knew Witness GIN very well, stated that GIN's husband stayed in Gikomero and never went to Kayanga Health Centre.<sup>414</sup> Due to their individual circumstances, the evidence of Defence Witnesses 6/10, 7/18, 7/3 and 7/14 was assessed with great caution.<sup>415</sup> The Chamber, however, found their accounts consistent and objective enough to challenge the Prosecution's evidence.

152. In the Chamber's view, the major inconsistencies in Prosecution Witnesses GAB and GIN testimonies cast serious doubt on their credibility. This doubt is supported by the Defence evidence on the improbable presence of the Accused at the scene of the crimes. In addition to testimonies on the potential hazards of road access to Gikomero *commune* in April 1994, there was detailed and consistent evidence from other witnesses which identified the *brigadier communal* Nyarwaya and other communal officers as the leaders of this massacre. They denied Rwamakuba's involvement. The other Prosecution witnesses who mentioned Kayanga Health Centre massacre in their testimonies never spoke of Rwamakuba as playing a role in it. Considering the evidence as a whole, the Chamber finds that the allegations of the Accused's participation in the massacre at Kayanga Health Centre in April 1994 have not been proved beyond reasonable doubt.

## Conclusion on the Alleged Criminal Acts Committed by André Rwamakuba in Gikomero Commune

153. The Chamber first notes that there was no evidence adduced on certain allegations concerning the events in Gikomero *commune* and that some of the Prosecution witnesses' testimonies were inconsistent with the Indictment. Specifically, no evidence was given about the alleged meetings or public instigations in which André Rwamakuba allegedly participated in Gikomero, Rutunga, Gasabo and Gicaca *secteurs* or in Rutungo, Rubungo and Kanombe *communes*. There was also no evidence on the various statements made by Rwamakuba at various meetings and gatherings in Gikomero *commune* between March and June 1994.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>413</sup> T. 10 November 2005, p. 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>414</sup> T. 25 January 2006, p. 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>415</sup> Defence Witnesses 6/10 and 7/18 seemed close to André Rwamakuba's family; they are moreover relatives. Defence Witness 7/14 was Prosecution Witness GIN's relative and Defence Witness 7/3 has a criminal record related to the 1994 genocide.

20 September 2006

154. Then, the Prosecution evidence on the sensitization campaigns allegedly conducted by the Accused in Gikomero *commune* between 1992 and March 1994 was unreliable in many instances, including the Prosecution witnesses' identification of Rwamakuba at the time and place of the events. This conclusion is supported by the Defence evidence indicating that the Accused participated in two events in his capacity as a doctor during the time in question. A reasonable probability has been shown that between 23 September 1993 and 10 March 1994, Rwamakuba attended a training course at the Institute of Tropical Medicine in Antwerp, Belgium, and that between 17 and 29 March 1994, he attended an international colloquium organized by the WHO in Egypt. The Chamber therefore finds that the Prosecution failed to prove beyond reasonable doubt the allegations set forth in paragraphs 3 to 5 of the Indictment.

155. Both parties adduced evidence that attacks and massacres took place against Tutsi in Gikomero *commune* in April 1994, including in Ndatemwa Trading Centre, at Gikomero Protestant School, Gishaka Parish and Kayanga Health Centre. The Prosecution called six witnesses to support its allegations that during a period of five days between 10 and 15 April 1994, André Rwamakuba went to four different locations in Gikomero *commune* to deliver machetes that were to be used in killings against the Tutsi, to encourage and give instructions to kill Tutsi, and to launch the beginning of the attacks against Tutsi in the *commune*.

156. The Prosecution witnesses' testimonies were tainted of major deficiencies which could not be justified by the time elapsed, translation discrepancies, the manner in which the prior statements were taken or the impact of trauma inflicted upon the witnesses. In the Chamber's view, these inconsistencies undermined the witnesses' credibility or reliability. Furthermore, the Defence disputed that the Accused could have been present in Gikomero *commune* at the time of the alleged event. The parties agreed and the Chamber accepted that André Rwamakuba was sworn in as a Minister of the Interim Government on 9 April 1994, attended a governmental meeting held in Kigali at the *Hotel des Diplomates* on 11 April 1994,<sup>416</sup> and was living in Kigali until 12 April 1994 when he went to Gitarama with the convoy of the Interim Government.<sup>417</sup> The admission of these facts had a major impact on the Prosecution's case since the Defence challenged the accessibilities from and to Gikomero *commune* in April 1994. The Prosecution did not provide a chronological account of the Accused's alleged activities in Gikomero in April 1994, and seemed to suggest that on each event alleged, the Accused commuted between Kigali or Gitarama and the various locations in Gikomero

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>416</sup> These are facts not disputed by the parties. See Prosecution Closing Brief, para. 68; Defence Closing Brief.
 <sup>417</sup> *Ibidem*.

*commune*.<sup>418</sup> There was, however, reliable evidence on the potential hazards to travel to and from Gikomero *commune* after 7 April 1994. Reliable testimonies were also given that Rwamakuba's name was not mentioned before Rwandan local courts in relation to the crimes committed in Gikomero *commune* in April 1994 and that he was not present at the scene of the crimes. This evidence, however, was not satisfactorily rebutted by the Prosecution.

157. The absence of any reliable identification of André Rwamakuba at the time and location of the alleged events, the lack of credibility or reliability of the Prosecution witnesses, the admitted facts that the Accused participated in other activities during the period alleged in the Indictment, the potential hazards of travel to the locations of the alleged crimes, cumulatively contribute to raise a reasonable doubt on the Prosecution's case.

158. The Chamber therefore finds that the Prosecution failed to prove at all or beyond reasonable doubt the charges against the Accused in Gikomero *commune* as pleaded at paragraphs 3 to 5, 10 to 13, 23 and 26 of the Indictment. The Chamber will now address André Rwamakuba's alleged participation in the killings at Butare University Hospital in April 1994.

# II.2. ALLEGED PARTICIPATION OF ANDRÉ RWAMAKUBA TO KILLINGS AT BUTARE UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL IN APRIL 1994

159. Butare University Hospital is located in Butare town, Butare *préfecture*, approximately 136 kilometres from Kigali in south west Rwanda.<sup>419</sup> The Hospital has barely changed since the events of April 1994.<sup>420</sup> The site is not very large and is composed of six main buildings.<sup>421</sup> During the trial, various pictures and sketches of the Hospital were admitted into evidence and the Chamber visited the building premises with the parties on 15 January 2005.<sup>422</sup>

160. At paragraphs 15 and 16 of the Indictment, the Prosecution alleges that

15. Between 18 and 25 April 1994, at Butare University Hospital, **André RWAMAKUBA**, along with Dr. Geoffroy Gatera, soldiers, militiamen and armed civilians, ordered, instigated, committed, or otherwise aided and abetted killings of Tutsi patients and displaced persons seeking refuge at Butare University Hospital with intent to destroy, in whole or in part, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>418</sup> See the Indictment, the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, the Opening Statement and the Prosecution Closing Brief. <sup>419</sup> See: Exh. P. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>420</sup> See: Exh. P. 2; Defence Closing Brief, p. 282.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>421</sup> Archives building, Clinic and ORL/ENT, Surgery, Paediatrics, Hospitalization and Maternity wards; see: Exh. P. 2 and D. 48.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>422</sup> See: Exh. P. 2, P. 33, D. 48, D. 53, D. 78, D. 105, D. 106, D. 112 and D. 124; and Minutes for the Site Visit to Rwanda in the *Rwamakuba* case, 13-16 January 2005 (Annex B).

Tutsi ethnic group. Thus, during an official delegation's visit to the Hospital, he asked a woman unknown but identified as the head of Doctors Without Borders not to treat Tutsi casualties, to get rid of them and not to admit any others. During the above-mentioned period, **André RWAMAKUBA**, armed with a small axe hung on his belt, and often accompanied by Dr. Gatera, armed soldiers, *Interahamwe* militiamen and civilians armed with machetes, axes and clubs, went around the hospital wards checking identity cards and identifying Tutsi refugees and patients, selecting them and putting them on board a vehicle manned by *Interahamwe* armed with clubs and machetes. The persons taken away were never seen again. During this period, in the morning or afternoon, during his rounds, **André RWAMAKUBA** regularly removed drips from patients, in particular, in a ward where sick women were admitted.

16. Concurrently with the events related above, André RWAMAKUBA directly caused the death of several persons identified as Tutsi. Thus, during his ward rounds, he caused the death of an unknown Tutsi patient by wounding him in the head with an axe. The militiamen subsequently took away the body of that person. Five of the patients referred to above as having been in the in-patients ward, and who were identified as Tutsi, died from axe wounds inflicted by André RWAMAKUBA. The Accused wounded Tutsi found in the corridors of the Hospital by striking them on the head with an axe. Some of them, including the persons called Rukara and Mutabazi, who suffered serious bodily harm caused by André RWAMAKUBA, were subsequently finished off by Interahamwe. As a result of such orders and instigation by the Accused, many Tutsi refugees and patients were massacred in Butare University Hospital. The victims included the persons known as Déogène, Placide and the parents of several survivors of the killings. The bodies of hundreds of victims of the massacres organized by André RWAMAKUBA at Butare University Hospital were gathered and buried in mass graves located behind the Hospital.

161. The Chamber will first provide a brief and general description of the evidence adduced on the Butare University Hospital massacre in April 1994 and the alleged involvement of the Accused (II.2.1.). The content of the evidence will then be more detailed in the second section when discussing the credibility and reliability of the witnesses (II.2.2).

## II.2.1. Evidence Adduced

162. The existence of a massacre against Tutsi at Butare University Hospital in April 1994 was not a contentious matter and both parties adduced evidence on that event. The Defence, however, disputed any involvement of the Accused therein.

163. The Prosecution called six witnesses who asserted their presence at Butare University Hospital at the same time as André Rwamakuba allegedly committed the crimes outlined in the Indictment. Prosecution Witnesses ALV, ALW, GIO, HF and RJ placed the events on different dates between 21 and 25 April 1994, and Prosecution Witness XV, the only one who claimed to know Rwamakuba personally, testified that they took place in May 1994. The Prosecution witnesses generally stated that Rwamakuba came to Butare University Hospital at various times, during which he conducted the identification and injured some of the Tutsi

patients with an axe, removed drips from Tutsi patients, which killed some of them, and gave orders to Interahamwe and soldiers to kill or take away to kill Tutsi patients in a pick-up truck. The witnesses specified that during those events, Rwamakuba was often in the company of Doctors Gatera, Twagirayezu and Jotham. In addition, Prosecution Witness XV testified that Rwamakuba took part in a government meeting at the Hospital on 15 May 1994, which was to assess whether the killings were being satisfactorily conducted in Butare. Prosecution expert witness Alison Des Forges also testified to reports of a massacre of about 170 patients and staff members at Butare University Hospital on 24 April 1994.<sup>423</sup> She did not give evidence on the presence of the Accused at the Hospital during the massacre, but commented on an extract from a Radio Rwanda news broadcast which said that "Doctor Rwamakuba refuse[d] the information that was being broadcast by a foreign radio station, talking about the massacres of 200 people by members of the national army who might have found the victims in the Butare Hospital".<sup>424</sup>

The Defence called six witnesses to testify on the same event. They confirmed that 164. there were attacks on patients and meetings at Butare University Hospital<sup>425</sup> and that criminal acts took place under the supervision of military and armed civilians or militiamen. They denied André Rwamakuba's presence or involvement in those acts.

### II.2.2. Assessment of the Evidence

After reviewing the evidence adduced as a whole, the Chamber is of the view that the 165. Prosecution evidence is inconsistent with some of the allegations against the Accused (1). The identification of André Rwamakuba at the time and place of the alleged event also raises serious doubt (2) and the internal discrepancies in the Prosecution witnesses' testimonies, notably when considering their prior statements and testimonies in Rwandan proceedings, cast doubt on their credibility and reliability (3). The Defence evidence supports this conclusion since it tends to show that Rwamakuba was not present at the scene of the crimes (4).

### (1) Lack of Consistency between the Indictment and the Prosecution Evidence

None of the Prosecution witnesses testified, as alleged at paragraph 15 of the 166. Indictment, that "during an official delegation's visit to the Hospital, [Rwamakuba] asked a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>423</sup> T. 14 July 2005, pp.70-71.
<sup>424</sup> T. 14 July 2005, pp. 72-73.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>425</sup> See: Witnesses 5/7, 5/13, 5/15, 5/16, 9/17 and 9/29.

woman unknown but identified as the head of Doctors Without Borders not to treat Tutsi casualties, to get rid of them and not to admit others". No evidence either was adduced on the allegation at paragraph 16 of the Indictment that persons known as Rukara, Déogène, Placide were massacred in the Butare University Hospital.

167. Since Witness XV asserted that André Rwamakuba committed crimes at Butare University Hospital in May 1994, his testimony cannot support the allegation in the Indictment that these offences took place between 18 and 25 April 1994.<sup>426</sup>

168. This witness also testified that André Rwamakuba attended a government meeting at the Hospital on 15 May 1994.<sup>427</sup> While paragraph 18 of the Indictment does plead a meeting held by the Prime Minister Kambanda at the Faculty of Medicine of the Hospital on that day, it does not allege the presence of the Accused.<sup>428</sup>

### (2) Identification of André Rwamakuba

169. **Witness XV** was the only witness to the Butare University Hospital events who claimed prior knowledge of André Rwamakuba. In the Chamber's view, the witness gave an unsatisfactory account of when he actually met him. The witness allegedly knew Rwamakuba when the latter attended the Faculty of Medicine at Butare "from 1974 until he went to do his internship that concluded his studies".<sup>429</sup> He said that doctors studied for six years and then the seventh year was devoted to an internship. When Rwamakuba began his internship, Witness XV had not yet began to work at the Hospital but was at the University. He declared that he lived near the Hospital and used to go to the students' residence to do their washing or to sell cigarettes.<sup>430</sup> He allegedly saw Rwamakuba more than ten times over a period of one or two years, but never actually spoke to him. The witness said that Rwamakuba was already doing his internship when he, himself, started to work at the Hospital in 1981. Witness XV also testified that around 1973 or 1974, he saw Rwamakuba at the University, <sup>431</sup> The witness saw

<sup>430</sup> T. 30 August 2005, pp. 25-26. The Witness however did not do washing for Rwamakuba.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>426</sup> Indictment, para. 15-16; Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, paras. 30-38; Opening Statement, T. 9 June 2005, p. 10.
 <sup>427</sup> T. 30 August 2005, pp. 52-54.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>428</sup> Indictment, para. 18: "Massacres of Tutsi at Butare University Hospital continued and intensified through late May 1994, particularly after a meeting, held at the Faculty of Medicine on or about 15 May 1994, where Prime Minister Jean Kambanda addressed university authorities, encouraging them to "continue the fight until ultimate victory".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>429</sup> T. 30 August 2005, p. 25. In his will-say statement dated 6 August 2005, XV also stated that he remembered André Rwamakuba from a strike at the University in around 1974 (Exh. D. 121 A and B, under seal).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>431</sup> T. 30 August 2005, p. 28.

Rwamakuba on two additional occasions before April 1994: towards the end of 1993 in a dancing bar in Butare, and in January 1994 during a rally organized at the Huye stadium.<sup>432</sup>

170. Witness XV testified to two occasions when he saw André Rwamakuba during the genocide. The first time was at a meeting of Government Ministers at the Faculty of Medicine at Butare University Hospital, and the second was at the maternity ward when Rwamakuba was giving instructions to some *Interahamwe* to get Tutsi people into the pick-up truck in order for them to be killed.<sup>433</sup> He claimed that, on that occasion, he was also put into the pick-up truck but was able to escape and went into hiding at the Hospital until he left on 6 June.<sup>434</sup> The witness asserted, on one hand, that he arrived at Butare University Hospital between 21 and 22 April 1994<sup>435</sup> and that the incident with the pick-up truck occurred two weeks after his arrival at the Hospital;<sup>436</sup> on the other hand, he testified that the meeting of Government Ministers was on 15 May 1994.<sup>437</sup> The witness' chronological account of the facts is mistaken and therefore unreliable because two weeks after 21 or 22 April – the alleged second occasion he saw Rwamakuba – would fall before 15 May 1994 – the alleged first occasion he saw the Accused.

171. Witness XV' identification of André Rwamakuba is contradicted by admitted facts and reliable Defence evidence. The parties agreed and the Chamber accepts that the Accused studied in Belgium between 1970 and 1974 and in Butare between 1975 and 1978.<sup>438</sup> Contrary to XV's assertion, Rwamakuba was not a student at the Faculty of Medicine of Butare University either before 1975 or after 1979. Further, the Chamber has already found that the Defence's evidence raised serious doubt that the Accused was in Rwanda between 23 September 1993 and 10 March 1994.<sup>439</sup> XV, therefore, could not have reasonably seen him chasing Tutsi students in 1973 or 1974, nor doing his internship after 1980, in a bar at the end of 1993 or at a meeting in Rwanda in the beginning of January 1994.

172. Witness XV's testimony in court was furthermore inconsistent with testimonies in other cases and prior statements. The witness testified in three cases in Rwanda between 1997 and 1999 where he never mentioned Rwamakuba's name. He was also interviewed by the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>432</sup> T. 30 August 2005, pp. 28, 30, 35 and 36.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>433</sup> T. 30 August 2005, p. 36.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>434</sup> T. 30 August 2005, pp. 36 and 64.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>435</sup> T. 31 August 2005, p. 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>436</sup> T. 30 August 2005, p. 39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>437</sup> T. 30 August 2005, p. 52.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>438</sup> Curriculum vitae of André Rwamakuba (Exh. D. 184) and Prosecution Closing Brief at para. 6, footnote 3: "The Prosecutor does not dispute the periods and the studies undertaken by the Accused."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>439</sup> See above at para. 70 and seq.

20 September 2006

Prosecution nine times between 1997 and 2005.440 In his first statement in November 1997, XV gave a detailed statement about the events he witnessed at Butare University Hospital in 1994. In that statement, he referred to a man named Rwamakuba who was an Interahamwe leader, a native of Huye *commune* and who had also been a second lieutenant during the Kayibanda regime.<sup>441</sup> The description of that man was inconsistent with the Accused André Rwamakuba. In 2003, after six more signed statements which have no mention of Rwamakuba, in an interview to confirm his statements before his testimony in the first trial in this case, the witness specified that the mention of man named Rwamakuba in his 1997 statement was a mistake and that the right person was a man named Nkiramakuba. He then referred to meeting Rwamakuba as a student at Butare University in 1982, and to the meeting of Government Ministers of 15 May 1994, but he did not refer to the incident with the red pick-up truck nor did he specify that he had been a victim of Rwamakuba's actions. There was no mention of the attempted abduction which was meant to lead to his death, as he testified in court. This traumatic event was mentioned to the Prosecution for the first time, less than one week before XV gave evidence in this trial.<sup>442</sup> In court, the witness corrected himself again and stated that the man mentioned in his 1997 statement was actually Emmanuel Rekeraho.<sup>443</sup> He asserted that he only knew one man named Rwamakuba, but realized that the person he used to call Rwamakuba was in fact Rekeraho.<sup>444</sup>

173. Witness XV explained that the absence of any reference to the Accused in seven of his prior statements was due to the fact that "[he] could only think of [Rwamakuba] when it was the time of his trial".<sup>445</sup> The Chamber notes that in 2003, XV was on the Prosecution's witness list for the first trial against André Rwamakuba, and his reconfirmation statement was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>440</sup> See: Statement of 25 November 1997, Exh. D. 113 A and B (under seal); 7 December 2000, Exh. D. 114 A and B (under seal); 22 February 2001, Exh. D. 115 A and B (under seal); 19 April 2001, Exh. D. 116 A and B (under seal); 5 June 2001, Exh. D. 117 A and B (under seal); 28 June 2001, Exh. D. 118 A and B (under seal); 5 December 2001, Exh. D. 119 A and B (under seal). All these statements were signed by the witness. See also: "Witness Confirmation", 8 July 2003, Exh. D. 120 A and B (under seal); Will-Say Statement, 26 August 2005, Exh. D. 121 A and B (under seal). These documents were not signed by the witness but, following the usual practice, drafted by Prosecution's representative.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>441</sup> In his statement dated 25 November 1997 (Ex. D. 113), XV stated: "I also recall a man named *Rwamakuba* coming to the university hospital from Sovu hospital in an ambulance which he had requisitioned to transport *Interahamwe*. I no longer recall the date. He was dressed in civilian clothing and the *Interahamwe* accompanying him were armed with hoes and clubs. I recognized him because he was a native of Huye *commune*. He was a second lieutenant during the Kayibanda regime and a driver for a DGB project until the war broke out. He was a member of MDR Power and was very active in the meetings. He had even become the *Interahamwe* leader when the war started." (para. 9, emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>442</sup> Will-Say Statement, 26 August 2005, Exh. D. 121.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>443</sup> T. 31 August 2005, pp. 55-59; T. 1 September 1994, pp. 9-10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>444</sup> T. 31 August 2005, pp. 56-59.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>445</sup> T. 30 August 2005, p. 63.

made in Arusha in preparation for his testimony in that trial. This reconfirmation statement, however, did not mention major elements of the evidence that he gave in this trial.

174. Witness XV did not appear to know what André Rwamakuba looked like. First, as acknowledged by the witness, he confused Rwamakuba with one Rekeraho. Then, when shown a picture in court, he confused Rwamakuba with a priest.<sup>446</sup> He also testified that Rwamakuba wore glasses. This assertion was seriously challenged by the Defence which provided a letter from UNDF Commanding Officer, who stated that the Accused had "no spectacle in his possession upon his transfer to the UNDF",<sup>447</sup> and called witnesses who had personal knowledge of the Accused and denied that he wore glasses at that time.<sup>448</sup> In view of these circumstances and the major inconsistencies in Witness XV's testimony, the Chamber is of the view that his evidence is subject to serious doubt and cannot be relied upon.

175. Except for Witness XV, none of the other Prosecution witnesses had prior knowledge of André Rwamakuba. Their identification of Rwamakuba is based on untested hearsay evidence or on XV's evidence which has already been found unreliable.

176. Witnesses **ALV** and **ALW** said that André Rwamakuba was identified him to them by refugees and students when they were at Butare University Hospital.<sup>449</sup> These people, however, are now dead.<sup>450</sup> Witness **RJ** was made aware of who Rwamakuba was by two persons: first by a Hutu lady who helped the witness at the Hospital and then, by XV while the witness was in the corridor of the surgery unit.<sup>451</sup> It is important to note that RJ was not able to recognize in court a picture of the priest who helped her during the genocide and took her to the Hospital in April 1994.<sup>452</sup> Witness **GIO** testified that Rwamakuba was first identified her by Witness RJ and then some students told her that his first name was André.<sup>453</sup> It is noteworthy that during her evidence, Witness GIO identified, on the basis of a picture showed by the Defence, the man named Rekeraho as probably being André Rwamakuba.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>446</sup> T. 1 September 2005, pp. 21-22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>447</sup> Exh. D. 215.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>448</sup> See: Edith Van Wynsberghe (T. 1 December 2005, p. 61); Witness 1/1 (T. 14 December 2005, p. 65); Witness 1/15 (T. 18 January 2006, p. 14) and Witness 9/1 (T. 29 November 2005, pp. 37 and 63-65).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>449</sup> Witness ALV stated that other refugees who knew Rwamakuba because some of them worked in the Hospital or knew him from when he was a student and intern identified him to her (T. 6 July 2005, pp. 28 and 46). Witness ALW said that she learned the identity of André Rwamakuba by other refugees and students (T. 25 August 2005, pp. 13-14, 26; T. 26 August 2005, p. 15).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>450</sup> T. 6 July 2005, p. 50. Witness ALW gave the name of the student who informed her but said that he was dead (T. 25 August 2005, p. 26; T. 30 August 2005, p. 16).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>451</sup> T. 2 September 2005, pp. 24- 26; T. 5 September, pp. 2-3; Exh. P. 71 (under seal).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>452</sup> See Exh. D. 143. Witness RJ even stated that she "[did] not know the person on the photograph." (T. 5 September 2005, p. 9).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>453</sup> T. 24 August 2005, p. 9.

Witness **HF** testified that while in the presence of Witness **RJ**, Witness **XV** pointed out Rwamakuba to them.<sup>454</sup> The Chamber also notes that the description of the Accused provided by Witnesses ALV, HF and RJ was particularly vague.<sup>455</sup>

177. In view of these circumstances, the identity of the person who the Prosecution's witnesses claim to have seen committing the alleged crimes raises serious doubt. Other elements, as discussed below, also contribute to the Chamber's doubt on Rwamakuba's involvement in the massacres at Butare University Hospital as alleged in the Indictment.

## (3) Internal Discrepancies

178. Apart from Prosecution Witness XV, Prosecution Witnesses ALV, ALW, GIO, HF and RJ testified that they saw André Rwamakuba committing crimes at Butare University Hospital at different times and places between 21 and 25 April 1994. As a preliminary matter, the Chamber can accept that if found reliable, these testimonies are not necessarily contradictory since it is reasonably acceptable that the Prosecution witnesses saw Rwamakuba on different times and rooms while at the Hospital.

179. The Chamber will discuss the evidence for each of the Prosecution witnesses. For a clearer assessment, the discussion will be preceded by a brief summary of the relevant part of their testimony.

180. **Witness ALV** was 16 years old in 1994. Fleeing from Ngoma with her father, she arrived at Butare University Hospital on 20 April 1994.<sup>456</sup> She saw André Rwamakuba on two occasions at the Hospital. She first saw him on the evening of 21 April 1994 when he was pulling out drips from some of the Tutsi patients in the intensive care unit while in the company of Doctor Gatera, Colonel Muvunyi, Sister Theopiste, and Doctor Jotham.<sup>457</sup> She next saw him on 22 April 1994, about 11 a.m. when he was with the same people, including

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>454</sup> T. 11 July 2005, pp. 11, 13, 14; T. 12 July 2005, p. 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>455</sup> Witness ALV described Rwamakuba as follows: "a medium-sized man, neither too big nor too short; colour of skin somewhere between light and dark, thick lips and a strong jaw; sort of nose which Hutus generally have." (T. 6 July 2005, p. 57). Witness HF said: "This is a man of average height, who has a nose like the nose of the Hutus. He has broad lips, with big cheeks." (T. 11 July 2005, p. 29). Witness RJ stated that Rwamakuba was "dark skinned with a large nose, of medium height, and he was somewhat quite corpulent, but not too fat (T. 2 September 2005, p. 25).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>456</sup> T. 6 July 2005, p. 27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>457</sup> T. 6 July 2005, pp. 27-29 and 45.

some soldiers, and he took away her father from his hiding place in the kitchen.<sup>458</sup> She testified that, as she followed the group to see where her father was being taken, Rwamakuba hit her on the back.<sup>459</sup> Witness ALV's account of this fact was particularly confused. She first testified that she did not see who struck the blow, but was told later that it was Rwamakuba.<sup>460</sup> Then, she explained that she lost consciousness after the hit, but not really,<sup>461</sup> and after a few moments, she turned and saw that it was Rwamakuba who had hit her.<sup>462</sup> ALV then testified that the refugees were forced to leave the Hospital and go the *préfecture*, where she met her two sisters. They stayed for two days and then went to her grandmother's house where they stayed for about one hour before they had to flee from assailants. They then returned to the *préfecture* from where they were taken to a centre at Rango where they stayed for a month and a half.

Witness ALV evidence substantially differs from her prior statements to the 181. Prosecution investigators which she verified and signed.<sup>463</sup> Her first statement contains a detailed account of the events she suffered in 1994, particularly at Butare University Hospital, without any mention of André Rwamakuba.<sup>464</sup> In that statement, she described the abduction of her father from the Hospital storeroom by Sister Theopiste and soldiers without any mention of the Accused, Doctor Gatera, Colonel Muvunyi, or Doctor Jotham being present or participating. She gave a detailed account of her stay at the Hospital for a week after that incident, and described how Doctor Jotham ordered the refugees to be removed from the préfecture as filth. In her second statement of 13 November 2003, she said she was forced to leave on the same day, under orders from Doctor Gatera and the soldiers just as in her testimony in court.<sup>465</sup> In her second statement, she also described with significant detail how she followed Rwamakuba and saw the atrocities he committed in the intensive care ward. She specified that he took away her father, and even hit her on the shoulder.<sup>466</sup> The statement described that she saw Rwamakuba and his entourage leave the ward where she stayed for another 20 minutes, in contradiction with her testimony in court when she claimed that she

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>458</sup> T. 6 July 2005, pp. 31-32, 50 and 63.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>459</sup> T. 6 July 2005, p. 54.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>460</sup> T. 6 July 2005, p.33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>461</sup> Witness ALV specified that she did not really lost consciousness, but that she was tremendously scared, and, however, maintained consciousness all the time. T. 6 July 2005, pp. 33 and 34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>462</sup> T. 6 July 2005, pp. 33 and 55.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>463</sup> Witness ALV stated that she signed these statements as she was satisfied that everything contained therein reflected what she had said (T. 6 July 2005, pp. 26 and 43).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>464</sup> Statement of 29 November 2000 (Exh. D. 49 A and B, under seal).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>465</sup> Exh. D. 50 A and B (under seal).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>466</sup> Statement of 13 November 2003 (Exh. D. 50 A and B, under seal).

20 September 2006

was in the unit for about 20 minutes and left *before* Rwamakuba.<sup>467</sup> Witness ALV's prior statements also present a different and irreconcilable account of the facts she presented of what happened after she had left Butare University Hospital. Specifically, in her first statement, the witness stated that after leaving the Hospital, she spent two weeks at the Butare *préfecture* office, giving details about her activities during that period, which included witnessing the murder of her brother by *Interahamwe*, but in her second statement and in her testimony, she said that she stayed there for only two days.<sup>468</sup> In the first statement, she stated that she left the *préfecture* and took refuge first in her grandmother's house, then with her aunt at Cyarwa, and asserted that they are both alive today and reside in Butare. There is no mention of going to Rango.

182. In view of these omissions and inconsistencies which cannot be explained by the passage of time, translation discrepancies or the way the statements were taken, the Chamber cannot find Witness ALV's evidence reliable, mainly when considering the witness' affirmation that "[André Rwamakuba's] image remained engraved in [her] memory" because he hit her at the Hospital.<sup>469</sup> The witness explained in court that she omitted his name from her first statement because she was suffering from "anterograde" amnesia. The Chamber is not satisfied by this explanation that is not supported by any medical or other report and that is inconsistent with a prior explanation she gave in her 2003 statement. In that statement, she stated that she did not mention Rwamakuba "because the investigators did not ask [her] any question about him".<sup>470</sup> In addition, were the witness' amnesia established, this would strengthen the Chamber's doubt on her reliability. ALV's testimony cannot support a conviction against the Accused in the present case.

183. **Witness ALW** arrived with her wounded aunt at Butare University Hospital on 21 April 1994.<sup>471</sup> About three days after her arrival, she saw André Rwamakuba for the first time when he was with Doctor Gatera; he was removing the drips from five Tutsi patients in the surgical ward and then striking them on the head with a small axe.<sup>472</sup> They were immediately removed and put on a red pick-up truck. On or around 27 April 1994, the witness also saw

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>467</sup> T. 6 July 2005, p. 49.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>468</sup> T. 6 July 2005, pp.35 and 60.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>469</sup> T. 6 July 2005, p. 34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>470</sup> Statement of 13 November 2003 (Exh. D. 50 A and B, under seal).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>471</sup> T. 25 August 2005, p. 25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>472</sup> T. 29 August 2005, p. 12; T. 25 August 2005, p. 28.

Rwamakuba strike two men named Mutabazi and Kazasumaho with the same axe.<sup>473</sup> He said that "there was no hiding place for snakes". The two men fell down from the blows and were immediately taken away by *Interahamwe* and put in a red pick-up tuck. During cross-examination, the witness confirmed that Rwamakuba in fact killed the seven people she saw him hit with an axe.<sup>474</sup>

Witness ALW's account of the event suffered from internal discrepancies,<sup>475</sup> and was 184. mainly inconsistent with her evidence given in the Gatera case in Rwanda.<sup>476</sup> In that case, ALW testified about the killing of Mutabazi and Kazasumaho. She said that Doctor Gatera, who was with soldiers, stabbed them with bayonets and beat them with a small club saying that their time had come. The soldiers then took them beside the medicine intern block in order to kill them. Rwamakuba is not mentioned as being present or participating. Before this Chamber, the witness explained that she did not mention Rwamakuba during the Gatera trial because she did not know where he was and because she was only asked about Gatera's participation.<sup>477</sup> She further asserted that her account was consistent because Rwamakuba was with Gatera and that they acted together.<sup>478</sup> In the present case, the witness did not mention Gatera's presence when Rwamakuba allegedly attacked Mutabazi and Kazasumaho, although she specifically testified that Gatera was with Rwamakuba when the latter was removing drips from Tutsi patients. Witness ALW's explanation of these contradictory accounts of the same event is not convincing. Evidence about the abduction of these two men, their female relative and a fourth man was given by Defence Witnesses 9/17 and 9/29, who are also Tutsi survivors and were present at Butare University Hospital in April 1994. Witness 9/17 explicitly denied any involvement of Rwamakuba in the attacks of Mutabazi and Kazasumaho,<sup>479</sup> and Witness 9/29 provided a complete description of the event with no mention of Rwamakuba's involvement at all.<sup>480</sup> The Chamber also notes that Witness ALW's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>473</sup> T. 25 August 2005, pp. 28-29 and 35; T. 29 August 2005, pp. 22-23; T. 30 August 2005, p. 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>474</sup> T. 26 August 2005, p. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>475</sup> For instance, Witness ALW evidence was inconsistent on whether the five Tutsi patients hit by André Rwamakuba were actually killed by him, whether she saw that he killed them or blood on Rwamakuba's axe (T. 29 August 2005, p.17; T. 30 August 2005, p. 7). Likewise, ALW's account of the attack of two men by Rwamakuba contains contrary information. For instance, the witness said that she knew the two men very well but was not able to give their first name; she also placed the pick-up once opposite to the maternity, and then behind; she said first that she met the two men in the corridor, but also said that at that moment, she was standing close to the tents where the other refugees were.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>476</sup> Exh. D. 108 and D. 109.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>477</sup> T. 30 August 2005, p. 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>478</sup> T. 30 August 2005, p. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>479</sup> T. 12 December 2005, p. 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>480</sup> T. 27 January 2006, pp. 12-13 and 6 February 2006, pp. 11-13: Witness 9/29 stated that stated that Mutabazi and Kazasumaho were taken away in a wooded area. She never saw them again.

evidence in this trial on when and how she left the Hospital differs from her testimony in the *Gatera* trial.<sup>481</sup> In the Chamber's view, the internal discrepancies in ALW's testimony and inconsistencies with her prior statements and testimonies cannot be explained by the time elapsed or translation discrepancies, and seriously undermine her credibility. ALW's evidence cannot support a conviction against the Accused in the present case.

185. On or about 22 or 23 April 1994, **Witness GIO** went to Butare University Hospital with her brother who was wounded.<sup>482</sup> The witness testified that two days after her arrival, André Rwamakuba, along with a group of five or six doctors and *Interahamwe*, was checking identity cards of the patients in the surgical ward, and identified that GIO's brother was Tutsi. Doctor Gatera then killed him by a blow on his head with an axe.<sup>483</sup> According to the witness, another patient was similarly attacked. Then, Rwamakuba, Doctor Gatera and some *Interahamwe* allegedly put those people they had killed in a pick-up truck that was parked near the maternity ward.<sup>484</sup>

186. Witness GIO gave substantially different accounts of the events at the Hospital both in her prior statements<sup>485</sup> and testimonies before both this Tribunal and Rwandan courts.<sup>486</sup> The core element of her evidence is the attack of her brother which description in court is the opposite of what she said previously. In a statement signed by the witness in 1997, she stated that her brother had been taken away in a pick-up truck and that she never saw him again.<sup>487</sup> There was no mention of an attack with an axe or her brother being killed in her presence. During her testimony in December 2003 in the prior joint case involving André Rwamakuba and three other Accused, she added that Doctor Gatera put her brother in a pick-up truck. She testified that she never saw her brother being killed by an axe and that she never said that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>481</sup> In court, the witness testified that the refugee's tents at the Hospital were removed towards the end of April, beginning of May, before she left the Hospital. On the contrary, in the *Gatera* trial, she testified that the tents had already been dismantled upon her arrival at the Hospital. The witness explained that she returned to the Hospital between May and June to find out whether her aunt was still alive and that at that time, she realized that the tents were dismantled. The witness also stated that her aunt was still alive when she left the Hospital, while in the *Gatera* trial she said that she left the Hospital *after her aunt was killed*, at the end of May. (See T. 29 August 2005, p. 30 and T. 30 August 2005, p. 19).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>482</sup> T. 22 August 2005, p. 24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>483</sup> T. 22 August 2005, pp. 26-27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>484</sup> T. 22 August 2005, pp. 29-30 and 38.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>485</sup> Statement of 5 May 1998 (Exh. D. 71 A, B and C, under seal); 19 May 1998 (Exh. D. 72, under seal); 7 May 1999 (Exh. D. 73 A, B and C, under seal); 7 February 2000 (Exh. D. 74, under seal); Transcripts of December 2003 (Exh. D. 76, under seal); 17 September 1997 (Exh. D. 75). On 7 July and 22 November 2003, she confirmed the content of her statement (Exh. D. 80, under seal).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>486</sup> The Witness testified before Rwandan courts: *Gatera* case (Exh. D. 71 and D. 72), *Twagirayezu* case (Exh. D. 73) and *Mukabandora* case (Exh. D. 74) and in the prior joint trial in the case *Prosecutor v. Édouard Karemera*, *Mathieu Ngirumpatse*, *Joseph Nzirorera*, *André Rwamakuba*, Case No. ICTR-98-44.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>487</sup> Statement of 17 September 1997 (Exh. D XX).

Judgement

20 September 2006

Doctor Gatera killed her brother.<sup>488</sup> In a statement taken in 1998, by Rwandan authorities, prior to her first testimony before this Tribunal,<sup>489</sup> Witness GIO gave a third different account of this event: Rwamakuba was not present, and Doctor Gatera, who was inspecting the wounded patients, immediately struck her brother on the head with a small axe saying that he was an *Inkotanyi*.<sup>490</sup> This version of the facts is again modified a year later in a statement given by the witness in another case in Rwanda: GIO stated that Doctor Gatera ordered a man named "Athanas" to kill her brother, which he did; she fails to mention Rwamakuba's name.<sup>491</sup> These major inconsistencies cannot be explained by the time elapsed or translation discrepancies. It must be noted that, in her will-say statement, GIO directly addressed these inconsistencies.<sup>492</sup> She stated that she could not remember a meeting with the Prosecution's investigators in 1997 or whether the document was read to her, even if she signed it. She even denied her signature on some other documents. In light of the above-mentioned inconsistencies, these explanations are not convincing and, conversely, support the conclusion that Witness GIO lacks credibility as far as her evidence in this case is concerned.

187. Witness HF arrived at Butare University Hospital on 18 April 1994 because her sister had gone there to give birth, and left on 29 April 1994 for the Butare *préfecture*.<sup>493</sup> After three days, she allegedly saw André Rwamakuba with Doctor Gatera in the maternity ward ordering Tutsi patients to get up and then delivered them to the *Interahamwe* who took them away in a pick-up truck.<sup>494</sup> She then saw Rwamakuba on the same day in the afternoon, in the surgical ward with Doctors Gatera and Twagirayezu and some *Interahamwe*. On that occasion, Rwamakuba allegedly hit the head of a Tutsi patient with an axe, woke up another patient and stepped on his neck, and then proceeded to give them to the *Interahamwe*, who subsequently put them in a pick-up truck.<sup>495</sup> Witness HF saw Rwamakuba for the third time, on the next day, in front of the paediatrics ward while he was selecting people to be taken away in a pick-up truck. The witness however also said that on this third occasion, she saw Rwamakuba in the maternity ward, when he took away the witness' sister. This account was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>488</sup> The Prosecutor v. Édouard Karemera, Mathieu Ngirumpatse, Joseph Nzirorera, André Rwamakuba, Case No. ICTR-98-44-T, T. 12 December 2003, 51-52. The witness said: "Yes. I'm saying that we are testifying because we saw Mr. Rwamakuba and Gatera, but I never said Gatera used an axe to kill my brother. I say that he put them into a vehicle, but I never said that Gatera used an axe to kill my brother. [...] I never saw my brother being killed by an axe. I don't know where you're getting this information from."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>489</sup> Statement of 5 May 1998 (Exh. D. 71).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>490</sup> Exh. D. 71 A, B and C (under seal).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>491</sup> Exh. D. 73 A, B and C (under seal).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>492</sup> Exh. D. 79. The will-say statement is the results of two meetings between the witness and the Prosecution Counsel.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>493</sup> T. 11 July 2005, p. 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>494</sup> T. 11 July 2005, pp. 10 and 17; T. 12 July 2005, p. 38.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>495</sup> T. 11 July 2005, pp. 10 and 17; T. 12 July 2005, pp. 38 and 47.

not consistent. HF identified her elder sister, her brother and a nurse as victims of the massacres at the Hospital.

During her testimony, Witness HF denied important factual elements that she 188. consistently mentioned in her three prior statements.<sup>496</sup> The different accounts of the events the witness gave in her three successive interviews with the Prosecution and in court are also critical in the assessment of her credibility.<sup>497</sup> In a statement taken in 1997, Witness HF affirmed that she went to the Hospital to "seek refuge"; there is no mention of her sister or brother and she then stated that she did not recall the names of any victim.<sup>498</sup> She stated that she saw André Rwamakuba dressed in banana leaves. In 2001, she declared that she went to the Hospital "to take care of [her] sister [...] who was sick"; she also specified that this sister and her brother who had come to seek medication were killed and taken away in a pick-up truck.<sup>499</sup> She again said she saw Rwamakuba dressed in banana leaves and when he passed by, people whispered that he was an Interahamwe leader. In her testimony, she denied all this, along with other matters recorded in those statements. In 2003, she stated that she was at the Hospital helping her "sister who had given birth to a premature baby"; this sister, her baby and her brother were then killed while lying "in their hospital beds". <sup>500</sup> During her testimony, Witness HF provided a fourth account of the same event, saying that, on two different dates, her wounded brother and her sister with her baby were both taken away by the Interahamwe while lying in their beds respectively in the surgical and maternity wards of the Hospital.<sup>501</sup>

189. The Chamber notes that Witness HF's account of facts also differs from her evidence in Rwandan proceedings. In the *Gatera* case, the witness stated that she went to the Hospital to take care of her sister who was pregnant, but she gave a different name from the one provided in her statements and testimony in this case.<sup>502</sup> Doctor Gatera came into the ward selected the victims, including her sister and brother, and put them in a pick-up truck. There is no mention of André Rwamakuba being present. In another Rwandan case held in 1997, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>496</sup> Contrary to what she stated in 2001 and 2003 (see Exh, D. 55 and 54), in court she denied that she left the Butare University Hospital on 25 April 1994. As opposed to what she stated in 1997, 2001 and 2003 (see Exh. D. 56, 55 and 54) in court she denied that André Rwamakuba wore banana leaves and that he disembowelled a pregnant women.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>497</sup> Witness HF gave a statement respectively on 11 September 1997, Exh. D. 56 A and B (under seal); on 6 and 8 February 2001, Exh. D. 55 A and B (under seal); and on 12 March 2003, Exh. D. 54 A and B (under seal). The witness also testified during the joint trial in the case the *Prosecutor v. Edouard Karemera, Mathieu Ngirumpatse, Joseph Nzirorera and André Rwamakuba* (Case No. ICTR-98-44) before the severance of André Rwamakuba in December 2003.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>498</sup> Statement of 11 September 1997, Exh. D. 56 A and B (under seal).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>499</sup> Statement of 6 and 8 February 2001, Exh. D. 55 A and B (under seal).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>500</sup> Statement of 12 March 2003, Exh. D. 54 A and B (under seal).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>501</sup> T. 12 July 2005, p. 39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>502</sup> This statement was read to the witness in open court, see T. 12 July 2005, pp. 54-55.

Judgement

20 September 2006

witness testified that her sister was shot by a man named Rurangirwa in a specific *secteur* in Butare *préfecture*. The name of this sister was exactly the same Christian name as the one of her sister allegedly killed at Butare University Hospital.<sup>503</sup> In this trial, when confronted with the judgement in that case, the witness explained that she had twin sisters with the same Christian name. The Chamber is not convinced by this explanation. In that respect, t is noteworthy that the Rwandan court in the above-mentioned case denied the witness' claim against Rurangirwa for payment of pain and suffering because she could not provide any communal death certificate for the sister and brother who she said were abducted by Rwamakuba.<sup>504</sup> In December 2003, in the first trial in this case, the witness testified that she had never claimed that Rugangirwa had killed her sister and that she had never lodged any compensation claim nor was even aware of any claim being made in relation to her brother and sister.<sup>505</sup>

190. The Chamber is of the view that the above-mentioned inconsistencies in Witness HF's evidence cannot be explained by the time elapsed, translation discrepancies or mistakes in the way the statements were taken by Prosecution investigators. In addition to these major inconsistencies, the Chamber notes that Witness HF's evidence is contradicted by other Prosecution evidence. For example, the witness testified that after she left Butare University Hospital on 29 April 1994, she witnessed a massacre in the Kabakobwa. This evidence is in conflict with the testimony of Prosecution Expert Witness Alison des Forges, who placed the Kabakobwa massacre on 22 April 1994,<sup>506</sup> and also with the Prosecution's allegations in the Indictment against Joseph Kanyabashi, which plead that the Kabakobwa massacre took place on 21 or 22 April 1994.<sup>507</sup> If this massacre took place on 21 or 22 April 1994 and HF was there at that moment, she could not have been at Butare University Hospital to witness the events about which she testified. The Chamber also finds that the demeanour of Witness HF in court is relevant. She was extremely reluctant to answer questions on her prior statements and testimonies. The witness was disinclined to admit having given a statement in the *Gatera* case and denied that what was read in court was that statement. She even alleged that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>503</sup> See: *Procès-Verbal* of the Public Hearing dated 17 November 1997 (Exh. D. 61 A, B and C); Judgement in the *Sahera* case, dated 23 March 1998 (Exh. D. 59 and D. 60 A and B). HF admitted that she was a witness in that case and accepted the Judgement exhibited (T. 13 July 2005, pp. 3 and 8; T. 12 July 2005, p. 66); she however denied her signature on the *Procès-Verbal* of the Public Hearing dated 17 November 1997 (T. 13 July 2005, p. 15).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>504</sup> Judgement in the *Sahera* case, dated 23 March 1998 (Exh. D. 59 and D. 60 A and B).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>505</sup> Prosecutor v. Édouard Karemera, Mathieu Ngirumpatse, Joseph Nzirorera and André Rwamakuba, Case No. ICTR-98-44-T, T. 11 December 2003, pp. 13-14 (see: Exh. D. 76).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>506</sup> Expert Report by Alison Des Forges prepared for the *Butare* case ICTR-98-42-T, 1 June 2001, Exh. D. 101.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>507</sup> Prosecutor v. Joseph Kanyabashi, Case No. ICTR-96-15-I, Indictment, filed on 11 June 2001, Exh. D. 51.

document which had been received from the Rwandan authorities was false.<sup>508</sup> There were similar denials in relation to information in the statements taken by Prosecution investigators. In view of these circumstances, the Chamber finds that Witness **HF** is not credible and her evidence cannot support a conviction against the Accused in the present case.

191. On 21 April 1994, **Witness RJ** arrived at Butare University Hospital where she was taken by a priest to receive medical assistance.<sup>509</sup> She testified that she saw André Rwamakuba three times at the Hospital in April 1994: at the tents, when a delegation of doctors, including Rwamakuba and some military inspected identification cards from the patients;<sup>510</sup> when Rwamakuba and Doctor Gatera came to the maternity ward; and when she saw Rwamakuba removing drips from patients in the surgical ward and ordering them to get onto a red pick-up truck. She allegedly saw him assault a man in plaster. She testified that her child was beaten by Doctor Gatera in the presence of Rwamakuba, but she could not remember whether this happened at the first, the second or the third instance when she saw him.<sup>511</sup> She fled from the Hospital and went to the *préfecture* office, and while she was there, she saw Rwamakuba and heard him say to the *préfet* that the Tutsi had to be killed.

192. Witness RJ's prior accounts of the events to which she testified were substantially different from her in-court testimony. In a statement taken by the Rwandan authorities in the *Gatera* case before her statement to the Prosecution in this case, she stated that Doctor Gatera was the person who ordered the soldiers to beat her and other Tutsi;<sup>512</sup> she did not mention André Rwamakuba.<sup>513</sup> Similarly, in a statement taken in June 1998 by the Rwandan authorities in the *Kageruka* case, Witness RJ failed to mention Rwamakuba in her recollection of the events that took place at the Hospital, and Doctors Gatera and Kageruka are described as the main perpetrators of the attacks. Particularly, she stated that Doctor Gatera, put the Tutsi patients in a vehicle and told them to "look at the world for the last time".<sup>514</sup> In a statement taken a year later in another Rwandan proceeding, Witness RJ presented Doctor Twagirayezu as the main perpetrator of the killings. She declared that Doctor Gatera was also present, but she did not mention Doctor Kageruka and described Rwamakuba as committing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>508</sup> T. 12 July 2005, pp. 49-53.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>509</sup> T. 2 Sept. 2005, pp. 11-12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>510</sup> T. 2 September 2005, pp. 12-16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>511</sup> T. 5 September 2005, p. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>512</sup> Statement in *Gatera* case, 30 April 1997 (Exh. D. 137 A, B and C, under seal). In that statement, Witness RJ did not state that Dr. Gatera also had beaten her child.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>513</sup> Exh. D. 137 A, B and C (under seal).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>514</sup> Exh. D. 139 A, B and C (under seal).

the same acts and saying the same words as were previously attributed to Doctor Kageruka in her *Kageruka* statement of 1998.<sup>515</sup> Witness RJ also made a statement in the *Misago* case in 1999 where she stated that she did not stay at Butare University Hospital at all because they refused to keep her there; she went then to Butare *préfecture*.<sup>516</sup> The same year, she also gave an interview published in a report by *African Rights*, where she described soldiers from the *Ecole des Sous-Officiers* (ESO) at the centre of the crimes committed at Butare University Hospital; she did not mention Rwamakuba; and she stated that the soldiers *threw them out of the Hospital* and *told them* to go to the office of the *préfecture*.<sup>517</sup>

193. These various inconsistencies regarding the same events are not reconcilable and cannot be reasonably explained by the time elapsed or translations discrepancies. The Chamber notes that the witness was particularly reluctant to discuss her prior statements. She eventually denied the content of each of the Rwandan statements and of the *African Rights* Report, and she claimed that her words were distorted.<sup>518</sup> She even alleged that her signature must have been forged.<sup>519</sup> In view of these circumstances, the Chamber finds that Witness RJ lacks credibility.

194. The Chamber finds that the Prosecution witnesses on the alleged crimes committed by the Accused at Butare University Hospital lack credibility and reliability. This conclusion is supported by the alibi evidence.

### (4) Alibi

195. It was also the Defence case that the Accused would not have been able to spend time in Butare to the extent suggested by the Prosecution witnesses because between 18 and 25 April 1994, the period during which André Rwamakuba is alleged to have committed crimes

<sup>518</sup> See for e.g.: T. 5 September 2005, p. 28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>515</sup> Statement in *Twagirayezu* case, 6 May 1999, Exh. D. 138 A, B and C (under seal). André Rwamakuba is described as arriving aboard a vehicle, where Tutsi patients were then put on and taken away. The witness stated that he told them "to look at the world for the last time". In the *Kageruka* statement, RJ said that her elder sister who had given birth to a *boy* at the Hospital was put on the vehicle by Dr. Gatera and Kageruka; but in 1999, she stated that her elder sister and her *two twins whom she had just given birth*, were taken away by Dr. Gatera and Twagirayezu.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>516</sup> Statement in *Misago* case, 21 April 1994, Exh. D. 145 A, B and C (under seal). Witness RJ stated that when she arrived at Butare University Hospital, they refused to keep her there. She then went to the Butare *préfecture*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>517</sup> See Exh. D. 140 (under seal). In court, Witness RJ testified that she fled to a nearby sorghum field and then made her way to the *préfecture* office; in the *African Rights* Report, she stated: "the soldiers *threw us out of the hospital* and *told us* to go to the office of the prefecture" (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>519</sup> T. 5 September 2005, pp. 31 and 35; T. 6 September 2005, pp. 2 and 11.

at Butare University Hospital, he was first staying in Gitarama and then, after 20 April 1994, in Gisenvi. 520

The parties agreed and the Chamber accepted that on 12 April 1994, the Accused 196. moved to Gitarama with the convoy of the Interim Government.<sup>521</sup> Prosecution investigator Upendra Baghel also gave evidence that the distance between Gitarama and Butare is approximately 83 kilometres and between Gisenyi and Butare 247 kilometres. <sup>522</sup> The Defence accepted these figures<sup>523</sup> and provided evidence that the Accused was not present at the scene of the crimes.

197. According to Defence Witnesses 1/1, André Rwamakuba was in Gitarama from 12 to 20 April 1994. During that period, the witness saw him each morning, at lunch, and again each evening starting from around 5.00 p.m. Defence Witnesses 1/1 and 9/1 testified to Rwamakuba's presence in Gisenyi from 20 April to 2 May 1994. They each gave an account of his daily activities including attempts to get air tickets for his family to leave Rwanda. Specifically, from 20 to 24 April 1994, they stated that Rwamakuba spent his days and nights at home with his wife and his family. Witness 1/15 also testified that he met with Rwamakuba in Gisenvi between 20 and 22 April 1994 as he assisted the witness to get a new passport and a visa to Zaïre.<sup>524</sup> Copies of that document were tendered into evidence by the Defence.<sup>525</sup>

The testimonies of Witnesses 1/1 and 9/1 are corroborated to a certain extent by 198. Witnesses 5/16, 5/7, 9/17, 5/13, 5/15 and 9/29 who testified that they never saw André Rwamakuba at Butare University Hospital during the genocide in April and May 1994. Witnesses 5/16, 5/7, and 5/15 who were employees of Butare University Hospital in April and May 1994, said that they never saw Rwamakuba there and that they never heard any such allegation against him. They testified that they would come to work at the Hospital in the morning and find that people had been abducted and were told that the killings were done by soldiers during the night. Witness 5/13 was at Butare University Hospital in the surgical ward with his relative throughout the time Rwamakuba was alleged to have been there and confirmed that he did not see him. The witness stated that he was familiar with all of the doctors at the Hospital because they greeted each other as neighbours. He also never heard

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>520</sup> See Defence Witnesses 1/1, 9/1 and 1/15. Defence Witness 3/A gave a similar evidence. However, due to the particularly close relationship between the Accused and this witness, and the age of the witness at the time of the event, the Chamber will set aside this evidence. <sup>521</sup> *Ibidem*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>522</sup> Exh. P. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>523</sup> Defence Closing Brief, p. 283.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>524</sup> T. 18 January 2006, pp. 10-13 and 16-17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>525</sup> Exh. D. 198.

that a Minister was at the Hospital taking part in the genocide, except a woman named Nyiramasuhuko.

199. The Prosecution did not call any direct witness to rebut these testimonies. Only the Expert witness testified that on 19 April 1994, several members of the Government, including André Rwamakuba, went to Butare to publicly remove the Tutsi *préfet* who had attempted to stop the killings against the Tutsi.<sup>526</sup> A transcript of Prime Minister Kambanda's speech made on that date mentioning the presence of the Minister of Primary and Secondary Education was also admitted into evidence.<sup>527</sup> The Prosecution did not attempt to present a comprehensive chronology of the Accused's presence in Butare, particularly concerning his attendance at the government meeting of 19 April 1994 and then between 21 and 25 April 1994, as asserted by the Prosecution witnesses.

200. The Chamber assessed with particular caution the evidence given by Defence Witnesses 1/1 and 9/1 due to their close relationship with André Rwamakuba, but it should be acknowledged that these witnesses testified with great detail and answered questions on cross-examination in a steady demeanour. In addition, none of Witnesses 5/16, 5/7, 9/17, 5/13, 5/15 and 9/29 knew Rwamakuba personally. They did not appear to have any special interest in defending the Accused and their cross-examination by the Prosecution did not raise any convincing element to show that they were unbelievable or unreliable. In the Chamber's view, their testimonies were consistent and objective enough to levy an additional doubt on the Prosecution's case.

# Conclusion on the Alleged Participation of André Rwamakuba to Crimes at Butare University Hospital

201. As discussed above, first, the Prosecution did not adduce evidence on some allegations at Butare University Hospital and adduced evidence inconsistent with some of the allegations in the Indictment.

202. Then, the identity of the person who the Prosecution witnesses saw committing the alleged crimes at Butare University Hospital in April 1994 raised doubt. Apart from Witness XV who claimed to have personally known André Rwamakuba, the identification of the Accused was either based on untested hearsay evidence or on Witness XV's identification.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>526</sup> T. 14 July 2005, p. 40.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>527</sup> Exh. P. 64.

Specifically, Witness XV pointed out Rwamakuba to Witnesses HF and RJ, who in turn identified him to Witness GIO. In that respect, it is remarkable that Witness XV was confusing Rwamakuba with a man named Rekeraho. This confusion was also entertained by Witness GIO. As developed in detail above, Witness XV's evidence contained many inconsistencies that cannot be reasonably explained or reconciled. His personal knowledge and identification of Rwamakuba is therefore unreliable.

203. In addition to these identification issues, the credibility and reliability of the Prosecution witnesses also raised serious concerns. In the Chamber's view, the major inconsistencies between the witnesses' testimonies and their prior statements and testimonies in other cases cannot be explained by the time elapsed, translation discrepancies, the manner in which the prior statements were taken or the impact of trauma inflicted upon the witnesses. They undermine the credibility and reliability of the Prosecution witnesses. In addition, the Prosecution did not satisfactorily rebut the Defence evidence that Rwamakuba did not participate in the killings at Butare University Hospital or that, during the considered period, he was staying in Gitarama and Gisenyi, and could not have been in Butare to the extent suggested by the Prosecution witnesses.

204. The absence of any reliable identification of André Rwamakuba at the time and location of the event, the lack of credibility and reliability of the Prosecution witnesses and the Defence alibi evidence, cumulatively contribute to levy reasonable doubt on the Prosecution's case.

205. Consequently, the Chamber finds that the Prosecution failed to prove at all or beyond a reasonable doubt the allegations against the Accused at the Butare University Hospital, as set forth in paragraphs 15 to 16, 23 second and third limbs and 26 second to fourth limbs of the Indictment. The Chamber will now address the other allegations in the Indictment.

### **II.3. OTHER ALLEGATIONS IN THE INDICTMENT**

206. In addition to the charges pertaining to events in Gikomero and Butare events, the Indictment contains allegations regarding André Rwamakuba's political status and related political activities. It alleges that as the Minister of Primary and Secondary Education of the Interim Government of 8 April 1994, he took part in the conception and the implementation

Judgement

of the Government's policies to exterminate the Tutsi throughout Rwanda.<sup>528</sup> It is said that between 27 and 29 April 1994, he was spokesman for the Interim Government.<sup>529</sup> On 17 May 1994, he was allegedly assigned to the Civil Defence Forces (CDF) program with other ministers.<sup>530</sup> This program would have been used to identify, search out and kill the Tutsi population.<sup>531</sup> The Accused is also described as a member of the MDR extremist wing, MDR "Hutu Power", which would have been created on or about 26 July 1993 and which would have had a specific ideology of exterminating the Tutsi.<sup>532</sup> He is alleged to have mobilized the physical and logistical resources of the MDR "Hutu Power", the other parties allied with the *Mouvement Révolutionnaire National pour le Développement* (MRND) and "Hutu Power", the Interim Government Ministries controlled by those parties and the military to execute a campaign sought to kill or destroy the Tutsi as a group.<sup>533</sup>

207. It is noted that no evidence was adduced concerning what the Accused could or should have done as Minister or what he failed to do. The Prosecution also did not bring any evidence to prove its contentions regarding the structures of the MDR "Hutu Power", André Rwamakuba's alleged authority over local administrative officials, his alleged mobilization of the physical and logistical resources of the other parties that were allied with MRND and "Hutu Power", the Interim Government ministries controlled by these parties and the military to execute the campaign of destruction of the Tutsi throughout Rwanda. No direct evidence was adduced concerning the responsibilities of Rwamakuba with regard to the program of civilian self defence or how he might have used it to kill Tutsi. There was also no evidence that on or about 28 April 1994 he announced on Radio Rwanda that "security had been restored in Butare because the Inyenzi had been suppressed".

208. As discussed under Chapter I, André Rwamakuba was not alleged to be criminally responsible as a member of the Interim Government for failing to denounce the crimes committed against the Tutsi, for not dissociating himself from the Government or for failing to discharge his duties as Minister. In view of the charges against the Accused set forth in the Indictment and according to the clear and consistent notice given by the Prosecution, the above-mentioned allegations pertaining to Rwamakuba's political role and activities are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>528</sup> Indictment, paras. 7 and 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>529</sup> Indictment, paras. 1 and 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>530</sup> Indictment, para. 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>531</sup> Indictment, para. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>532</sup> Indictment, para. 3. It is specifically said that André Rwamakuba was a member of the Executive Committee of MDR "Power" Political Party and was a member of that party's *comité préfectoral* in Kigali-Rural *préfecture* (see Indictment, para. 2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>533</sup> Indictment, para. 6.

considered as context or background from which inferences concerning his intent, disposition or other required elements of the crimes could be drawn.

209. Since the Prosecution failed to prove beyond reasonable doubt the charges against the Accused pertaining to Gikomero *commune* and Butare University Hospital as detailed above, the Chamber need not to discuss the allegations and evidence concerning his criminal intent or disposition in relation to these alleged incidents.

### CONCLUSION

210. That genocide against Tutsi and widespread or systematic attacks against a civilian population based on Tutsi ethnic identification occurred in Rwanda between April and July 1994 are notorious facts not subject to reasonable dispute,<sup>534</sup> and nor were they disputed by the Defence in the present case. This Tribunal was established to contribute to the process of reconciliation and to the restoration of peace and security in Rwanda.<sup>535</sup> The Tribunal's contribution in this area is by conducting impartial criminal proceedings where the burden of proving the guilt of an individual accused is on the Prosecution.

211. In the present case, André Rwamakuba was charged with specific acts committed in Gikomero *commune* and at Butare University Hospital between 6 and 30 April 1994. No charges were brought on the basis of his acts, omissions or duties as Minister of the Interim Government in 1994.

212. The Chamber heard 49 Prosecution and Defence witnesses, 94 Prosecution and 218 Defence exhibits were admitted into evidence over 78 trial days. The Prosecution case was largely circumstantial, and much evidence adduced was of hearsay character. Five of the 18 Prosecution witnesses claimed to have direct knowledge of André Rwamakuba. Two witnesses also gave uncorroborated evidence to support specific allegations in the Indictment. The Defence witnesses were mainly issued from different ranges of the Rwandan society, including victims of the genocide, they had both direct and indirect knowledge of Rwamakuba, and many of them claimed to have been eyewitnesses to events alleged in the Indictment.

213. The parties agreed that that Tutsi people were attacked and massacred in the Gikomero *commune* in April 1994, including at the Ndatewma Trading Centre, the Gikomero Protestant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>534</sup> Karemera et al., Decision on Prosecutor's Interlocutory Appeal of Decision on Judicial Notice (AC).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>535</sup> UN S.C. Res. 955 (1994), 8 November 1994.

School, the Gishaka Parish and the Kayanga Health Centre, and at Butare University Hospital. Both the Prosecution and the Defence adduced substantial evidence on these massacres. The Defence, however, denied the Accused's involvement in any of them.

214. After assessing the evidence as a whole, the Chamber found that all of the Prosecution witnesses not to be credible or reliable. Their testimonies were either inconsistent with the Indictment or contained other discrepancies which could not be satisfactorily explained. The absence of any credible or reliable identification of André Rwamakuba at the time and place of the alleged crimes, the lack of credibility or reliability of the Prosecution witnesses, the participation of the Accused in other activities during periods alleged in the Indictment and the Defence alibi evidence, cumulatively raise a reasonable doubt regarding the Prosecution's case.

215. Consequently, in the Chamber's view, the Prosecution has failed to prove beyond reasonable doubt that André Rwamakuba participated in sensitization campaigns in Gikomero *commune* from June 1993 up to and including June 1994; that between 10 and 11 April 1994, Rwamakuba delivered machetes to Muhire's house in Ndatemwa Trading Centre; that around the same period, he delivered machetes to Kamanzi's house in Kayanga Centre; that between 10 and 20 April 1994, at the Gikomero *secteur* office, he ordered the killings of three Tutsi people and encouraged the beginning of the massacres against Tutsi in the commune; and that between 13 and 15 April 1994, he participated in the massacre at Kayanga Health Centre. The Prosecution also failed to prove beyond reasonable doubt that the Accused committed criminal acts against Tutsi people between 18 and 25 April 1994 at Butare University Hospital

216. Before concluding on the verdict, the Chamber will address a particular issue concerning the violation of the rights of the Accused.

## **CHAPTER III – RIGHTS OF THE ACCUSED**

217. In a Decision of 12 December 2000,<sup>536</sup> Trial Chamber II, composed of Judges Laïty Kama, presiding, William H. Sekule and Mehmet Güney, considered that the Tribunal had no jurisdiction over André Rwamakuba's conditions of detention by the Namibian authorities between 2 August 1995 and 7 February 1996 since he had not been arrested at the Tribunal's request. That same Chamber found that there was a violation of Rwamakuba's right to legal

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{536}{8}$  *Rwamakuba*, Decision on the Defence Motion concerning the Illegal Arrest and Illegal Detention of the Accused (TC).

assistance during the first months of his detention at the UNDF, from 22 October 1998 until 10 March 1999, and that the delay in assigning him duty Counsel further caused a delay in his initial appearance.<sup>537</sup>

218. The Appeals Chamber held that "any violation of the accused's rights entails the provision of an effective remedy pursuant to Article 2(3)(a) of the [International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights]."<sup>538</sup> The Appeals Chamber has previously ordered or decided the reduction of an accused's sentence where he was found guilty at trial.<sup>539</sup> In the *Barayagwiza* and *Semanza* cases, it also decided that "if the [accused] [was] not found guilty, he shall receive financial compensation."<sup>540</sup>

219. In the present case, the Appeals Chamber moreover considered that "it [was] open to [Rwamakuba] to invoke the issue of the alleged violation of his fundamental human rights by the Tribunal in order to seek reparation as the case may be, at the appropriate time".<sup>541</sup>

220. Since a violation of the Accused's right to legal assistance during the first months of his detention was found, André Rwamakuba is at liberty to file an application seeking an appropriate remedy after the time-limit to file an appeal against this Judgement has elapsed. The Prosecution and the Registry are also at liberty to file any related submissions.

## **CHAPTER IV – VERDICT**

**I.** For the foregoing reasons, having considered all the evidence and the arguments of the parties, the Chamber **FINDS** André Rwamakuba, unanimously:

Count 1:	Not Guilty of Genocide
Count 2:	Not Guilty of Complicity in Genocide
Count 3:	Not Guilty of Crimes against Humanity (Extermination)
Count 4:	Not Guilty of Crimes against Humanity (Murder)

Accordingly, André Rwamakuba is **ACQUITTED** on all counts in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>537</sup> Ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>538</sup> See: *Barayagwiza*, Decision (Prosecutor's Request for Review or Reconsideration) (AC), paras. 74-75; *Kajelijeli* Appeal Judgement, paras. 255 and 322; *Semanza*, Decision of 31 May 2000 (AC), para. 125: "The Appeals Chamber nevertheless finds that any violation, even if it entails only a relative degree of prejudice, requires a proportionate remedy."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>539</sup> Ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>540</sup> Barayagwiza, Decision (Prosecutor's Request for Review or Reconsideration) (AC), para. 75; Semanza, Decision of 31 May 2000 (AC), disposition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>541</sup> *Rwamakuba*, Decision (Appeal Against Dismissal of Motion Concerning Illegal Arrest and Detention) (AC).

**II.** Pursuant to Rule 99 (A) of the Rules, the Chamber **ORDERS** the immediate release of André Rwamakuba from the Tribunal's Detention Facilities and **REQUESTS** the Registrar to make all necessary arrangements in the implementation of this decision. This order is without prejudice to any further order that may be made by the Chamber pursuant to Rule 99 (B) of the Rules.

**III.** The Defence is at liberty to file any application seeking appropriate remedy to the violation of his right to legal assistance between 22 October 1998 and 10 March 1999 no later than 23 October 2006; the Prosecution and the Registry to file their respective submissions no later than 30 October 2006; and the Defence to file any reply thereto no later than 6 November 2006. This order is subject to any appeal to be filed within a 30 days time-limit as set out in Rule 108 of the Rules.

Arusha, delivered on 20 September 2006, done in English.

Dennis C. M. Byron Presiding Judge Karin Hökborg Judge Gberdao Gustave Kam Judge

[Seal of the Tribunal]

## **ANNEX II: CHRONOLOGY OF THE CASE**

The main factual elements and decisions pertaining to the case are presented in chronological order under the present section.

#### 1995

2 August 1995: André Rwamakuba is arrested at the initiative of the Namibian authorities

#### 1996

8 February 1996: André Rwamakuba is released by the Namibian authorities following the ICTR Prosecutor's notification that he did not possess evidence to request Rwamakuba's further detention

### 1998

29 August 1998: Prosecutor files an Indictment against Augustin Bizimana, Félicien Kabuga, Juvénal Kajelijeli, Edouard Karemera, Mathieu Ngirumpaste, Callixte Nzabomimana, Joseph Nzirorera and André Rwamakuba

29 August 1998: Judge Pillay confirms the Indictment and orders non-disclosure of the Indictment

8 October 1998: Judge Pillay issued a warrant of arrest against André Rwamakuba and ordered for his transfer and detention

21 October 1998: André Rwamakuba is arrested by the Namibian authorities in accordance with the Tribunal's warrant of arrest and transferred to the Tribunal

#### 1999

7 April 1999: Initial appearance of André Rwamakuba

27 September 1999: Rescission of the Order for non disclosure of 29 August 1998

#### 2000

6 July 2000: Trial Chamber II grants the Defence motion for severance and separate trial of Juvénal Kajelijeli and orders the Prosecutor to file a separate indictment pertaining only to that accused

12 December 2000: Trial Chamber II denies the Defence Motion seeking severance of André Rwamakuba from the Indictment

22 September 2000: Trial Chamber II grants the Prosecutor's Motion for Protective Measures for Witnesses

## 2001

25 April 2001: Trial Chamber II finds defects in the form of the Indictment and orders its amendment

21 November 2001: Prosecutor files the Amended Indictment against Augustin Bizimana, Félicien Kabuga, Edouard Karemera, Mathieu Ngirumpaste, Callixte Nzabomimana, Joseph Nzirorera and André Rwamakuba

#### 2003

1 September 2003: Trial Chamber III grants the severance of Félicien Kabuga

8 October 2003: Trial Chamber III grants the severance of Augustin Bizimana and Callixte Nzabonimana and grants in part the amendment of the Indictment

27 November 2003: The trial starts before Trial Chamber III composed of Judges Andresia Vaz, presiding, Flavia Lattanzi and Florence Rita Arrey.

11 December 2003: End of the first trial session

#### 2004

13 February 2004: Trial Chamber III grants in part the Prosecution request for leave to amend the Indictment

18 February 2004: Prosecutor files an Amended indictment against Edouard Karemera, Mathieu Ngirumpaste, Joseph Nzirorera and André Rwamakuba

23 February 2004: Further Initial Appearance of Edouard Karemera, Mathieu Ngirumpaste, Joseph Nzirorera and André Rwamakuba

14 May 2004: Judge Andresia Vaz withdraws from the case

24 May 2004: The remaining Judges order the continuation of the proceedings with a substitute Judge

21 June 2004: Appeals Chamber allows Joseph Nzirorera's appeal on the continuation of the proceedings, and remands the matter to the remaining Judges for reconsideration

16 July 2004: The remaining Judges orders the continuation of the proceedings with a substitute Judge

28 September 2004: Appeals Chamber quashes the Trial Chamber's Decision to continue the proceedings with a substitute Judge

22 October 2004: Reasons for Appeals Chamber Decision of 28 September 2004 and Declaration of Judge Shahabudeen

23 October 2004: Declaration of Judge Schomburg on the Appeals Chamber Decision of 28 September 2004

#### 2005

14 February 2005: Trial Chamber III, composed of Judges Dennis Byron, Presiding, Emile Francis Short and Gberdao Gustave Kam, grants severance of André Rwamakuba and leave to file an Amended Indictment

15 February 2005: Corrigendum to the Decision on Severance

23 February 2005: Prosecutor files the Amended Indictment against André Rwamakuba

3 March 2005: Order directing the Prosecution to provide additional information on its Motion to renew and extend transfer of a Detained Prosecution Witness

8 March 2005: Order to re-file the Amended Indictment

21 March 2005: Further Initial Appearance of André Rwamakuba: a not guilty plea is entered for all charges

24 March 2005: Status Conference and Scheduling Order (commencement of the Prosecution case)

6 May 2005: *Proprio Motu* Order requesting the Prosecution to file Additional Information for its Motion for Temporary Transfer of Witnesses

23 May 2005: Decision granting the transfer of Witness GIQ

26 May 2005: Decision on Defects in the Form of the Indictment and Decision granting extension of time to file any statement of admitted or contested facts and law

27 May 2005: Judges Dennis C. M. Byron, Presiding, Karin Hökborg and Gberdao Gustave Kam are appointed to compose the Trial Chamber for the trial

 June 2005: Decision ordering transfer of detained Witness GIN under Rule 90*bis* of the Rules.
 Prosecutor files the Amended Indictment in compliance with the Chamber's Decision of 26 May 2005.

3 June 2005: Decision denying Defence Motion for a stay of proceedings

6 June 2005: Pre-Trial Conference

8 June 2005: Prosecutor files a new Amended version of the Indictment in accordance with the Chamber oral Order of 6 June 2005

9 June 2005: (TD1) Prosecution case starts with the Prosecutor's Opening Statements

From 10 June to 15 July 2005: (TD 2 to 23) 14 witnesses testified, including Prosecution Investigator Upendra Baghel and Expert Witness Alison Des Forges

10 June 2005: Prosecutor files a new Amended version of the Indictment in accordance with the Chamber oral Order of 9 June 2005

14 June 2005: Decision on Prosecution Motion for Notice of Alibi and Reciprocal Inspection

14 July 2005: Decision denying Defence Motion seeking directives from the Chamber to get signatures on will-say statements

From 22 August to 6 September 2005: (TD 25 to 36) Continuation of the Prosecution's case: 5 witnesses testified, including continuation of the testimony of Expert Witness Alison Des Forges (teleconference)

7 September 2005: (TD 37) Hearing on the issue of the willingness of two Prosecution witnesses to testify in the case

9 September 2005: (TD 38) Hearing on the issue of the willingness of two Prosecution witnesses to testify in the case

13 September 2005: (TD 39) Hearing on the issue of the willingness of two Prosecution witnesses to testify in the case and the Chamber oral Decision denying the Prosecution's request for adjournment. End of the Prosecution case.

21 September 2005: Decision granting the Defence Motion for Protective Measures

29 September 2005: Decision denying the Prosecution motion for Reconsideration or, in the alternative, Certification to the Appeal Chamber's Decision Denying Request for Adjournment

4 October 2005: Decision granting the Prosecution motion for disclosure of the Defence Witness Statements

7 October 2005: Status Conference

10 October 2005: Scheduling Order (commencement of the Defence Case)

28 October 2005: Decision denying Defence motion for Judgment of acquittal

1 November 2005: Pre-Defence Conference

2 November 2005: Decision granting in part the Prosecution motion to modify the Decision on Protective measures for Defence witnesses

From 7 November to 16 December 2005: (TD 40 to 64) Defence case starts with the Defence Opening Statements: 19 witnesses testified

29 November 2005: (TD 55) Decision granting the Defence motion on protective measures regarding one Defence witness

8 December 2005: Decision granting the Defence motion for the testimony of Defence Witness 1/15 to be taken by video-link

16 December 2005: Decision requesting the Registry to prepare a subpoena addressed to Witnesses 5/16, 5/7, 5/15 and 4/4, ordering their appearance before the Chamber for the next trial scheduled in January 2006; Scheduling Order (Video-Link); Decision granting a site visit to Rwanda

#### 2006

9 January 2006: Decision ordering the transfer of detained Witnesses 7/3, 4/16 and 9/22 from Rwanda

13-16 January 2006: Site Visit in Rwanda

From 17 January to 9 February 2006: (TD 65-79) Continuation of the Defence's case: 12 witnesses testified

20 January 2006: Decision requesting the Registry to enquire on the availability of Witnesses 9/22 and 4/18 to testify by video-transmission and report back; and dismissing the Defence motion to subpoena Witnesses 9/21 and 4/7

17 February 2006: Scheduling Order (closing briefs and arguments)

5 April (but filed on 10 April) 2006: Decision denying the Defence request to take judicial notice, and ordering the admission into evidence of three documents

21 April 2006: Closing Oral Arguments

## ANNEX III: DEFINED TERMS AND JURISPRUDENCE

## **1. LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS**

Abbreviated Form	Long Form
Defence Closing Brief	Prosecutor v. André Rwamakuba, Case No. ICTR-98-44C- I, Defence Closing Brief (confidentia) 18 April 2006
Indictment	Prosecutor v. André Rwamakuba, Case No. ICTR-98-44C- I, Amended Indictment, filed 10 June 2005
Prosecution Closing Brief	Prosecutor v. André Rwamakuba, Case No. ICTR-98-44C- I, Réquisitoire du Procureur, 18 April 2006
Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief	Prosecutor v. André Rwamakuba, Case No. ICTR-98-44C- I, Mémoire préalable au procès, 23 May 2005
Rules	Rules of Procedure and Evidence of the International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda
Statute	Statute of the International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda
Τ.	Transcript. Unless otherwise indicated, all reference to the transcripts are to the official English transcript in the case <i>Prosecutor v. André Rwamakuba</i> , Case No. ICTR-98-44C-T

## **2. JURISPRUDENCE**

## 2.1. Appeals Chamber Judgements

Abbreviated Form	Long Form
Akayesu Appeal Judgement	Prosecutor v. Jean-Paul Akayesu, Case No. ICTR-96-4-A, Judgement (AC), 1 June 2001
Gacumbitsi Appeal Judgement	Prosecutor v. Sylvestre Gacumbitsi, Case No. ICTR-2001- 64-A, Judgement (AC), 7 July 2006
Kajelijeli Appeal Judgement	Prosecutor v. Juvenal Kajelijeli, Case No. ICTR-98-44A- A, Judgement (AC), 23 May 2005
Kayishema Appeal Judgement	Prosecutor v. Clément Kayishema and Obed Ruzindana, Case No. ICTR-95-1-A, Judgement (Reasons) (AC), 1 June 2001

Krstic Appeal Judgement	Prosecutor v. Radislav Krstic, Case No. IT-98-33-A, Judgement (ICTY AC), 19 April 2004
Naletilic Appeal Judgement	Prosecutor v. Mladen Naletilic and Vinko Martinovic, Case No. IT-98-34-A, Judgement (ICTY AC), 3 May 2006
Niyitegeka Appeal Judgement	Prosecutor v. Eliézer Niyitegeka, Case No. ICTR-96-14- A, Judgement (AC), 9 July 2004
Ntagerura Appeal Judgement	Prosecutor v. André Ntagerura, Emmanuel Bagambiki and Samuel Imanishimwe, Case No. ICTR-99-46-A, Judgement (AC), 7 July 2006
Ntakirutimana Appeal Judgement	<i>Prosecutor v. Elizaphan Ntakirutimana and Gérard Ntakirutimana,</i> Case No. ICTR-96-10-A and ICTR-96-17-A, Judgement (AC), 13 December 2004
Rutaganda Appeal Judgement	Prosecutor v. Georges Anderson Nderubumwe Rutaganda, Case No. ICTR-96-3-A, Judgement (AC), 26 May 2003
Semanza Appeal Judgement	<i>Prosecutor v. Laurent Semanza</i> , Case No. ICTR-97-20-A, Judgement (AC), 20 May 2005
Tadic Appeal Judgement	Prosecutor v. Duško Tadic, Case No. IT-94-1-A, Judgement (ICTY AC), 15 July 1999

# 2.2. Appeals Chamber Decisions

Abbreviated Form	Long Form
<i>Barayagwiza</i> , Decision (Prosecutor's Request for Review or Reconsideration) (AC)	<i>Prosecutor v. Jean Bosco-Barayagwiza</i> , Case No. ICTR- 97-19-AR72, Decision (Prosecutor's Request for Review or Reconsideration) (AC), 31 March 2000, <i>ICTR Report 2000</i> , pp. 240 and seq.
<i>Karemera et al.</i> , Decision on Prosecutor's Interlocutory Appeal of Decision on Judicial Notice (AC)	Prosecutor v. Edouard Karemera, Mathieu Ngirumpatse and Joseph Nzirorera, Case No. ICTR-98-44-AR73(C), Decision on Prosecutor's Interlocutory Appeal of Decision on Judicial Notice (AC), 16 June 2006
<i>Rwamakuba</i> , Decision (Appeal Against Dismissal of Motion Concerning Illegal Arrest and Detention) (AC)	<i>Prosecutor v. André Rwamakuba</i> , Case No. ICTR-98-44-A, Decision (Appeal Against Dismissal of Motion Concerning Illegal Arrest and Detention) (AC), 11 June 2001
Semanza, Decision of 31 May 2000 (AC)	<i>Prosecutor v. Laurent Semanza</i> , Case No. ICTR-97-23-A, Decision (AC), 31 May 2000, <i>ICTR Report 2000</i> , pp. 2252 and seq.
<i>Simba</i> , Decision on Interlocutory Appeal Regarding Temporal Jurisdiction (AC)	<i>Prosecutor v. Aloys Simba</i> , Case No. ICTR-01-76-AR72.2, Decision on Interlocutory Appeal Regarding Temporal Jurisdiction (AC), 29 July 2004

#### 2.3. Trial Chambers Judgements

Abbreviated Form	Long Form	
Akayesu Judgement	<i>Prosecutor v. Jean - Paul Akayesu</i> , Case No. ICTR-96-4-T, Judgement (TC), 2 September 1998, <i>ICTR Report 1998</i> , pp. 44 and seq.	
Bagilishema Judgement	<i>Prosecutor v. Ignace Bagilishema</i> , Case No. ICTR-95-1A- T, Judgement (TC), 7 June 2001	
Gacumbitsi Judgement	Prosecutor v. Sylvestre Gacumbitsi, Case No. ICTR-2001- 64-T, Judgement (TC), 17 June 2004	
Kajelijeli Judgement	<i>Prosecutor v. Juvénal Kajelijeli</i> , Case No. ICTR-98-44A- T, Judgement and Sentence (TC), 1 December 2003	
Kamuhanda Judgement	Prosecutor v. Jean de Dieu Kamuhanda, Case No. ICTR- 99-54A-T, Judgement and Sentence (TC), 22 January 2003	
Musema Judgement	<i>Prosecutor v. Alfred Musema</i> , Case No. ICTR-96-13-T, Judgement and Sentence (TC), 27 January 2000	
Nahimana Judgement	<i>Prosecutor v. Ferdinand Nahimana, Jean-Bosco Barayagwiza and Hassan Ngeze</i> , Case No. ICTR-99-52-T, Judgement and Sentence (TC), 3 December 2003	

## 2.4. Trial Chambers Decisions

Abbreviated Form	Long Form	

*Bizimana et al.* Case, Decision on the Defence Motion in Opposition to Joinder and Motion for Severance and Separate Trial Filed by the Accused Juvénal Kajelijeli (TC)

*Bizimana et al.*, Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for severance of Félicien Kabuga's Trial and for Leave to the Accused's Indictment (TC) Prosecutor v. Augustin Bizimana, Félicien Kabuga, Juvénal Kajelijeli, Edouard Karemera, Mathieu Ngirumpaste, Callixte Nzabomimana, Joseph Nzirorera and André Rwamakuba, Case No. ICTR-98-44-T, Decision on the Defence Motion in Opposition to Joinder and Motion for Severance and Separate Trial Filed by the Accused Juvénal Kajelijeli (TC), 6 July 2000

Prosecutor v. Augustin Bizimana, Félicien Kabuga, Edouard Karemera, Mathieu Ngirumpaste, Callixte Nzabomimana, Joseph Nzirorera and André Rwamakuba, Case No. ICTR-98-44-PT, Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for severance of Félicien Kabuga's Trial and for Leave to the Accused's Indictment (TC), 1 September 2003 *Bizimana et al.*, Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Separate Triak and for Leave to File an Amended Indictment (TC)

*Karemera et al.*, Decision on Interlocutory Appeals Regarding the Continuation of Proceedings with a Substitute Judge and on Nzirorera's Motion for Leave to Consider New Material (AC)

*Karemera et al.*, Reasons for Decision on Interlocutory Appeals Regarding the Continuation of Proceedings with a Substitute Judge and on Nzirorera's Motion for Leave to Consider New Material (AC)

*Karemera et al.*, Order on Protective Measures for Prosecution Witnesses (TC)

*Karemera et al.*, Decision on severance of André Rwamakuba and for Leave to File Amended Indictment (TC)

*Rwamakuba*, Warrant of Arrest and Order for Transfer and Detention (TC)

*Rwamakuba*, Decision on André Rwamakuba's Motion for Severance (TC)

*Rwamakuba*, Decision on the Defence Motion concerning the Illegal Arrest and Illegal Detention of the Accused (TC)

*Rwamakuba*, Order to Re-File the Amended Indictment (TC)

Augustin Bizimana, Félicien Kabuga, Edouard Karemera, Mathieu Ngirumpaste, Callixte Nzabomimana, Joseph Nzirorera and André Rwamakuba, Case No. ICTR-98-44-PT, Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for Separate Trials and for Leave to File an Amended Indictment (TC), 8 October 2003

*Prosecutor v. Edouard Karemera, Mathieu Ngirumpatse, Joseph Nzirorera and André Rwamakuba*, Case No. ICTR-98-44-A, Decision on Interlocutory Appeals Regarding the Continuation of Proceedings with a Substitute Judge and on Nzirorera's Motion for Leave to Consider New Material (AC), 28 September 2004

*Prosecutor v. Edouard Karemera, Mathieu Ngirumpatse, Joseph Nzirorera and André Rwamakuba*, Case No. ICTR-98-44-A, Reasons for Decision on Interlocutory Appeals Regarding the Continuation of Proceedings with a Substitute Judge and on Nzirorera's Motion for Leave to Consider New Material (AC), 22 October 2004

*Prosecutor v. Edouard Karemera, Mathieu Ngirumpatse, Joseph Nzirorera and André Rwamakuba*, Case No. ICTR-98-44-R75, Order on Protective Measures for Prosecution Witnesses (TC), 10 December 2004

Prosecutor v. Edouard Karemera, Mathieu Ngirumpatse, Joseph Nzirorera and André Rwamakuba, Case No. ICTR-98-44-PT, Decision on severance of André Rwamakuba and for Leave to File Amended Indictment (TC), 14 February 2005

*Prosecutor v. André Rwamakuba*, Case ICTR-98-44-I, Warrant of Arrest and Order for Transfer and Detention (TC), 8 October 1998, *ICTR Report* 1998, p. 954.

*Prosecutor v. Rwamakuba*, Case No. ICTR-98-44-T, Decision on André Rwamakuba's Motion for Severance (TC), 12 December 2000, *ICTR Report 2000*, pp. 784 and seq.

*Prosecutor v. André Rwamakuba*, Case No. ICTR-98-44-T, Decision on the Defence Motion concerning the Illegal Arrest and Illegal Detention of the Accused (TC), 12 December 2000, *ICTR Report* 2000, p. 784.

*Prosecutor v. André Rwamakuba*, Case No. ICTR-98-44C-PT, Order to Re-File the Amended Indictment (TC), 8 March 2005 *Rwamakuba*, Decision on Prosecution Motion for Notice of Alibi and Reciprocal Inspection (TC)

*Rwamakuba*, Decision on Defence Motion for Protective Measures (TC)

*Rwamakuba*, Decision on Prosecution Motion for Reconsideration or, in the Alternative, Certification to Appeal Chamber's Decision Denying Request for Adjournment (TC)

*Rwamakuba*, Decision on Prosecution Motion For Variation, or in Alternative Reconsideration of the Decision on Protective Measures for Defence Witnesses (TC)

*Rwamakuba*, Decision on Confidential Motion for the Testimony of Defence Witness 1/15 (TC)

*Rwamakuba*, Decision on Defence Motion for A View Locus In Quo (TC) *Prosecutor v. André Rwamakuba*, Case No. ICTR-98-44C-R72, Decision on Prosecution Motion for Notice of Alibi and Reciprocal Inspection (TC), 14 June 2005

*Prosecutor v. André Rwamakuba*, Case No. ICTR-98-44C-T, Decision on Defence Motion for Protective Measures (TC), 21 September 2005

*Prosecutor v. André Rwamakuba*, Case No. ICTR-98-44C-T, Decision on Prosecution Motion for Reconsideration or, in the Alternative, Certification to Appeal Chamber's Decision Denying Request for Adjournment (TC), 29 September 2005

*Prosecutor v. André Rwamakuba*, Case No. ICTR-98-44C-T, Decision on Prosecution Motion For Variation, or in Alternative Reconsideration of the Decision on Protective Measures for Defence Witnesses (TC), 2 November 2005

*Prosecutor v. André Rwamakuba*, Case No. ICTR-98-44C-T, Decision on Confidential Motion for the Testimony of Defence Witness 1/15 (TC), 8 December 2005

*Prosecutor v. André Rwamakuba*, Case No. ICTR-98-44C-T, Decision on Defence Motion for A View Locus In Quo (TC), 16 December 2005